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nmcn provides a 
complete service 
offering to the 
construction and 
infrastructure industries 
from conception to 
optimisation, delivering 
best value and 
innovation.

A year of nmcn
We have enjoyed a fantastic first full year of our nmcn brand. 
We have seen significant growth in our brand presence in the 
market while the Positive Impact Plan has proved engaging and 
inspiring. The engagement of our 1,700 colleagues has been 
critical to the early brand success we are experiencing.

Our Positive Impact Plan
In order to focus our purpose we have developed our Positive Impact Plan 2025. Our plan sets out our strategy under 
five priorities, and is our approach to Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) standards. Through this plan, we’re 
able to create measurable objectives, which allow us to better harness the fantastic aspects of what we do and move 
towards achieving greatness in all areas. Applying a business-wide strategy for a sustainable future allows us to unite 
under one core purpose.

Read more on Our Positive Impact Plan on pages 46 to 65

Our website has a 
wealth of additional 
information and case 
studies showcasing 
our expertise. 

www.nmcn.com

Our Purpose:
A positive impact on  
everything we touch
Having a positive impact on everything we touch means putting 
people at the heart, and considering the health and wellbeing 
of our people. We are a sustainable company, and we want 
to promote all the ways we look after the environment and 
the communities in which we live. We take pride in achieving 
national and industry standards of excellence, and, above all, we 
work hard to ensure the sustainability of the planet for future 
generations. We not only aspire to become better collaborators 
with each other, but with everyone we work with, whilst being 
progressive in the development and improvement of people, 
quality and technology.
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OUR 
HIGHLIGHTS

Operational
• Significant growth in revenue in line with 

strategic plan objectives.

• Significant increase in profit before 
tax of 23.79%, and a larger increase of 
32.02% when non-recurring items are 
excluded.

• Rigorous selection of new work at bid 
stage and effective risk management 
of operations resulting in predictable 
margin tolerances.

• Strong performance securing significant 
frameworks with 10 flagship customers 
for short to medium term sustainable 
future of the Group.

• Positive opening order book of 
considered work with quality of earnings. 
Secured workload is healthy despite the 
Water Industry AMP7*** cycle, and before 
the impact of COVID-19.

• Significant working capital growth and 
a continuing strategic allocation of our 
capital, resulting in a stable cash balance 
of £25.81m, in line with the Board’s 
expectation.

• Stable creditor days, remaining at an 
appropriate level.

• Successful launch and embedding of 
Positive Impact Plan across the Group.

• Total dividends decreased by 50% from 
18p to 9p due to the Board decision 
to defer final dividend as a result of 
uncertainty surrounding COVID-19.
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Financial
Revenue growth £m 
+18.86% £404.66m

404.66

15

16

17

18

19

340.45

302.31

250.49

217.61

Profit before tax £m 
+23.79% £7.44m

7.44

15

16

17

18*

19

6.01

9.11

2.06

0.61

Profit before  
non-recurring items £m** 
+32.02% £10.39m

10.39

15

16

17

18*

19

10.56

5.91

4.45

7.87

Secured  
workload £m 
-8.24% £293.64m

293.64

15

16

17

18

19

320.00

299.00

225.00

181.00

Cash £m 
-22.61% £25.81m

25.81

15

16

17

18

19

33.35

17.01

11.41

6.60

Creditor days 
+2.63% 39 days

39

15

16

17

18

19

38

43

52

60

* after IFRS 16 restatement – see Note 2

**  please see pages 32 to 37 for our Financial Review 
which explains this alternative performance 
measure in more detail

***  Asset management period
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OUR PURPOSE, VISION,  
VALUES AND CULTURE

Purpose
A positive impact on 
everything we touch

Vision
To be the best performing 
company in our chosen 
markets by delivering 
exceptional customer 
service

Values
• People are what makes 

us who we are

• Inspire is what we do 
differently

• Excellence is what we 
achieve

Culture
We are an agile organisation 
providing a safe, inclusive and 
fair environment for people 
to succeed

Alignment of purpose, vision,  
values and culture
Our purpose and culture was built from the bottom 
up through engagement with our people and is now 
monitored and improved through our People Forum.

Our Identity
Our iconic nmcn branding was inspired by the need to future-proof 
our legacy and provides us with one name, one logo, one brand and 
an ability to express who we are. 

It represents people at the heart – that includes our colleagues, 
customers, supply chain and communities. It signifies collaboration 
– we are one nmcn and we work better together. We believe in 
sustainability, not only for our business, but for our communities 
and the environment in which we work and live. We are focused on 
progressing the development of our people, quality and technology.

As we move forward our nmcn identity provides us with a platform 
on which we can build further success and continue to grow.

Read more on Our Positive Impact Plan on pages 46 to 65

Purpose

Vision

Culture

Values
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Colleagues attending our Positive Impact Conference 

Read more on how we support our people and  
employee engagement on pages 48 to 53

Our Culture
A caring culture: an agile organisation providing a safe, inclusive 
and fair environment for our people to succeed.

We Care
At the heart of our culture are core values where our people are continually 
encouraged, developed and coached, coupled with authentic leadership to drive 
the business forward.

In order for the business to be successful, we fully recognise the need to put 
our people at the forefront of our agenda. It is clear that our people and our 
culture deliver our sustainable, long term success and are the largest competitive 
advantage that we have. The Board ensures that this culture is consistent across 
the organisation and tests this at regular events which include all of our people 
from all levels and disciplines within the business.

We are proud of our long established family values and retain our family feel 
through our “be a name, not a number” ethos. Our culture continues to evolve 
becoming ever more dynamic, agile and inspirational. Our Investors in People 
feedback suggests that our business is a place where people can be themselves. 
Our people express themselves with passion, are fully engaged, and they are 
valued and motivated to make a real contribution to their teams, our customers 
and our communities. This approach is essential in retaining and attracting the 
best talent.

We base our working environment on a learning culture with principles of open 
and honest teamwork. The learning culture informs our change agenda in all areas 
of our business from health and safety, personal development and our customer-
centric approach to delivery. 

Our “Employee Experience” focus, highlighted on page 22, has enabled everyone 
to contribute to the future culture of the Group through our Leadership Briefings 
and People Forum. This has been well received and we will continue to lead with 
transparency and authenticity in driving the business forward. 

Working for a Company that is so people focused is an important 
factor to me so early in my career. We do a lot of work on our culture 
through our regular briefing sessions that involve the whole of the 
business. To be able to see words I wrote on a flipchart listed on our 
website means a lot. The other key aspect of the culture that really 
makes nmcn is our Positive Impact Plan. It means everyone can 
understand our purpose to have 'a positive impact on everything 
we touch'.

Adam 
Apprentice Estimator

Communication
Clearer lines of communication and 
sharing information – newsboard, 
Connect and iConnect

Engagement
Collaborative working across the 
business units and more team events

Group Branding
A powerful identity that supports our 
offering and culture

Performance Reviews
Opportunity for performance reviews for 
all our people

Personal Development
Development opportunities for all

Reward and Recognition
Remuneration bandings, benefits box 
and impromptu recognition from line 
management



OUR GROUP AT  
A GLANCE

Revenue by segment split* Operating profit by segment split*

Built Environment £3.04m

Water £7.58m

Built Environment £122.78m

Water £282.63m
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* Stated before non-recurring items

Water
We provide innovative, sustainable solutions to our 
water customers. Our capabilities within this market are 
vast with the ability to deliver infrastructure and non-
infrastructure projects, client operations, and service and 
maintenance contracts. Our experience in this sector 
spans over five decades and through our dedicated 
technical experts we take a “full asset lifecycle thinking” 
approach across all our services. We serve almost all of the 
water utility companies across the country. 

We have gained market leadership status in the delivery of 
our off-site factory built and assembled solutions, and are 
the only Security Systems and Alarms Inspection Board 
(SSAIB) accredited construction company in the UK to 
complete a full asset security service. 

What we do
• Non-Infrastructure design and build

• Infrastructure design and build

• Asset security

• Off-site build

• Panels

• Fabrications

• Technical services

• Materials handling

• SMO (Service maintenance and operation)

Built Environment
Construction projects vary from complex multi-storey city 
centre developments to specialist refurbishment schemes 
working within challenging live environments.

We deliver design and construction of complex projects 
spanning major highway construction on the trunk and minor 
road network to high specification public realm works. 

Within the telecommunications market we provide the 
essential management and delivery of national and regional 
network infrastructure to major communications providers, 
including network maintenance for super high speed fibre.

We provide specialist design and build knowledge in the power 
sector and across other industrial projects.

What we do
• Social housing and student accommodation

• Health and primary care centres

• New construction and improvement works on major 
highways schemes

• Creating and enhancing natural open spaces for public use

• Planning and installation of super fast telecoms services

• Property development (nmcn Investments)

• Construction of substations and power infrastructure

• Design and build of industrial civil engineering projects
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Investment Case
Opportunity to grow margin and profit

Well positioned in our chosen markets
• The water industry has good growth potential and 

certainty through long term frameworks.

• Full asset lifecycle management offering to the water 
industry following the consolidation of our water 
businesses and the acquisition of Lintott Control Systems.

• We have implemented strategic focus in seven key delivery 
areas forming specific business units offering targeted 
products and services.

• Built Environment growth through increased and 
necessary infrastructure expenditure, including the 
demand for high speed fibre broadband nationally and 
significant investment in the road network.

• Continued high investment demand for residential and 
student accommodation schemes.

• nmcn expertise can be selectively applied to these sectors 
ensuring enhanced quality of earnings through strict 
governance.

A purpose driven approach to delivery
A workforce that has been focused through the Positive Impact 
Plan to deliver a positive impact on everything we touch.

Operational Areas
We have strategically grown our operational 
base over time to support our customers from 
within their operational areas, aiding our ability 
to work collaboratively. Additionally, this 
allows us to serve our markets with ease.
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CHAIRMAN’S  
STATEMENT

The Group has been particularly successful in 
delivering and expanding upon long term 
customer relationships, whilst also securing new 
opportunities within its chosen markets. The 
quality and performance of operational delivery is 
also providing opportunities to construct larger 
and more technically challenging projects.

Robert Moyle
Chairman

Recent Performance
It is pleasing to be able to report on a year of further progress, 
with profitability increasing by 23.79% to £7.44m on revenue up 
by 18.86% at £404.66m. Headline performance was masked by 
non-recurring items but encouragingly, underlying performance 
showed good progress.

The Water segment has been the backbone of the Group’s growth 
over the past few years and a good underlying performance has 
been maintained as the AMP6 programme draws to a conclusion. 
During the period the activity on several high level projects has 
been extremely intense to achieve tight contractual deadlines. A 
high level of cost has been expended to bring these projects to a 
conclusion and this has impacted on the overall reported segmental 
margin. During the year Lintott Environmental Technologies Limited 
and its wholly owned trading subsidiary, Lintott Control Systems 
Limited, were purchased and are currently being integrated with 
the existing in-house capability. One quarter’s contribution has 
been incorporated into the Group result and this acquisition will 
strengthen our position in the burgeoning off-site build market. 

Built Environment saw a return to profitability due to a significant 
improvement in operational performance in Telecoms, on the back 
of high demand for enhanced broadband. The demise of a supply 
chain partner engaged on several building schemes had a significant 
detrimental effect on the overall result.

Cash
Growth capital expenditure and investment in our development 
business have continued, whilst a significant cash balance has 
been retained throughout the year. It is important that a strong, 
liquid balance sheet is maintained, but the current level of cash 
will be reduced going forwards due to the less favourable payment 
conditions prevailing in the AMP7 water cycle.

Our People
The proportion of Group revenue generated by our own workforce is 
higher than the industry norm. This enables us to not only deliver our 
exemplary level of customer service 24 hours a day, 365 days a year, it 
also supports our strategic target of long term repeat business.

Through our Positive Impact Plan, which defines our ESG strategy, 
we are successfully building long term relationships with selected 
schools, colleges and universities to attract diverse talented 
individuals both into the Group and to engineering in general. 
The number of apprenticeships currently being undertaken is at an 
all-time record level. The ongoing initiative with HMP Service and 
the recruitment and re-training of ex-offenders continues to be a 
success. The retention, development and wellbeing of our workforce 
is of paramount importance and high levels of training and mentoring 
have been maintained throughout the year.

Sustainability
We continue to strive to build a fully sustainable business and our 
Positive Impact Plan defines our strategy for achieving this. Significant 
progress across the ESG agenda has again been made this year.

Opportunity for Growth
The recent General Election has placed a government in power 
which has committed to an increase in expenditure on infrastructure 
projects such as HS2, flood defences and improved broadband, 
particularly outside of London and the South East. The Group, 
with its wide range of capability, and proven record of collaborative 
framework delivery with organisations such as Highways England, 
is well placed to capitalise upon such infrastructure plans. Also, 
increasingly, the Group is being considered for, and successfully 
delivering, larger individual contracts of a complex technical nature. 
Larger contracts coupled with new framework agreements will 
provide the platform for future growth. Stringent risk reviews 
are undertaken before tender submission with risk management 
controls and procedures following upon contract award.
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Dividends
Notwithstanding the performance of the Group in 2019, the Board 
will not be recommending a final dividend for 2019 (2018: 12p) given 
the uncertainties posed by the COVID-19 situation and following 
a subsequent review of capital allocation across the business. 
The Board is very mindful of the importance of dividends to all 
shareholders and should circumstances permit, a special interim 
dividend may be made later in 2020.

Outlook
We entered 2020 with a robust operational and financial platform, 
a growing pipeline of opportunities across the business segments 
and the prospects for further good progress.  The Water segment 
has been successful in retaining and expanding its customer base in 
AMP7, along with Telecoms which has secured further expansion of 
its business with Virgin Media. As at 31 March 2020, the order book 
for provisional completion in 2020 was £293.64 million but this will 
most certainly be impacted by the recent COVID-19 outbreak.

Although a significant proportion of our workload is deemed 
essential, the COVID-19 pandemic has reduced operational 
productivity and efficiency as we seek to protect our stakeholders 
and comply with Government requirements.  The short to medium 
term prospects therefore are uncertain and largely beyond our 
control.  To ensure the safe passage through this period of significant 
uncertainty, cost control and cash preservation measures have 
already been implemented.

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to thank all the 
employees for their endeavours and commitment during the last 
year and during the present crisis.  The Group continues to advance, 
due to their expertise, hard work and dedication and we look 
forward to progressing further our long term opportunities, when 
circumstances permit.

Robert Moyle
Chairman
22 April 2020

Live scribe capture from our Senior Leadership Conference 

Profit before tax
+23.79% 

£7.44m
2018*: £6.01m

Revenue
+18.86% 

£404.66m
2018: £340.45m

Cash
-22.61% 

£25.81m
2018: £33.35m

* after IFRS 16 restatement – see Note 2
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OUR MARKET  
REVIEW
Water
The sector investment levels are forecast to grow by c20% over the 
next AMP period, increasing to c£4.8bn per annum. The fundamental 
change over the next five years is as a result of WINEP (Water 
Industry National Environment Programme). The programme is 
designed to help tackle some of the biggest challenges facing the 
water environment, from the spread of invasive species and low flows 
to the effects of chemical and nutrient pollution. The programme 
is worth c£5.7bn and must be delivered by April 2025 (Phosphorus 
removal accounts for c£2.8bn of this budget).

Water company business plans have also shown an increase in 
funding for asset maintenance and refurbishment as part of their 
TotEx optimisation programmes.

AMP7 budgets also contain a Direct Procurement route for all 
water companies which has been imposed by Ofwat as part of its 
Water 2020 Programme. Under these proposals, companies would 
competitively tender major investment projects that were “discrete” 
and likely to have a value greater than £100m in whole life TotEx (i.e. 
total operating and capital expenditure). These would be tendered 
under a FDBOM (Finance, Design, Build, Operate & Maintain) model.

Clearly the “off-site build” element has, to date, still not delivered to 
the UK Government and Ofwat expectations. This is a concern that 
will probably only materialise towards the start of AMP7 with the 
WINEP programme and when greater efficiencies are required. This 
would provide us with a fantastic business opportunity, especially 
with the recent acquisition of Lintott.

AMP7 Ofwat drivers are around TotEx and outcome-based solutions, 
as such there will be a greater move to asset optimisation, capital 
maintenance and energy or chemical reduction. Ofwat suggests it 
will take until well into AMP7 to be delivering TotEx-based solutions. 
Included below are the AMP7 (2020–2025) TotEx investment profiles 
associated with our existing customer base in the water sector, which 
amounts to an AMP7 spend of c£31bn.

The Environment Agency (EA) will be re-bidding its national 
frameworks for the Midlands and South under four Supra Areas; 
these will be eight year durations and be worth c£4m per annum 
per area. The Northern regional MEICA (Mechanical, Electrical, 
Instrumentation, Control and Automation) Framework was re-bid 
in Q1 2020; the framework will also run for eight years and be worth 
c£5m per annum. This is part of an increase in funding of c8% for 
flood defence works, which rises to c£650m per annum in 2020/2021.

What this means for nmcn
• Increased expenditure in asset maintenance and 

optimisation

• Ofwat and water company drive for factory-built 
solutions

• Chemical dosing equipment and innovative new 
product technology to remove phosphates

• Customers moving to direct delivery models

• Water company bonuses and penalties heavily 
linked to whole life customer experience (C-MeX)

Water
Significant increase in investment as the AMP progresses.

Flood defence
Increase in funding from central and local government.
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Built Environment
The UK Government has announced its plans for an “Infrastructure 
Revolution” which will include £29bn of investment in strategic and 
local roads over the next five years. 

The Department for Transport (DfT) has announced that a raft of 
road schemes worth £100m have been given the go ahead and put 
into immediate construction.

The schemes draw investment from the National Roads Fund, which 
ringfences vehicle excise duty cash from 2020–2025, allocating 
£25.3bn to Highways England’s second road investment strategy (RIS 
2) and £3.5bn to the major road network and large local majors.

The Overall Digital Economy in the UK is now worth c£184bn per 
annum which needs to be served by fibre network construction, 
equipment installation and maintenance service providers. There 
is significant appetite for gigabit broadband in addition to the 
continuing c£2.0bn rural broadband programme (2016–2021).

The Contracts for Difference (CfD) scheme is the Government’s main 
mechanism for supporting low carbon electricity generation.

CfD’s incentivise investment in renewable energy by providing 
developers of projects with high upfront costs and long lifetimes with 
direct protection from volatile wholesale prices, and they protect 
consumers from paying increased support costs when electricity 
prices are high.

For the first time the strike price has fallen below the reference price, 
meaning that schemes are now essentially self-sufficient. This may 
bring forward a number of schemes that would previously have 
waited for the next allocation rounds.

The market forecast for both the housing and education sectors 
remain positive for the coming years. There is potentially a dip in the 
student accommodation market which is expected to be offset by 
residential builds.

What this means for nmcn
• Increase in investment for social housing and 

affordable homes

• Increase in demand for student accommodation to 
match significant growth in university places

• Significant opportunity in telecoms market

• Increase in funding for highway repair and 
maintenance

• Acceleration of significant power sector schemes

Housing and regeneration
Significant increase in investment to meet demand for accommodation.

Education
Increase in student numbers drives demand for expansion.

Highways (excluding motorways)
Significant investment growth to meet infrastructure needs.
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OUR  
BUSINESS MODEL
We provide a complete service offering to the construction and infrastructure industries from conception to 
optimisation, delivering best value and innovation.

 
 

 
Water

Treating water has a positive impact on 
our health, our families, our communities, 

and the economy at large. We ensure 
our consultancy is tailored 

specifically to our customers. 
Our intention is to deliver 

high-quality infrastructure 
and non-infrastructure 
maintenance, service 

and projects.

Value generated
We are experts in 

the water industry, 
providing a full service 

offering, with a wide 
range of products 

and services for water 
utility companies. 

We build high-quality 
water and wastewater 

treatment systems. We can 
provide a complete solution 

for our customers, due to our 
ability to deliver throughout the full asset 

lifecycle from consultancy, design, 
build, operate to maintain and 

service. Our team has specialist 
technical expertise and 

capabilities.

 
 
 
Built Environment
Constructing the great places of 
tomorrow has a positive impact on British 

heritage and building infrastructure 
that the next generation 

will inherit. Our planning 
and construction of 

infrastructure projects 
are delivered to a high-

quality, enhancing the 
value of customers’ 
assets.

Value generated
We can provide 
an end-to-end 

solution from site 
development, 

planning, multi-utility 
design and installation, 

building construction 
and handover. nmcn 

Investments provides 
highly flexible alternative 

funding arrangements. 
Our vast experience across the 

Built Environment sector means that 
our teams can consistently deliver 
excellence to our customers.

Our purpose is to have a positive impact on everything we touch. This means putting 
people at the heart, promoting safety above all and considering the total wellbeing 
of our people. The delivery of high-quality infrastructure projects provides a value 
enhancing asset to our customers and partners.

Read more on value generated for our stakeholders on pages 48 to 49

One nmcn
• We work collaboratively to provide full, 

end-to-end solutions to our customers

• We ensure we invest in developing our people,  
quality and technology

• We operate in two specific market segments – Water 
and Built Environment – providing design and construction, 

consultancy services, and supporting the operation and 
maintenance of assets

• Our specialist positioning in the water sector means this 
segment of the Group is profitable with good margins and 
generates cash that can be used for focused investment

• The Built Environment segment, through nmcn 
Investments, utilises this cash to generate 

enhanced margins
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Water
Sectors served 
• Public sector water and wastewater utility 

companies

• Industrial sector

Key resources 
• Experienced personnel providing expert advice and 

solutions 

• Digital design packages

• Assets: workshops, machinery and plant

Specialist Services 
Our product portfolio comprises of the following off-
site factory-built and assembled solutions: 

• Booster sets

• Chemical dosing 

• Fabrications 

• Instrument boards 

• MCCs and control panels 

• Package plants 

• Security systems

• Mechanical and electrical: design, installation and 
maintenance services

Built Environment
Sectors served
• Public sector

• Telecoms

• Private developers

• Housing associations

• Education

• Power 

• Quarrying 

Key resources 
• Experienced personnel providing expert 

advice and solutions 

• Digital design packages

• Assets: workshops, machinery and plant

Specialist Services 
• Student accommodation

• Schools 

• Health care

• Affordable homes and discrete residential

• Commercial buildings and industrial 
developments 

• Motorways, feeder roads and junction 
improvements

• Public realm

• Flood defence

• High speed fibre

• Converter stations and substations

• Heavy civil engineering
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 
STATEMENT

 2019 was the first year of our new purpose-
led strategy. We underpinned our purpose 
statement “a positive impact on everything we 
touch” with our Positive Impact Plan 2025 – 
outlining specific actions to be taken. 

John Homer
Chief Executive

Overview of 2019
The last year has been a successful period for the Group in achieving 
progress against our stated objective of providing a sustainable 
return for shareholders whilst having a positive impact on all 
stakeholders. Progress continues to be made in the development 
of our people and the further enhancement of risk management 
through the use of focused governance control mechanisms. 

Particularly pleasing is the overall cash position, with a year-end 
balance of £25.81m and a consistent weekly average cash balance.

This success has been achieved in a period of challenging economic 
uncertainty with specific concerns on the supply side of the 
business. It is disappointing that the overall headline performance 
has been impaired by non-recurring items concerning legacy 
contracts and supply chain failures.

The nmcn brand development has been a particular success 
through 2019. Our launch was very well received and we continued 
to develop this throughout 2019 across both earned and owned 
media channels. Our profile has been significantly elevated within the 
industry. This has had significant impact on metrics such as graduate 
and apprenticeship application numbers. Our brand will continue 
to be embedded and developed with a desire to innovate and build 
upon our presence in the market place.

2019 was the first year of our new purpose-led strategy. We 
underpinned our purpose statement “a positive impact on 
everything we touch” with our Positive Impact Plan 2025 – outlining 
specific actions to be taken. I am delighted to report that since its 
launch in March 2019, the Plan has seen strong engagement and 
adoption by our people. Further to this it has been very well received 
by external stakeholders. The strength of our purpose-led approach 
is something that we will continue to build on through 2020 and 
beyond. 

The clear strategy of organic growth, which is complemented with 
carefully crafted acquisitions, is serving us well. Our unrelenting focus 
on cash has meant that we have inbuilt agility to take advantage of 
business opportunities that we target to generate further growth.

Our Operating Structure
Our operational activities are divided into two operating segments, 
Water and Built Environment (“Our segments”). These segments are 
clearly defined, based on the differing services they provide to the 
distinct clients that they serve.

During the year 2019, the operating segments were serviced by five 
business units. Each business unit has a clear, focused offering to 
their customers. These business units have the skills and experience 
to meet the needs of our customers and work effectively in these 
markets. They provide expertise and innovation to deliver added-
value to the projects they undertake.

From 1 January 2020 our two Water business units were 
amalgamated under one senior leadership team to provide a co-
ordinated and cohesive approach, focused on the products and 
services which they provide to our customers. This structure will 
maximise the opportunities available to us in the Water industry and 
aligns to our strategic goals and direction. This will be complemented 
by the three existing business units in the Built Environment 
segment, and one additional business unit to service our Power & 
Industrial clients.

Cash Position
The maintenance of a healthy cash balance remains at the top of 
our strategic priority list and we performed well in 2019 ending the 
year with a cash balance of £25.81m. Our consistent average weekly 
cash balance shows the consistency of our performance. In addition, 
we have invested our free cash flow in the acquisition of freehold 
property and significant sums in the development business that we 
are progressing, which are intended to enhance our earnings in future 
years.

Operations
Whilst it is disappointing that the results of much good work across 
the Group were masked by the effect of the non-recurring items, it 
is pleasing to report that good progress was being seen on improving 
the underlying operational performance of the Group. Overall, the 
margin has been edged up by 80bps to 1.84%. Our short term target 
of achieving 3% net returns is within our sights on the medium term 
horizon. Our vision of 5% margins in the future is achievable by 
continuing to enhance our offering upstream into design activities, 
horizontal growth in our water products business, and the returns 
from our property investment business will help to achieve this 
blended result.

Built Environment
2019 was a challenging year for both the Building and Highways 
business units, given the prevailing conditions in their respective 
markets. In Building the effect of the non-recurring item due to 
supply chain frailties impaired overall performance, whilst for 
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Highways the slippage in project commencement resulted in lower 
volumes being achieved in the year. Nonetheless, we are confident 
this underperformance will be overcome and the forecasts for these 
business units are encouraging. 

The Telecoms business unit has turned around its performance 
in 2019 after a challenging period spanning several years. The new 
leadership team that is in place has delivered a turnaround and has 
created solid foundations for the business unit. The outlook for 
further development within the Telecoms business unit is positive 
and it is a market with significant opportunity in the immediate 
future. The investment requirement for superfast broadband 
provides us with an excellent opportunity for future growth.

Water
For our Water segment, 2019 was a year of transition. Both the 
previous NMCNomenca and nmcn Sustainable Solutions businesses 
had key periods in their external markets with the AMP transition. 
Further to this, there has been significant progress made through 
the restructuring programme to position these businesses ready for 
an integrated water business in 2020. Key appointments are now 
concluded and the team is well positioned for 2020, ahead of what is 
likely to be a challenging year in their external markets.

Lintott Acquisition
The acquisition of Lintott Control Systems in 2019 was our first 
acquisition in recent times and will assist in the development of our 
Full Asset Lifecycle Management (FALM) approach to the water 
industry. The development of our own products for use in the water 
industry will be a key element in enhancing our market-leading 
position in this sector with higher margin potential from this type of 
business.

Order Book
The markets in which we operate remain buoyant as the acute 
need for investment into both maintaining and improving the 
infrastructure of the nation continues. We seek to maintain critical 
judgement over the orders that we target, and seek to ensure 
that effective governance is in place at all stages of securing work. 
“Our secured workload, as of the 31st March 2020, for work to be 
constructed during 2020 stood at £293.64 million which represented 
just under 80% of the previously anticipated revenue for 2020 and 
was in line with management’s expectations for a transitional year in 
the Water Segment. This is currently under review due to the impact 
of COVID-19.”  

An entry to our nmcn Photo of the Month competition

Positive Impact Plan
The launch of our Positive Impact Plan in March 2019, which pulls our 
strategic objectives and sustainability strategy together, has been 
well received by all stakeholders. This plan includes tangible metrics 
for us to measure the progress of our sustainability agenda whilst 
aligning the component parts of our activities with the broader 
Environment Social Governance (ESG) agenda. It pays particular 
attention to the subject of CO2 emissions and the low carbon 
strategy. Further details of our Positive Impact Plan are covered in the 
body of this Annual Report.

Health and Safety
Health and safety remains of paramount importance to our business. 
We will continue to make advances in all areas on this front, including 
those other than compliance. There will be particular focus on 
collaborative safety and mental health. Both of these topics are very 
prominent in the industry and our work is positioning us as a leader in 
these areas.

It is pleasing to see that in 2019 we reduced our headline AFR 
(Accident Frequency Rate) performance to 0.09 (2018: 0.12). Going 
forward, it has been decided to focus on Lost Time Accidents (LTA) 
in order to generate a concentrated effort into learning from such 
incidents and preventing more serious situations occurring.

People and Culture
Our people are at the heart of our business and they are the reason 
that we continue to succeed. We aspire to a long term relationship 
with our talented colleagues. We seek to nurture an environment 
where people feel secure to give their best. We invest to enable our 
people to realise their potential and build a rewarding and fulfilling 
career. In 2019, we sought to build on the clear purpose and culture 
we had established the year before. “A positive impact on everything 
we touch”, is coupled with a caring culture that our colleagues 
have defined as an agile organisation providing a safe, inclusive and 
fair environment for people to succeed. We continued to gather 
insight through extensive feedback from our colleagues as well as 
conducting biannual face-to-face leadership briefings. 

In the future, there will be a focus on learning and development, as 
well as enhancements to a number of systems used by all colleagues 
across the business.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 
STATEMENT
Digital Transformation
During 2019 our focus commenced with the development of our 
Digital Vision that will create the foundations to underpin our vision 
for margin enhancement through improved efficiency. Digitisation 
brings opportunities for our business, and we continue to engage 
with our people at all levels, to raise awareness and give support for 
what we believe a full digital transformation will look like. We are 
well advanced in progressing the concept of “Digital Twins” to drive 
operational efficiency in production and whole life costs, and we 
intend for this to be progressed further in the period ahead.

We have been awarded a new certification as "Verified" to operate 
projects in line with ISO 19650 by the British Standards Institution 
(BSI); this replaces the old BIM Level 2 certification. This accreditation 
reinforces our position of being at the forefront of progress in this field.

The next step on the digital path is to engage in consistent 
application of these techniques and achieve linkage of the data from 
other systems in use. Significant potential exists to realise further 
efficiency by progressing with our investment in this area. 

Supply Chain
We enjoy mutually rewarding trading relationships with our supply 
chain partners. The skills shortage that prevails in the industry means 
that we need to continue to ensure that we are the customer of 
choice to secure the right resources that we need for us to succeed. 
Good progress has been made in the formation of an enhanced 
supply chain strategy, which we are looking to see deliver margin 
improvement in the future and protect ourselves from the instability 
that has prevailed in the supply side of the construction industry 
during the year.

Our mandatory Payment Practices Reporting (PPR) for the second 
half of 2019 was 44 days. This measure does not provide a meaningful 
comparison with the overall construction sector due to the amount 
of materials that we source for our directly employed workforce. 
Our own long-standing measure of Creditor Days at 39 shows a 
much better indicator of our payment performance. We continue 
to engage with our supply chain to make sure that these terms are 
acceptable to both parties with positive affirmation being received. 
We consider a mutually rewarding supply chain relationship to be a 
fundamental ingredient for our ongoing success.

Skills Shortage
We remain focused on being a good employer and are working pro-
actively to ensure we do not suffer from the skills shortage that exists 
in the construction industry. It is clear that our ability to attract and 
retain the right quality of resources will be the determining factor in 
maintaining our growth. Our efforts on the training and development 
front continue to show good results. We are particularly pleased 
with our approach to the Apprenticeship Levy and intend to build on 
this success.

COVID-19
We are closely monitoring the coronavirus situation daily, and 
following government guidelines closely whilst communicating 
and collaborating with our colleagues, our customers, our supply 
chain partners and other stakeholders. We have robust business 
continuity procedures in place to cover all aspects of our operations 

in a scenario such as this, which are being implemented and tested. 
We are taking all the steps necessary, based on the Government's 
confirmation to support businesses and to ensure liquidity is 
maintained through these challenging times.

Summary and Outlook 
We identify our work carefully, from our chosen markets and in line 
with our vision and strategy, to ensure we deliver exceptionally for 
our customers. 

Our continued focus on ensuring rigorous governance in contract 
selection and effective risk management coupled with the 
advancement of being an employer of choice for existing and new 
people will ensure that the momentum we have generated on 
achieving our goals, is maintained.

Concentration on the type of work to be undertaken will continue 
to build on the core strengths and capabilities of the Group. It is 
intended that we persist in playing to our strengths in the water 
sector while looking for growth in other areas to reduce our reliance 
on this market and mitigate the cyclical effects of the Asset 
Management Programme (AMP) procurement cycle.

The Board has taken a cautious view on the upcoming AMP 
transition year for our Water business segment which will give us 
the opportunity to position the Group to address the significant 
opportunities that are available to us in the medium to long term. 
The level of water frameworks that have been retained and the 
increase in new frameworks achieved with new and existing 
customers is extremely encouraging. 

We had originally forecast a stable 2020 as the Built Environment 
segment supported the transition in the AMP cycle that will impact 
on the Water Segment. Of particular interest to us is the well 
published strategy for the immediate investment in broadband 
technology. We are very well positioned as one of a few companies 
with the necessary skill, critical mass and balance sheet strength 
to be able to leverage the potential for growth in this market in the 
immediate future.

Whilst our priority in 2020 will now be to navigate the challenges of 
COVID-19 in the best interests of all stakeholders, we will continue 
as planned to focus on the quality of our earnings with an emphasis 
on efficiency by putting margin above revenue in contract selectivity 
and operational performance.

In the near-term we need collectively to focus on confronting the 
implications of COVID-19 and I am convinced that the commitment 
of our highly skilled and dedicated workforce will once again be a 
major factor in achieving this as a priority. But equally, we should not 
lose sight of the fact that the Company is increasingly well placed to 
address the growing opportunities that lie ahead in the markets it 
chooses to serve.

John Homer
Chief Executive
22 April 2020
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OUR  
STRATEGY
Our Vision: 
To be the best performing company in our chosen markets 
by delivering exceptional customer service

Our Positive Impact Plan supports our long term strategy

Read more on Our Positive Impact Plan on pages 46 to 65

Technology

Quality People

Driving  
cash

Improve  
profit

Effective  
communication

Enhance  
brand image

Develop, maintain 
and protect our 

people 

Prevent 
losses

Enablers
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OUR  
STRATEGY
Our objective is to construct a sustainable and growing business through good leadership and effective 
communication. 

Our strategy reflects maintaining a respectable profit margin. This will be reflected in a progressive dividend payment to our shareholders being 
declared. It is built with a clear focus on quality of earnings and improved cash management together with a sensible growth profile 
being pursued.

Strategic  
Focus Description

Progress in 2019  
and Future Focus

Link to 
Enablers

Link to 
KPIs

Link to 
Risks

How our governance supports  
our strategy

Driving  
Cash

We will continue to 
embed a cash 
culture to manage 
our cash 
effectively from 
contract selection 
and approval, 
through the entire 
contract process 
and up to the final 
account payment. 
This includes 
improved 
operational 
reporting and flow 
of information to 
business unit 
management 
teams. Cash plans 
are utilised to 
recover unrealised 
cash as well as to 
maximise our cash 
position where 
appropriate.

We ended the year with a 
cash balance of £25.81m, 
which is in line with 
management expectations 
and shows a consistent level 
in our performance.

A cash culture will continue to 
be driven across the operating 
segments and individual 
business units. The allocation 
of cash resources and the 
investment strategy thereof is 
being continually developed 
by the Board. A proportion of 
the Group’s cash generated is 
required to grow across its 
chosen markets and enhance 
its supply chain partners.

1

2

5

6

5

8

A cash culture is driven and 
governed by our Board as a top 
down approach, due to its 
strategic importance. Relevant 
forecasts and up to date 
collection and payments analysis 
is compiled by the CFO and 
discussed at every Board meeting.

This approach is coupled with a 
bottom up commitment from all 
the contract teams in the business 
units. Weekly information is 
readily available to the business 
unit Directors to allow them to 
manage cash collection through 
their teams. 

Any issues are escalated and can 
be resolved in a timely manner.

Capital allocation and return on 
capital employed are also key 
strategic drivers that are reviewed 
by the Board accordingly.

Improve  
Profit

Work continues to 
enhance margin 
return through the 
reduction in waste 
and the use of lean 
and collaborative 
construction 
techniques.

Innovative 
approaches to 
digitisation, 
front-end design 
and asset 
management 
opportunities will 
provide enhanced 
margin returns.

We have introduced smarter 
ways of working, streamlined 
processes and improved 
governance. The senior 
management team reviewed 
our strategy, and to support 
the delivery of this objective 
have continued to focus on 
our three strategic enablers– 
People, Quality and 
Technology– which are 
explained in greater detail on 
pages 22 to 25.

Winning additional 
frameworks and repeat 
business in our chosen 
markets with the same 
customers gives us certainty 
of workload and greater 
control of our margins.

Business improvement centre 
of excellence is being 
strategically developed as a 
central function.

1

2

5

6

2

4

5

During the period the Board 
received relevant updates on the 
three strategic enablers to help 
improve our profit margins. 

The Board was heavily involved in 
the Group’s first acquisition, 
which was completed to increase 
profit margins across the Group.

The Positive Impact Plan was 
reviewed and approved by the 
Board to ensure we have a more 
sustainable business model, which 
will ultimately allow the Group to 
be more profitable. 

The Board receives regular 
financial and operational updates 
on the progress of the business 
units in achieving greater profit 
margins.
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Read about our KPIs  
on pages 26 to 27

Read about our Risks  
on pages 38 to 45

Enablers key

 Technology  People  Quality

Read more on our Governance  
on pages 68 to 102

Strategic  
Focus Description

Progress in 2019  
and Future Focus

Link to 
Enablers

Link to 
KPIs

Link to 
Risks

How our governance supports  
our strategy

Prevent 
Losses

We continue to 
develop our 
processes across 
the business to 
continuously 
improve our 
effective 
commercial and 
operational 
delivery of 
projects. 

We are engaging 
and challenging 
our people and our 
supply chain to 
collaboratively and 
continually 
improve quality 
and programme 
efficiency and 
effectively deliver 
for our customers.

Positive ownership of this 
strategic priority by the 
business units has maintained 
our progress during 2019. 
However, we were seriously 
impacted by a supply chain 
partner failure in the year.

Looking forward to 2020 and 
beyond, we have 
strengthened the processes 
for the viability check of our 
supply chain partners and 
continue to work closely with 
them and their payment 
needs.

Clear execution of our 
strategy, ensuring we only 
work in our chosen markets, 
delivering exceptional 
customer service, will ensure 
we prevent material losses in 
future years.

1

2

6

1

2

4

5

8

The Board reviews all contracts 
and frameworks that have an 
assessed high level of risk based on 
a number of factors. This is done 
and concluded at every Board 
meeting, with an update on 
progress given by the CEO.

The Board has allocated 
responsibility to the members of 
the Audit Committee in relation to 
ensuring risk management 
processes across the Group are 
robust. The Audit Committee 
receives quarterly updates on the 
commercial project monitoring 
audits, compiled in house by the 
commercial forum members, and 
any actions that need to be 
addressed. There is also an annual 
plan developed, which is reviewed 
by the Audit Committee, which 
ensures continuous 
improvements and lessons learnt 
are implemented, as well as 
updating systems and controls 
where necessary.

The Board reviews updates of any 
high risk or potentially problematic 
contracts at each Board meeting, 
with a standard agenda item 
concerning commercial risks. This 
allows the Board to ensure any 
rectification steps are taken on a 
timely basis and the Executives 
are held to account.
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OUR  
STRATEGY

Read about our KPIs  
on pages 26 to 27

Read about our Risks  
on pages 38 to 45

Read more on our Governance  
on pages 68 to 102

Enablers key

 Technology  People  Quality

Strategic  
Focus Description

Progress in 2019  
and Future Focus

Link to 
Enablers

Link to 
KPIs

Link to 
Risks

How our governance supports  
our strategy

Develop, 
Maintain and 
Protect Our 
People

People remain key 
to our success.

We will continue 
with our learning 
and development 
agenda and ensure 
that this is aligned 
with our business 
culture.

People are at the heart of 
everything we do and remain 
fundamental to our continued 
business success. 

In 2019, we sought to build on 
the clear Company purpose 
and culture we had 
established the year before.

4

7

8

1

3

6

8

The Board ensures that health and 
safety is always the first agenda 
item in meetings in order to ensure 
the significance and importance 
of keeping our people safe and 
well.

There is a six month review at 
Board level of succession plans for 
leaders and senior managers 
across the business units.

The Board signed off the Positive 
Impact Plan and the People 
strategy is presented to the Board 
and reviewed on an annual basis.

Margaret Amos has also been 
appointed to lead our employee 
engagement initiative. 

Enhance  
Brand Image

Our brand identity 
and the image it 
portrays in our 
chosen markets is 
fundamental to 
our future success. 
We continue to 
focus on 
developing our 
engagement and 
following across 
our owned media 
channels, while 
complementing 
this with earned 
and paid coverage.

Our brand has developed 
significantly through 2019, 
which included a celebration 
of “a year of nmcn” in 
November.

Our Positive Impact Plan has 
been used to convey our 
business purpose and this has 
received excellent feedback 
through 2019.

3

5

7

8

1

3

4

6

7

The Board ensures our profile and 
image are continually reviewed 
with significant media attention 
highlighted in Board meetings. 

All of the Board are active users of 
iConnect, which facilitates 
two-way communication and 
enables the Board to help lead our 
brand development.
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Colleagues visiting one of our sites

Strategic  
Focus Description

Progress in 2019  
and Future Focus

Link to 
Enablers

Link to 
KPIs

Link to 
Risks

How our governance supports  
our strategy

Effective 
Communication

We continue to 
focus on our 
overall 
communication 
strategy in line 
with our brand and 
with input from all 
stakeholder 
groups.

Our approach to effective 
communication, both 
internally and externally, is 
progressing well and we 
continue to ensure that our 
key business messages are 
conveyed in both an 
appropriate format and a 
timely manner.

4

7

8

3

8

Our governance processes ensure 
the proactive management of 
stakeholders and effective 
communication is a key aspect of 
this. 

The Board actively reviews the 
success of specific 
communications and this led to all 
weekly paid employees being 
given an email address in 2019. 

All of the Board are active users of 
iConnect, which facilitates 
two-way communication.

Our biannual leadership briefings 
are delivered by Board members 
and include interactive sessions 
on culture, strategy, QESH and our 
enablers; people, quality and 
technology.
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OUR  
STRATEGY

People

Context
Our people are at the heart of our business and they are the 
reason that we continue to succeed. We aspire to have a long term 
relationship with our talented colleagues. We seek to nurture an 
environment where people feel secure to achieve their best. We 
invest to enable our people to realise their potential and build a 
rewarding and fulfilling career. In 2019, we sought to build on the clear 
purpose and culture we had established the year before. “A positive 
impact on everything we touch”, coupled with a caring culture that 
our colleagues defined as an agile organisation providing a safe, 
inclusive and fair environment for people to succeed. We continued 
to gather insight through extensive feedback from our colleagues, 
as well as conducting biannual face-to-face leadership briefings, 
we established local and national people forums. We also took 
insight from the data gathered as part of reaccreditation of our Gold 
Investors in People award. This has provided a rich source of data, 
which guides our people strategy.

Our reinvented brand, aligned with the greater business purpose, has 
deepened our focus to have a positive impact, by putting our people 
at the heart of what we do. Our everyday actions create a positive 
impact on our people, the communities and the environment in 
which we work, and is illustrated throughout this Report. 2019 has 
been about embedding our culture and using a variety of means 
to communicate, educate and empower our people to engage 
and go the “extra mile”, not only for nmcn, but to help the wider 
communities we serve. The underpinning objectives accompanying 
this are: 

• Attract high-quality people who reflect the diversity of the 
communities within which we operate.

• Retain and develop our best people through high-quality learning 
and development activities.

• Nurture a culture that values learning, personal responsibility, 
engagement and empowerment.

• Provide a platform for future growth and development.

• Embed equality, diversity and inclusion within our business.

Several processes are used effectively for day-to-day 
communication and for communicating nmcn’s business strategies 
and plans: 

• We continue to invest in our digital platform for daily 
communication: our intranet, iConnect.

• Weekly News Board, which shares news and updates. 

• Monthly – Executive leadership focus communicated and 
cascaded through our teams. 

• Quarterly – a magazine, called Connect, which provides an 
overview of Group news, people recognition stories, safe by 
action days and feedback surveys.

• Our People Forum that cuts through the organisational hierarchy 
and allows our senior leaders to hear any key concerns from 
across nmcn.

Our strategy in action
Introducing our Diversity Network
The Diversity Network is a colleague-led collaborative 
forum and is open to all employees at nmcn. Its 
members are at the forefront of helping to identify and 
promote nmcn’s diversity policy, and are advocates for 
representation, equality and fairness in our workplace.

Our Network’s mission is to be a people-inspired 
movement that works with the Group to help 
create an inclusive and diverse work environment 
which encourages change by embracing differences.

The Network aims to:

• Allow people to be themselves by creating. 
environments where our employees feel valued and 
respected.

• Create active ambassadors who help to promote 
our ambition by creating a network of people who 
are representative of society.

• Influence and engage with leaders both within our 
business and externally, to bring about a cultural 
change in attitudes to diversity, fairness and 
respect.

• Biannual – face-to-face leadership briefings (interactive listening 
workshops during leadership briefings), Bright Ideas – “you said, 
we did”.

• Annual – Annual General Meeting and leadership conference.

We aim to improve the ratio of women to men in our workforce, 
and prioritise diversity and inclusivity so that we better represent 
the communities we operate within. We see it as vital that we 
ensure no one is treated unfairly at work, and they receive the right 
reward and recognition. We see social inclusion as an area where 
we can make a real difference. In that regard, we operate within to 
some of the poorest communities in England and seek to identify 
candidates from those areas to join the Group. We support a number 
of initiatives to promote our industry as a positive career choice for 
people from all backgrounds, ethnicity, gender, religion and sexual 
orientations. Our Academy supports learning and development, 
which ensures that our people are competent and capable of 
meeting today’s professional and business standards. Our leadership 
team is committed to developing the workforce of the future by 
investing in our people at all levels. In 2019 we developed a new 
learning management system to make learning more accessible to 
our workforce, wherever they may be located.
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Technology

Digital Vision
Our focus this year commenced with the development of our Digital 
Vision that will create the foundations to underpin our strategy 
going forwards. Digitisation brings challenges for our business and we 
continue to engage with our people at all levels to raise awareness 
and give support of what we believe a full digital transformation will 
look like.

Our Digital Vision can be summed up in three simple statements:

• Full end-to-end quality driven digital systems for everyone.

• Use our data to provide value and improve performance.

• Enhanced digital engagement with our supply chain partners 
and customers.

We recognise that our people must have the right digital tools to 
do their job efficiently, effectively and safely. We are moving our 
business to use digital forms to create standard records that capture 
key data from multiple systems. By implementing this strategy, we 
can then utilise the benefit of this data by turning it into relevant 
information by use of live interactive dashboards. By giving our teams 
live, accurate and relevant information, we believe better “real time” 
decisions can be made using this enhanced knowledge. We see that 
data will be the currency of good business growth and maintaining 
close business relationships. Digital engagement with our supply 
chain partners and customers is imperative, as it will streamline 
the integration of data, information and knowledge through our 
common data environments.

Our plans for 2020 will commence with a full restructure of our ICT 
department, to allow a clear direct focus to deliver this vision, by 
moving the ICT daily operational functions and project delivery into 
two separate workstreams. Our first project of 2020 will provide a 
site record keeping solution that will span across all workstreams, 
and will be a simple application for our operational site teams to use.

BIM (Better Information Management)
We have been awarded a new certification as “Verified” to operate 
projects in line with ISO 19650 by British Standards Institution (BSI), 
which replaces the old BIM Level 2 certification. We are among 
the first set of contractors to be awarded the certification since 
its release in late 2018. The improvements the required processes 
will bring includes a wider use of distributed CDEs – a requirement 
for AMP7 and Framework Projects – along with adding a full risk 
management solution for BIM.

Digital Twins
Our Water segment has been developing a strategy around 
expanding the use of Digital Twins within their business. The value of 
using a Digital Twin is equivalent to the same value of a physical asset. 
The digital presentation of the physical asset enables designers, 
constructors and owners to gain a much greater understanding of 

Our strategy in action 
Transforming laser scanning
The PX-80 scanner is an innovative SLAM (Simultaneous 
Localisation And Mapping) based 3D mapping solution 
that collects survey-quality point clouds quickly and 
accurately for a wide range of applications. Mobile 
LiDAR scanning offers many advantages over aerial 
and conventional ground surveys, namely its flexibility, 
simplified workflow, and rapid data collection. This non-
invasive survey method may be used day or night, inside 
or outside, with an efficient acquisition rate of 300,000 
points per second.

By releasing this innovation to our peers, we are able to 
move the industry forward in big steps, towards a better 
future for generations to come, and in doing so, operate 
our own business more efficiently, safely and at the 
cutting edge.

Scanning innovation we launched to the industry

what they are dealing with and what data they have on that asset. 
Simulations and tests can be run on the digital model to enable 
checks on designs and allows value engineering to be enhanced.

A detailed three year plan has been developed in relation to the use 
of Digital Twins, which complements the wider digital strategy and 
our Digital Vision.
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OUR  
STRATEGY

Quality

The focus on quality is not just about the quality of products or 
services that we provide to our customers, but also includes the 
quality of people, systems and processes that help us to deliver an 
exceptional customer experience. To support this, the focus has 
been on developing a proactive risk-based approach to the key 
areas of product quality. We have developed this initiative from 
our successful approach in health and safety reporting and utilising 
lessons learnt from the root cause analysis of our non-conformance 
system. The focus areas include:

• Failure to plan – detailed plans that allow a gated completion 
process

• Poor workmanship – identify training requirements and engage 
competent skilled labour, site engineers and site management 

• Programme constraints – have contingencies in place for plant, 
materials and resources, including a back-up plan, allowing time 
risk allowance in the programme

• Poor information – make sure information is current; ensure 
teams have correct information

• Human error – challenge poor performance, provide training, 
learn from experience and double check

• Poor quality of material – wrong materials specified, ordered and 
delivered. Check tickets, check specification, if in doubt challenge

It is essential that we embed this within our Positive Impact Plan as 
we continue to develop a fully integrated Better Business culture. 
To support this, the Executive Administration Board (EAB) have 
maintained product quality as a key focus area for 2020. 

Cost of Non-Quality
The cost of poor quality and non-conformity, both internally and 
externally from our supply chain, has a significant impact on overall 
profitability. Our recent implementation of tools to support BIM 
level 2 compliance will significantly reduce this. During 2019 the A4IM 
(Aim for Improvement) reporting system has been further developed 
to improve the user experience and ease of use, with improved 
functionality around information capture. 

Digitisation to improve Quality
We have made great progress in this area since we transitioned to 
the new ISO 9001, ISO 14001 standards and with the migration of 
OHSAS to ISO 45001, we have seen real efficiency across the core 
clauses of the standards. We are working with improvement teams 
across the business in order to develop new and simplified systems 
and processes that support the business and provide high-quality 
business information. We have implemented Quality, Environmental, 
Safety & Health (QESH) roadshows around the business to 
gather face-to-face feedback and, as a result, have implemented 
improvements to all aspects of the QESH portal, including accessing 
processes, procedures and documentation.

Our strategy in action
ISO transitioning
During 2019 we successfully transitioned the H&S 
standard OHSAS 18001 to ISO 45001, allowing alignment 
with the other standards held by the Group. This 
alignment allows efficiency to be realised in the core 
clauses around stakeholder management and risk and 
opportunity.

• System improvements have been made in the A4IM 
reporting system to improve the user experience 
and allow improved data analysis, and identification 
of root causes and areas for improvement

• The digitisation of the inspection and test planning 
process has been a key initiative allowing visibility 
of the plan, activity owners and progress to date. 
This initiative will integrate into other digitisation 
initiatives across the business

• The development of phase two of the dashboard 
project has seen improvements in the measurement 
and visibility of leading and lagging indicators to 
assist in the decision making process

Information Security Management
The Company is accredited to the British Standard ISO 27001:2013 
Information Security Management System (ISMS), and we are 
starting to embed the key principles across the business. The 
associated policies and procedures ensure that we manage and 
control the Company’s information security risks. 

The 27001:2013 ISMS standard is designed to protect the 
confidentiality, integrity and availability of the information within 
a company. The information is not only about IT security, it is also 
about managing processes, legal protection, managing human 
resources, physical protection and more. It includes all forms of 
information security, both physical and electronic, such as data 
stored on computers, laptops, external devices and mobile phones, 
which is transmitted across networks, printed, written or spoken 
about. As our maturity around this standard develops so does the 
effectiveness and benefits from the implementation.
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Our strategy in action
Driving efficiencies through Lean
nmcn has a long history of innovation: we enjoy finding 
new ways to do things so that we can bring added value to 
our customers. This approach makes us a more attractive 
construction partner and is a necessary part of our vision to 
grow and improve.

Our Highways business unit has recently embarked on a 
structured programme to embed Lean methodologies 
into how we deliver our work. Lean construction is not just 
innovating, it also involves challenging our approach to 
everyday activities, analysing them to see whether they can 
be improved, and then putting them back together to deliver 
improved outcomes.

Day-to-day activities such as planning, procurement, 
communication, logistics and problem solving are applied to 
everything we do, and they are instrumental in shaping the 
approach to take in identifying and implementing optimum 
solutions. 

With Lean, we leave no stone unturned in our quest to 
improve.

When customers provide us with a project constraint which 
increases cost, we challenge them and ask “is there another 
way we can meet this requirement?”.

When a supply chain partner says there is no environmentally-
friendly alternative, we ask “how, as a team, can we find a 
better, more sustainable solution?”. 

When our own people say “we’ve always done it like this”, we 
ask “can we challenge the norm and do things better than ever 
before?”.

In a nutshell, Lean is relentless in its pursuit of improvement.

Our Highways business unit has identified 4 key Lean 
tools which cover planning, resource management, risk 
management and problem solving. Our teams have been 
trained on each tool, and they are now widely adopted across 
all of our sites. 

Our Lean tools all have one thing in common: they promote 
engagement and collaboration across the project team. 
Customers, stakeholders and supply chain partners 
are all involved in shaping our approach to delivering 
success. Collaborative engagement across the team raises 
accountability and gives us access to better information, 
something which helps us to make better decisions to add 
more value. 

To drive the improvements through to realisation, all of our 
projects now operate a “collaborative action plan”, a live 
document accessible online to the whole project team. This 
action plan collates actions from across all project forums, 
and is continually kept updated to inform the whole team on 
progress against each action. Sharing an action plan in this way 
not only promotes accountability, but it enables us to review 
and help solve one another’s problems; after all, this is what 
collaboration is all about.

We no longer accept “the norm”. In our quest to improve, we 
will innovate, certainly, but we will also challenge the everyday 
decisions we have been making for decades, maximising the 
positive impact we are able to achieve for our customers.
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OUR KEY PERFORMANCE  
INDICATORS

1 2

3 4

Revenue growth  
+18.86%

18.86

17

16

15

18

19

12.62

20.69

15.11

12.56

Net return on sales  
1.84%

1.84

17

16

15

18*

19

1.76

3.01

0.82

0.28

Creditor days 
39 days

39

17

16

15

18

19

38

43

52

60

0.09

17

16

15

18

19

0.12

0.04

0.11

0.05

Definition
Illustration of revenue increase over time.

Performance
A significant year of revenue growth: an increase of 18.86% year 
on year and in the last five years consistent growth of over 10% 
each year.

Target 
Five-year average growth of greater than 10%, ensuring that growth 
is controlled and sustainable.

Link to Strategy
To continue to grow the Company and engender a cash culture 
through sustained organic growth, developing our market share 
within our chosen markets.

Definition
Ratio of profit before tax to revenue.

Performance
Net return on sales is encouraging but has been affected by the non-
recurring items and major infrastructure schemes.

Target 
Continuous improvement of net return on sales of no less than 2%.

Link to Strategy
Net return is crucial to allow us to prosper and return wealth to our 
shareholders. This links directly to driving cash, improving profit and 
minimising losses.

Definition
The average period taken to pay our supply chain in days.

Performance
A consistent performance when compared with 2018. We continue 
to engage with our supply chain to make sure that these terms are 
acceptable to both parties.

Target 
Expectation is to ensure average creditor days remains at less than 
40 days.

Link to Strategy
Ensuring our creditor days are commercially viable for our supply 
chain allows us to work more closely and collaboratively with them, 
in turn realising efficiency and value whilst promoting our brand 
image.

Definition
Measurement of RIDDOR accidents reportable to the Health & 
Safety Executive (HSE).

Performance
2019 has seen an overall reduction in our accident frequency rate. 
We continue to focus on ensuring we learn from these incidents in 
order to prevent recurrence.

Target 
Reduce all accidents as far as physically possible.

Link to Strategy
Maintaining the safety of our people reflects our value that everyone 
has the right to go home safely at the end of the day. It affects our 
brand reputation for being a good company to work for who puts 
its people first as we strive to have a positive impact on everything 
we touch.

* after IFRS 16 restatement – see Note 2

  

  

Accident frequency rate 
0.09
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5 6

7 8

Net return on capital employed 
24.24%

24.24

17

16

15

18*

19

26.93

59.04

15.20

6.60

Dividend cover 
6.31 times

6.31

17

16

15

18*

19

2.64

11.89

5.78

N/A

Training days across the Group 
6,886 days

6,886

17

16

15

18

19

5,842

4,705

3,805

3,644

Employee stability index % 
88.10%

88.10

17

16

15

18

19

86.67

86.68

87.43

87.41

Definition
Profitability over capital employed.

Performance
Return on capital employed is encouraging, but has been affected by 
the non-recurring items and major infrastructure schemes. Long term 
liability increases due to IFRS16 and contingent consideration have also 
had a negative impact.

Target 
Maintain a consistent net return on capital employed of greater than 25%.

Link to Strategy
Measuring net return on capital employed ensures that the Group’s 
capital is employed with the greatest efficiency compared to 
profitability.

Definition
The ratio of earnings to dividends declared. 

Performance
Dividend cover has increased as the Directors do not recommend 
payment of a final dividend for 2019. The decision to pay a final 
dividend has been deferred until the outcome of COVID-19 can be 
fully determined. 

Target 
The Board's target for dividend cover is greater than two times.

Link to Strategy
Returning a steady dividend stream to our investors impacts on the 
confidence in our brand as a viable business, returning profits and 
loss minimisation.

Definition
Number of days we have invested in training during the financial year.

Performance
Our continuous investment in developing our people has led to a 
17.87% increase in training days during 2019. 

Target 
Continual growth ahead of employee increases to ensure we 
continually develop all of our colleagues.

Link to Strategy
Developing our people is a key element of our strategy. Ensuring that 
our people are motivated with the necessary skills and education 
makes a direct impact on our profitability.

Definition
Recognised HR metric for retention of experienced employees.

Performance
Level results over the last period indicate a positive result from our 
investment in our people blended with a healthy introduction of 
new blood to stimulate progress.

Target 
To maintain the current employee stability index.

Link to Strategy
Employee stability ensures that the tacit knowledge, experience and 
our newest talent remains within the Group as one of our biggest 
competitive advantages.

Strategy key

 Driving Cash

  Develop, Maintain and  
Protect Our People

 Improve Profit

  Enhance Brand Image

 Prevent Losses

  Effective Communication
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OUR OPERATIONAL 
REVIEW

Our continued success in securing strategic 
AMP7 frameworks and new customers establishes 
the business as the number one service provider 
to the UK water sector.

John Homer
Chief Executive

The Water segment has had a very positive year with notable project 
and framework wins. 

We successfully secured the Long Term Plan framework for South 
Staffordshire Water as part of their AMP7 programme. This sees us 
as principal contractor performing feasibility studies, optioneering 
and then the design and construction of major upgrades to 
Hampton Loade and Seedy Mill Water Treatment Works – the 
£60m programme is set to run through to 2030. Following on from 
this award we also renewed our existing Base Capital Maintenance 
Framework with South Staffordshire Water until 2025, which 
sees us continue with asset upgrades and renewals in the South 
Staffordshire and Cambridge Water catchment areas.

We secured a trio of framework wins for our longest serving 
customer Severn Trent Water. We secured our place on Lot 1 – 
Capital Delivery Design and Build, Lot 2 – Capital Delivery Civils Build 
only and Lot 3 – MEICA Build only.

We have increased our portfolio of routes to market with Yorkshire 
Water, securing places on their Direct Delivery Civils, Direct Delivery 
MEICA, Infrastructure and Fabrications AMP7 frameworks.

Our exceptional performance on the Affinity Water AMP6 
frameworks has seen these extended into AMP7 and £22m of further 
work awarded to support the construction of HS2.

2019 saw us secure another new customer in Portsmouth Water, 
with the award of various schemes totalling £6m.

Operationally during the year we have achieved significant 
milestones including another successful year of construction on the 
Frankley Birmingham Resilience Project, the continuation of Bray 
Keleher expansion works and Bellozanne sewage treatment works 
which is being carried out by our branch in Jersey.

Outlook
• COVID-19 masking of underlying performance likely in short to 

medium term.

• Continue to secure our target AMP7 Frameworks

• Bridge the gap between the AMP transition

• Target and secure high margin business opportunities for our 
product and services business units

• Develop our plan for international opportunities

Water
Exceptional wins for multiple key strategic frameworks and new customers

Revenue
+15.56%

£282.63m
2018: £244.58m

Secured workload
-25.45%

£157.54m
2018: £211.32m



29STRATEGIC REPORT OUR GOVERNANCE OUR FINANCIALSSTRATEGIC REPORTOVERVIEW

Progress photo from the scheme 

Case study
Bellozanne Sewage Treatment Works 
Bellozanne Sewage Treatment Works (STW) is the main 
sewage treatment works on the Island of Jersey and 
currently treats 25,000 cubic metres of effluent per day. 
Bellozanne STW is located in Bellozanne Valley, to the north 
west of the town of St Helier, and has been in operation 
for almost 60 years, and is therefore now operating at the 
end of its asset life. Throughout this period the STW has 
received several upgrades to maintain operations and 
effective sewage treatment. However, in recent years the 
current STW has deteriorated in performance. The works is 
inefficient, requires significant maintenance and fails to meet 
the required nitrification standards. Significant maintenance 
and improvement works would only resolve the issues in 
the short term, and therefore the STW is no longer deemed 
operationally or financially viable.

Growth, Housing and Environment (GHE) have identified 
an outline solution to construct a new STW to replace the 
existing facility. The outline solution complies with the 
necessary effluent discharge consent for the current and 
future growth in population.

nmcn are the Principal Contractor to the Government of 
Jersey, and are responsible for the design, construction 
and commissioning of the new Bellozanne STW, including 
the site infrastructure, buildings, roads, services, plant, 
equipment, security arrangements and all associated 
works. Some elements of work include: new inlet works, 
nine settlement tanks, activated sludge plant, UV treatment 
plant, tanker import facility, 30,000m³ of earthworks cut/
fill, 27,000 tonnes reinforced concrete and 3,000 tonnes of 
reinforcement.
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OUR OPERATIONAL 
REVIEW

The Built Environment segment has had a positive year with notable 
project and framework wins. 

Our Highways business unit has made significant progress on the 
multi million pound M621 scheme in Leeds, which was the first 
project awarded on the strategic Highways England Delivery 
Integration Partners Framework. The business unit also secured a 
place on the YORCivils Major Civils framework, which will provide 
opportunity to deliver civil engineering/highways major works 
projects valued at over £10m for the Yorkshire and Humber region’s 
22 local authorities and other regionally-based public sector bodies. 
These flagship frameworks are supported by a large volume of 
regional frameworks across our target geography.

The Building business unit has secured a place on both the EEM and 
Pagabo frameworks, which coupled with significant project wins 
gives a strong outlook. Our investments arm, nmcn Investments, has 
also been successful in the development of their targeted schemes.

The Telecoms business unit has delivered a strong performance 
in 2019 after a challenging period spanning many years. The new 
leadership team have delivered on their turnaround strategy and 
have rebuilt solid foundations for the business unit. The forecast for 
further development within the Telecoms business unit is positive 
and it is a market with significant opportunity in the immediate 
future.

The construction industry has suffered significantly in 2019 from 
the collapse of supply chain partners in a number of disciplines. The 
Board continues to review the procedures and controls around the 
financial viability of its supply chain in order to ensure a robust future.

Outlook
• COVID-19 challenges likely to remain in short to medium term

• Continue to secure strategic Building and Highways frameworks

• Controlled growth of nmcn Investments

• Expand our customer base and geographical coverage

• Growth of Telecoms market

• Development of Power and Industrial business unit

Built Environment
Key strategic frameworks wins and new customers developed

Securing significant frameworks across the 
segment and the turnaround of the Telecoms 
business places the Group in an excellent position 
for the next five years.

John Homer
Chief Executive

Revenue
+28.07%

£122.78m*
2018: £95.87m 
* Stated before non-recurring items

Secured workload
+24.92%

£136.10m
2018: £108.95m
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Case study
Eaton Socon 400kV Substation
Contract Description
The scheme at Eaton Socon was to provide the civil works for 
Siemens, in order to upgrade and extend an existing National 
Grid 400KV Substation. The project comprised:

• 12,000m³ of bulk earth works to enable the 
construction area

• A large super grid transformer bund amongst the c1000m³ 
concrete placed and installed 900m of ducting network 
including 12 FRC drawpits 

• We also installed over 500m of drainage including 23 
catchpit manholes

We used collaborative planning and Siemens document 
control system to manage the design developments during the 
construction phase and managed site including 80 inductions.

We delivered a defect free project to an agreed programme 
and performed over 25,000 man hours with zero accidents or 
incidents.

Throughout our construction works, the 400kV National Grid 
Substation remained fully operational, and no service was 
restricted or interrupted because of our works.

Final photo of the scheme 
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OUR FINANCIAL 
REVIEW

The Group has delivered a significant increase 
in revenue of 18.9% year on year from £340.45m in 
2018 to £404.66m in 2019. The revenue increase 
reflects additional turnover in both the Water and 
Built Environment segments of the Group and was 
in excess of management’s expectations for the 
period.

Daniel Taylor
Chief Financial Officer

Overview of 2019
The Group has delivered an acceptable financial performance within 
difficult market conditions for construction and the uncertainty 
that prevailed in the UK economy generally. Good progress has been 
made against our strategic plans.

Revenue has increased significantly, compared to the previous 
period, however the net return on these revenues has been impacted 
by non-recurring items in the Built Environment segment, where 
the Board has taken a considered approach to likely recoveries. The 
Water segment has seen significant growth in the second half of the 
year as Asset Management Period (“AMP”) 6  comes to its natural 
conclusion. Reduced returns in the segment reflect the tunnelling 
cost overruns on a major infrastructure scheme.

Further investment has been made in adherence of governance 
controls to manage risk, and into the development of our people to 
meet the increasing demands of our customers for a high-quality 
service. The Group is therefore well positioned to take advantage of 
the increase in infrastructure spending plans that is anticipated in the 
medium-term. 

The continuing successes in securing framework places for all our 
business units, ongoing profitability and cash position are further 
significant positives which give the Board confidence in the Group’s 
long-term sustainable future.

Our financial performance
The Group has delivered a significant increase in revenue of 18.9% 
year on year from £340.45m in 2018 to £404.66m in 2019. The 
revenue increase reflects additional turnover in both the Water 
and Built Environment segments of the Group and was in excess of 
management's expectations for the period.

Profit before tax for the year totalled £7.44m compared to a restated 
figure of £6.01m in 2018, an increase of 23.8%, and in line with the 
Board’s expectations. The Group has implemented IFRS16 using 
the full retrospective method, which has had negligible impact on 
the prior year. Profit before tax and non-recurring items for the 
year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to £10.39m compared 
to £7.87m for 2018, as restated for IFRS 16, an encouraging 32.0% 
increase. Basic earnings per share reflected a 20.8% increase to 57.36p 
(2018: 47.50p) on an unchanged tax rate of 19%.

Solid progress has been achieved across most business units and 
sectors. The Telecoms business unit results were a significant 
improvement from 2018, with excellent opportunities for 2020 and 
beyond. Overall, the Board is satisfied with the results for 2019, 
however further improvements can be made to the net return on 
sales and this continues to be a key strategic focus. 
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Water segment

Year 
ended

31 Dec 2019
£’000

Year 
ended

31 Dec 2018
£’000

Year 
on year

movement
£’000

Year 
on year

movement
%

Restated

Revenue  282,625  244,580  38,045 15.6%
Operating profit  7,581  8,096 (515) (6.4%)
Operating profit margin 2.7% 3.3% (0.6%)
Secured workload 157,542 211,319 (53,777) (25.4%)

The growth in revenue within the Water segment has been 
significant in the year and is up 15.6% on last year, an increase of 
£38.05m. The growth principally reflects our focus on delivering 
exceptional customer service and has been achieved through new 
framework awards, an increase in major infrastructure works, and the 
ongoing performance on our Asset Management Period (“AMP”) 6 
Frameworks.

The operating profit of £7.58m is a slight decrease on last year's 
£8.10m with operating margins also lower as a result of the conclusion 
of the AMP cycle and close out of the remaining schemes. Tunnelling 
overrun costs on a major infrastructure scheme had an adverse 
effect in the year on the operating margin of the segment. The 
operating profit performance was in line with our anticipated 
strategic plans for the financial year.

There has been further investment in organisational capability 
during 2019, to maintain our competitive advantage and to ensure 
that we are best placed to deliver on the new major frameworks we 
have been awarded. This investment and the new Group operating 
structure will benefit risk management, project management and our 
customer focus.

The continued investment in our people and their development, 
to ensure the sustainability of the business, means the segment 
is cautiously optimistic for 2020, with a stronger outlook for 
future years when AMP7 is at full capacity. The number of water 
frameworks that have been retained and the increase in new 
frameworks awarded, with both new and existing customers, is 
extremely encouraging.

The acquisition of Lintott Environmental Technologies Limited ("LET") 
which has a wholly owned trading subsidiary called Lintott Control 
Systems Limited ("LCS"), was our first acquisition in recent years and 
one that offers an excellent opportunity for nmcn to strengthen and 
expand an already established offering to the UK water Industry and 
potentially other markets in the future. A cash consideration of £1 was 
paid on the acquisition, however further consideration may be due 
and an initial estimate of £2.18m has been recognised for contingent 
consideration, which is reflective of fair value as at the acquisition 
date. By providing off-site build, chemical dosing systems, motor 
control centres, and control systems, the acquisition complements 
our full asset lifecycle management offering to the water sector in 
offsite manufacture, production and maintenance of assets. LCS 
contributed positively to the Group’s result in the final quarter 
of 2019.

As at 31 March 2020, the secured workload for construction during 
2020 stood at £157.54m. This was behind the position for 2019 and 
in line with revenues achieved in 2018, but would still represent in 
excess of 70% of management’s expectations for revenue in 2020. 
Opportunities are available for our people in the Built Environment 
segment due to the growth profile and additional potential workload. 
The anticipated reduction in revenue for 2020 is due to the current 
visibility of workload for the AMP transitional year, but we expect this 
to increase over the medium term. This is currently under review due 
to the impact of COVID-19.
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Built Environment segment

Completed photo from Battery Storage project 

Year 
ended

31 Dec 2019
£’000

Year 
ended

31 Dec 2018
£’000

Year 
on year

movement
£’000

Year 
on year

movement
%

Restated

Revenue* 122,783 95,870 26,913 28.1%
Operating profit* 3,037 (69) 3,106 n/a
Operating profit margin 2.5% (0.1%) 2.6%
Secured workload 136,099 108,952 27,147 24.9%

* Stated before non-recurring items as defined below.

The Built Environment segment saw an increase in revenue in 2019 
of 28.1% to £122.78m, which coupled with a significant turnaround 
in the Telecoms business unit to produce an operating profit before 
non-recurring items of £3.04m, compared to a marginal loss in 2018. 

As anticipated last year, a restructure of the Telecoms business unit, 
which included a new operating structure and a change in leadership 
to improve operating performance, was implemented. The 
restructuring also involved new commercial terms being agreed with 
the business unit’s major client and a more appropriate cost base 
alignment. The benefits of these changes are evident, and we have 
seen an increase in operating profit for the business unit to £1.43m 
from a loss of £2.8m in 2018. The current operating performance 
has provided a better quality of earnings for the segment. The new 
frameworks agreed for both new build schemes and the ongoing 
maintenance of existing networks gives the Board the confidence in 
a positive outlook.

The Building business unit has continued to perform strongly in 
challenging market sectors, where delays from our customers due to 
the uncertainty surrounding Brexit have undoubtedly had an impact. 
The underlying performance of the business has been strong, 
excluding the non-recurring item outlined below relating to the 
administration of a member of our supply chain.

The nmcn Investments development portfolio has grown in 2019, 
however currently this is on hold and all sites suspended due to the 
impact of COVID-19.

The Highways business unit has suffered from a delay in local 
infrastructure expenditure against management's expectations for 
the year, but has nonetheless contributed positively.

The Built Environment segment, as at 31 March 2020, had secured 
work to be constructed during 2020 of £136.10m, an increase of 
24.9% on the position last year. This represented slightly above 85% 
of management’s revenue expectation, but is currently under review 
due to the impact of COVID-19. In 2020 it is anticipated that the 
Group will reflect a more balanced mix of turnover and profitability 
across the two business segments.

Non-recurring items 
The non-recurring items in 2019 related to the issues described below 
and in total amounted to £2.95m (2018: £1.87m) before tax. These 
items are not attributed to the ongoing trading of the Group and are 
explained in the following paragraphs accordingly.

The profit before non-recurring items is deemed by the Board to 
be an alternative performance measure (“APM”). The Group has 
used this APM to aid comparability of its performance and position 
between periods, but these metrics are not comparable with other 
businesses as they are specific to nmcn.

OUR FINANCIAL 
REVIEW
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Legacy contract losses (see below) accounted for £1.49m of non-
recurring costs and revenue adjustments in the period, £0.74m and 
£0.75m respectively (2018: £0.51m, solely costs). 

Non-recurring direct costs of £1.86m (2018: £Nil) relating to the 
administration process of a member of the Group’s supply chain 
have been included as non-recurring. The Board has categorised 
these costs as non-recurring due to the size of the impact and the 
infrequent nature of the event. The Board continues to enhance 
the procedures and controls around the financial viability of its 
supply chain.

During 2018, the Group rectified significant defective work resulting 
from a substandard product of an aggregate supplier, at a cost of 
£0.47m. This situation is unlikely to be repeated and recovery is 
being progressed. In the previous year a contingent asset was not 
recognised in line with applicable accounting standards. In the 
current year the Board is satisfied, based on expert opinion, that 
the recovery of the direct costs of the asset should be recognised at 
£0.39m. For consistency with the prior year, the Board has classified 
this item as non-recurring.

Further details of non-recurring items can be found in Note 2.4.

Legacy contract
Legacy contracts are construction contracts entered into at the 
height of the recession, before 31 December 2013, and which 
carried a higher than normal contractual and commercial risk. These 
contracts negatively impacted the Group’s income statement in 
2013 and subsequent years. Only one legacy contract now remains 
to be resolved.

The Group has been pursuing claims on this contract with the 
client for sums greater than the carrying value and will continue to 
do so until the situation is resolved. The Directors have sought to 
make the estimate as precise as possible by reflecting the views of 
independent quantum and legal experts who were appointed by the 
Directors for their ability, qualifications and experience in this field.

The independent quantum and legal experts, in conjunction with 
management, considered a number of factors when making their 
assessment, such as contractual terms, work performed, claims for 
variations, submissions for extensions of time, claims for loss and 
expense and expected time frames in which settlement is likely.

Whilst the Directors are making every effort to seek a swift 
resolution to the matter, they are committed to achieving the best 
possible result for the Group. The ultimate settlement of this matter 
may take in excess of twelve months to achieve based on current 
expectations on Court hearing dates.

Risk
Operating in the construction industry presents inherent risks as one 
of the key components, by its nature. We therefore have robust risk 
identification, assessment and control processes to manage both 
material and day-to-day circumstances.

The Group’s risk and governance model is designed so that the Board 
maintains overall responsibility for risk. Each business unit identifies, 
controls and mitigates threats within their own operations. The 
reporting structure ensures that once the risk appetite is determined 
by the Board, risks are managed within acceptable tolerance levels.

Revenue before non-recurring items
+19.08% 

£405.41m
2018: £340.45m

Profit before tax
+23.79% 

£7.44m
2018: £6.01m*

Profit before non-recurring items
+32.02% 

£10.39m
2018: £7.87m*

Cash
-22.61% 

£25.81m
2018: £33.35m

Creditor days
+2.63% 

39 days
2018: 38 days

Total dividend
-50.00% 

9.0p**
2018: 18.0p

* after IFRS 16 restatement – see Note 2

**  due to Board decision to defer final dividend (see page 36)
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Tendering opportunities, including pre-qualification questionnaires 
and framework submissions, are assessed subject to the strategic 
objectives of the business units. Governance levels are set 
according to risk appetite, with significant involvement of the Chief 
Executive and Chief Financial Officer. At each Board meeting high 
risk opportunities are presented and if appropriate, ratified for the 
Company to progress.

The Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer meet with the 
business units on a monthly basis throughout the year with an 
established agenda and reporting format covering a range of metrics. 
This allows the Executive to maintain oversight and control over the 
material aspects of strategy, financing, operations and risk.

The Board has taken action to enhance further its risk management 
processes and controls around the financial viability of its supply 
chain, to mitigate any future instances of loss as far as possible. The 
procurement and supply chain function has been strengthened by 
recruiting an experienced director to lead this significant central 
function and become part of the Executive Administration Board 
(EAB). The strategic direction of the function is to engage in longer 
term partnerships with key supply chain disciplines, as well as 
additional governance around significant work packages at the 
tender stage. Currently enhancements are being developed to the 
Approved Vendor List (AVL) and to introduce a balanced scorecard 
approach to our supply chain partners.

Financing
The Group seeks to maintain cash availability to support 
growth across all contracts and segments. It also targets further 
improvement to receivable payment terms to allow greater 
headroom. Where short-term fluctuations exist, opportunities to 
make early payments to our supply chain are explored. There is 
currently no overnight pooling or investment due to the small returns 
achievable.

The Company has an asset hire purchase facility in place to enable 
the ongoing capital expenditure for the Group’s core assets, which it 
utilises across a large number of its contracts.

Taxation
The current tax charge of £1.53m (2018: £1.19m) relates to tax on 
profits at 19% in addition to a reduction in the deferred tax rate 
applicable to taxable temporary differences. All Group trading 
companies will continue to pay tax as quarterly payments on 
account.

Dividend
As part of a review of capital allocation across the business, and 
recognising the uncertainties posed by the COVID-19 crisis, in 
particular the possibility of further restrictions or extended time 
frames, the Board will not be recommending a final dividend for 2019 
(2018: 12p). The Board is very mindful of the importance of dividends 
to all shareholders and, should circumstances permit, a special 
interim dividend may be made later this year.

Cash generation and working capital
The year-end cash balance remains positive and in line with the 
Board’s expectations at £25.81 m (2018: £33.35m), a reduction from 
the previous year due to: significant revenue growth in the period; 
the mix of contract and client payment terms; and the continued 
strategic investment in nmcn Investments. There is also greater 

emphasis on cash management due to market conditions and high-
profile mid-market failures in the construction industry.

The main drivers in relation to the reduction in operating cash flows 
relate to revenue increasing by 18.9% and an increase in contract 
assets during the final quarter, taking the average credit period 
extended to our customers to 33 days (2018: 28 days). The outflow 
of cash from the increased revenue and changes in average terms 
amounted to £11.39m (2018: £1.29m inflow) across trade and other 
receivables. Average receivable days increased during the year, as a 
reduction in favourable payment terms prevailed. This coupled with 
the growth in the Telecoms business unit, which due to the nature of 
the work and framework terms, has a longer cash conversion cycle, 
required an investment in working capital.

The Board’s strategy to invest in nmcn Investments continued 
in 2019 with an outflow through investments in joint ventures of 
£5.83m (2018: £8.48m) which has also impacted operating cash 
flows. The ongoing schemes are anticipated to increase the quality 
of earnings going forwards. However, currently this is on hold and all 
sites suspended due to the impact of COVID-19.

The average credit period taken on purchases has remained 
consistent at 39 days (2018: 38 days) as we continue to ensure 
sufficient payment terms are offered to maintain the best supply 
chain and achieve the most commercial pricing. The inflow of cash 
of £4.29m (2018: £19.67m) is due to the increase in trade and other 
payables, excluding the acquisition of LCS.

As a result of the Group’s continued growth, the net investment 
during the year on property, plant and equipment remained 
consistent at £3.07m (2018: £3.26m), in line with the Group’s strategy 
to purchase equipment where possible. Following this investment 
in capital assets the closing net book value of property, plant and 
equipment stood at £28.78m (2018 restated: £22.59m), which 
positions the Group to deliver its targeted growth through 2020 and 
beyond.

The non-cash charge for share-based payment expense of £0.87m 
(2018: £1.07m) has added to the operating cash generation. This was 
an expense in the year through the statement of comprehensive 
income, and the same amount has been credited directly to equity 
in line with applicable accounting standards, increasing the Group’s 
reserves. A cash outflow of £1.67m (2018: £Nil) to settle the tax 
liabilities due to net settling of the scheme was made during the year.

Cash allocation
The Group’s approach to cash allocation continues to be a blend of 
investing in the business to support organic growth opportunities, 
preserving a prudent capital structure, and delivering returns to 
shareholders via a progressive dividend policy. 

Our operating model requires investment in the purchase of our own 
assets to ensure additional returns are made from the utilisation of 
the fleet across all business unit contracts. We therefore continue to 
invest in our fleet to provide both capacity and reliability. 

We have renewed our existing banking facilities for a further year on 
similar terms, with the opportunity to increase for an agreed 6 month 
period should there be a requirement. 

The Water Segment, and the majority of the Built Environment 
segment, excluding the Building business, have been designated by 
the Government to be critical to the COVID-19 response. There is a 

OUR FINANCIAL 
REVIEW
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Colleagues at our Senior Leadership Conference

clear commitment and ongoing demand for our directly delivered 
products and services from our customers. Key considerations 
around anticipated revenues and the covenants of our major 
customers, have driven additional scenario planning. These scenarios 
have taken into account the current and potential impacts of 
COVID-19 on the business. We seek to retain a sufficient cash 
balance to provide the business with a level of balance sheet 
resilience that the Board believes to be appropriate during these 
uncertain times. 

As outlined above, different business segments reflect changes in 
average credit periods and prior to the emergence of COVID-19 we 
were seeing growing working capital requirements as a consequence 
of increasing organic growth opportunities. 

Since the escalation of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Board has been 
focussed on taking actions to preserve cash and protect liquidity 
in a way that does not compromise the long-term prospects of 
the business. To this end we have implemented a temporary and 
voluntary reduction in the remuneration of the Executive Directors 
of 20% and a 10% reduction for the senior management team 
(effective 1 April 2020). All non-essential capital and overhead 
expenditure has now been deferred, and a hiring freeze has been 
implemented along with various other cost reduction initiatives. 
Measures taken to reduce cash outflows include the deferral of 
VAT payment, financing costs, and utilisation of the Government's 
Job Retention Scheme. Additional borrowing facilities are being 
considered by the Board and discussions are progressing with Lloyds 
Bank, and should it be required, to utilise the recently announced 
Coronavirus Large Business Interruption Loan Scheme (CLBILS).

The investments made in funding and constructing residential 
developments are due to crystallise in 2021 and beyond. However, 
this programme is currently on hold until clarity can be given on the 
COVID-19 position.

The Board seeks to maintain its policy of a progressive dividend, 
subject to COVID-19, and in line with shareholder expectations. 

Restatements
During the year, the Group implemented IFRS 16 and has restated 
its 2018 results using the full retrospective approach. Details of the 
restatement are set out in Note 2.

Outlook
The UK construction industry is challenged to keep up with the 
demand to maintain existing infrastructure and the need for 
investment to support future economic growth. The Group seeks 
to position itself to take advantage of the growth opportunities 
on offer and to address the challenges faced by many high profile 
troubled competitors in the industry.

Prior to the outbreak of the coronavirus, the Board remained 
cautious over further uncertainties from Brexit and any impact from 
the water industry’s transitioning from  AMP6 to AMP7. However, the 
level of water frameworks that had been retained and the increase 
in new frameworks achieved was encouraging and an enhancement 
of net return on revenues for 2020 and beyond was anticipated. As 
of 31 March 2020, the secured workload to be constructed during 
2020 stood at £293.64 million which represented just under 80% of 
anticipated Group revenue for 2020.

Although a significant proportion of our workload is deemed 
essential, the emergence of COVID-19 and the need to adjust 
to the rapidly evolving challenges it presents have hindered our 
operations and performance. Where safe to do so, we continue to 
work on projects deemed to be of critical national significance and a 
number of initiatives to minimise costs and preserve cash have been 
introduced. However, it is not possible to quantify the likely impact 
on the 2020 full year results at this stage and consequently the Board 
does not believe it appropriate to provide forward looking financial 
guidance until greater visibility is available.

The stated Government commitment to investment in national 
infrastructure and the broader need for investment to support 
future economic growth, give us confidence in the medium-term 
workload opportunities in our chosen markets. The outlook for the 
longer term sustainable success of the Group remains encouraging 
and notwithstanding current challenges, positive progress is 
expected to continue.

Daniel Taylor
Chief Financial Officer
22 April 2020
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OUR  
RISKS
Introduction
nmcn’s approach to risk management is guided by its core values, 
strategic priorities and related objectives. It regards its risk attitude 
as the amount of risk that it is willing to accept in order to deliver its 
strategic priorities.

The Board recognises the importance of risk in the running of its 
business, that circumstances are continuously changing and that the 
risks therefore need to remain under regular review.

The Board has made a robust assessment of the principal risks which 
the Group faces, the controls in place to remove or mitigate these 
risks and also whether these risks represent new or emerging, and 
if they are increased or decreased threats. The assessment of these 
risks and controls is part of the ongoing management of the business. 
Board assessment covers risks that would threaten the business 
model, future performance, solvency or liquidity of the Group.

The principal risks that could adversely impact the Group’s 
profitability and ability to achieve its strategic objectives are set out 
in the table on the next page.

Emerging risks
During 2019, we have developed our approach to identifying, 
assessing and managing emerging risks. We consider emerging risks 
to be evolving in their nature and they therefore require a dynamic 
and flexible assessment by our Board. Emerging risks have been 
incorporated into our strategic planning process and are managed 
primarily at Board level. The focus of our business units and central 
services teams remains primarily on current principal risks, which are 
managed through business plans and regular reviews. 

Risk management framework
Operating in the construction industry, risk is at the heart of 
everything we do. We therefore have well-embedded risk 
identification, assessment and control processes in place to manage 
both material and day-to-day circumstances.

2019 saw the continuing strengthening of the risk management 
culture and disciplines embedding the Group’s strategic priorities and 
related objectives. This approach forms a fundamental element of 
the three lines of defence model in place across the business.

The Group’s risk and governance model is designed so that the Board 
maintains overall responsibility for risk. Each business unit identifies, 
controls and mitigates threats within their own operations. The 
reporting structure ensures that once the risk appetite is determined 
by the Board, risks are managed within acceptable tolerance levels.

Senior managers within the business units take ownership of specific 
business risks.

Risk is managed across the Group in the following ways:

• The Group and its business units undertake a comprehensive 
annual business planning process to identify objectives and 
set strategies to achieve their goals taking account of the risk 
appetite set by the Board. A SMART plan is developed by the 
business units and the central Group functions.

• Emerging risks are evolving in their nature and they therefore 
require a dynamic and flexible assessment by our Board. 
Emerging risks have been incorporated into our strategic 
planning process and are managed primarily at Board level. 
Emerging risks are raised as and when they occur outside of the 
biannual reviews of risk management by the Board.

• The Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer meet with the 
business units monthly throughout the year with an established 
agenda and reporting format covering a range of matters. This 
allows the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer to ensure 
that they maintain oversight and control over the material 
aspects of strategic, financial, operational and risk issues.

• Tendering opportunities, including pre-qualification 
questionnaires and framework submission, are assessed based 
on the strategic objectives of the business units. Governance 
levels are set according to risk appetite, but includes significant 
involvement from the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer.

• The Group’s Audit Committee has commenced a programme 
of co-sourced internal audits with our external provider, KPMG. 
The Committee annually approves the co-sourced internal audit 
plan, which currently covers corporate level risks. The plan is 
developed by focusing upon the principal risks identified from 
the risk review process. The KPMG internal audit team reports 
regularly to the Board and the Audit Committee on its findings.

• The Group’s Audit Committee is also responsible for monitoring 
and ensuring that the internal commercial audit remains efficient 
and effective. The Committee annually approves the internal 
commercial audit plan, which covers both project and corporate 
level risks. The plan is developed by focusing upon the principal 
risks identified from the risk review process and feedback from 
current business unit performance. The internal commercial 
audit team reports regularly to the Board and the Audit 
Committee on its findings.

• The Group has a number of initiatives underway to continually 
strengthen the risk management of the Group and acceptance 
and delivery of individual contracts. These include tender review 
procedures, programme development and early supply chain 
involvement. These projects are being driven from the Group’s 
Commercial Forum and the Executive Administration Board.
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Going Concern and Viability Statement
The Strategic Report on pages 8 to 65 describes the Group’s 
marketplace, business model and strategy, together with an 
overview of operational and financial performance, including key 
performance indicators. The Our Risks section of the Annual Report 
and Accounts (starting on page 38) sets out the principal risks which 
the Group is exposed to together with the Group’s policies for 
monitoring, managing and mitigating its exposures to these risks.

The Board considers annually, and on a rolling basis, a three-year 
strategic plan for the business. The three-year strategic plan was last 
approved by the Board on 11 December 2019. One of the strengths 
of the Group is the number of long-term frameworks secured in non-
discretionary infrastructure expenditure and repeat business with 
blue chip clients. This gives a longer-term sustainable baseline of work.

During 2019, the Board carried out a robust assessment of the 
principal risks facing the Group, including those that would threaten 
its business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity. The 
Directors believe that the Group is well placed to manage its business 
risks successfully in the future. The extraordinary post balance 
sheet circumstances emerging from the COVID-19 virus has meant 
economic challenge for the business, which has required additional 
liquidity and solvency stress testing, coupled with various operational 
scenario planning being implemented and assessed by the Board. 

Since the escalation of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Board has been 
focussed on taking actions to preserve cash and protect liquidity 
in a way that does not compromise the long-term prospects of the 
business. All non-essential capital and overhead expenditure has now 
been deferred, and a hiring freeze has been implemented along with 
various other cost reduction initiatives. Measures taken to reduce 
cash outflows include the deferral of VAT payment, financing costs, 
and utilisation of the Government's Job Retention Scheme. In order 
to provide headroom and flexibility in the current circumstances, 
additional borrowing facilities are being considered by the Board and 
discussions are progressing with our funders to utilise the recently 
announced Coronavirus Large Business Interruption Loan Scheme 
(CLBILS), if required.

The Board believes that, taking into account the Group’s current 
position, and subject to the principal risks faced by the business, 
including the current COVID-19 crisis and the emerging risk of its 
future impact on the UK economy as a whole, the Group will be able 
to continue in operation and to meet its liabilities as they fall due for 
the period up to 31 December 2022, being the period considered 
under the Group’s current three-year strategic plan.

The financial forecasts included in the three-year strategic plan 
reviewed by the Board have been subjected to stress testing using 
the following potential occurrences:

• Significant reduction in productivity from budgeted and pre 
COVID-19 forecasted position, due to the impact on business 
continuity (see also Our Risks number 10 and further details on 
page 147)

• Potential failure in supply chain or delays (see also Our Risks 
number 9)

• Reduced margin or potential cash loss contracts (see also Our 
Risks number 4)

Having assessed a range of different potential scenarios, the Board is 
of the view that the Group will be able to meet its liabilities and that 
it has adequate resources to continue its operational existence for 
the foreseeable future and for a period of at least 12 months from the 
date of this report. 

Accordingly, the Board continues to adopt and consider appropriate 
the going concern basis in preparing the Annual Report and Accounts.
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OUR  
RISKS

Strategy key

 Driving Cash

  Develop, Maintain and  
Protect Our People

 Improve Profit

  Enhance Brand Image

 Prevent Losses

  Effective Communication

No. Risk Area
Strategic 
Link Mitigation Action/Control Change During the Year

Current/
Emerging Risk

1
 

Quality, Environment, 
Safety & Health (QESH) 
performance

Potential harm to our 
people, our key asset and 
our greatest value, and 
others involved in our 
operations, as well as 
potential damage to the 
environment

Preferred supplier of 
services and products 
lost due to poor 
performance

• Top-down leadership

• Maintain accreditations: ISO 9001, 
14001, 18001 and CEMARS 

• Board performance monitoring

• Regular management meetings 
evaluating performance and 
identify improvement 

• KPIs that guide management 
action plans 

• Detailed review process for legal 
and client requirements 

• Operational third party and 
customer audits

• Just Culture Policy and Employee 
Safety Committee 

• Induction/on-boarding

• NCR/incident/accident reporting

• Annual reviews for policies and 
procedures

• Risks and opportunities register

• Robust stakeholder management 
plans

STABLE

• The area of health and 
safety continues to be a 
focus and we have seen 
the Group’s AFR rate 
decrease during the year. 
We continue to strive for 
accident free delivery

• Our people are our most 
important asset, and their 
safety is paramount to us 
along with all stakeholders 
that the Group comes 
into contact with

CURRENT

2
 

Government

A reduction in 
government spending on 
infrastructure projects 
would directly affect 
some of the Group’s 
business units. Whilst 
long term frameworks, in 
particular in the Water 
segment, give some level 
of protection, a 
proportion of our 
revenue requires 
continued expenditure 
at a national and local 
level

• We now operate our business 
through two operating segments, 
comprising eleven business units 
serving different market sectors, 
reducing our exposure to one 
particular market

• We have a broad customer base 
and geographic spread

• We manage our exposure to 
cyclical downturns through 
developing framework 
agreements with key customers 
across a range of sectors

DECREASE

• Infrastructure spending is 
increasing for our 
Highways and Telecoms 
businesses in particular, 
coupled with our increase 
in market share

• The Group has a healthy 
order book for this market 
place

• Majority government 
elected in December 2019, 
which should give 
certainty of direction and 
some stability

CURRENT
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No. Risk Area
Strategic 
Link Mitigation Action/Control Change During the Year

Current/
Emerging Risk

3
 

Attraction and 
retention of key 
leaders, managers and 
skilled workforce

Failure to attract and 
retain key leaders, 
managers and skilled 
workers could lead to a 
lack of necessary 
expertise or lack of 
continuity to execute 
strategy

The industry wide skills 
shortage remains a 
challenge in all areas 
including STEM 
expertise

• “Investors in People” status 
maintained

• Effective communication to senior 
managers and Directors

• We adopt market-based 
compensation, including 
appropriate incentive packages

• Personal development 
opportunities

• Talent management and 
succession planning 

• Close relationships have been 
fostered with educational 
institutions

• Use of off-site construction to 
reduce labour requirements

STABLE

• There has been an 
increase in both attraction 
and retention. The Group 
has had a positive year 
and continues to give a 
positive outlook with 
subsequent increases 
expected in revenues. 
These increases require 
the correct people who 
match the purpose, values 
and culture of the Group

CURRENT

4
 

Contracting strategy, 
execution and potential 
disputes

Inappropriate contract 
terms with customers 
or supply chain, could 
lead to unacceptable 
risks relative to 
potential returns

Failure to comply with 
contract terms could 
lead to reputational 
damage, warranty 
claims or financial 
penalties

Supply chain risk 
management

Design responsible risk 
management 

• Appropriate risk management 
strategy is in place, which is 
continually reviewed and 
strengthened by the Audit 
Committee

• Contract and commercial 
management in accordance with 
contractual terms and conditions

• Internal audit/project monitoring 
function in place

• Contract policy that provides 
guidance on the parameters 
under which we will enter into

• Reviews of the pricing of contract 
bids and carry out ongoing 
commercial reviews of terms for 
certain types of contract

• Ensure increases in cost base are 
passed on to relevant clients

• Sufficient level of insurance cover 
and prudent excesses retained

STABLE

• Key strategic focus

• Thorough contract 
selection 

• Robust corporate 
governance

• Rigorous risk management

• Active contract 
performance monitoring

• Immediate corrective 
action

• Market review of available 
insurance cover, due to 
hardening of professional 
indemnity market

CURRENT
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OUR  
RISKS

Strategy key

 Driving Cash

  Develop, Maintain and  
Protect Our People

 Improve Profit

  Enhance Brand Image

 Prevent Losses

  Effective Communication

No. Risk Area
Strategic 
Link Mitigation Action/Control Change During the Year

Current/
Emerging Risk

5
 

Credit risk, liquidity risk, 
interest rate risk and 
funding for growth

Financial loss and lack 
of cash flow to support 
ongoing and growing 
businesses

• Credit risk maintained by 
reviewing the creditworthiness of 
counterparties to transactions on 
a case-by-case basis updated with 
latest information as it becomes 
available

• Liquidity risk is managed by bank 
facilities and monitoring 
headroom

• Interest rate risk in respect of 
surplus cash is managed by 
assessing potential deposits with 
suitable financial institutions

• Cash flow management on a 
medium and short term basis

• Contingency planning and 
sufficient ongoing facilities 

STABLE

• Cash management is a key 
strategic objective

• Cash forecast monitored 
actively

• Further opportunities for 
betterment

• Sufficient funding facilities 
in place

CURRENT

6
 

Legal 

Legal and regulatory 
failure, for example 
involvement in: 
blacklisting, cover pricing, 
bribery, other fraudulent 
activity or non-
compliance with law 
(including for example, 
the Bribery Act, Fraud 
Act, Competition Act, 
Criminal Finances Act, 
GDPR, Money 
Laundering Regulations 
and Proceeds of Crime 
Act) could lead to 
disqualification from 
bidding for certain public 
or regulated sector work, 
fines, jail and reputational 
damage

Environmental 
commitments to reduce 
emissions 

• The Group has comprehensive 
policies and guidance in place at 
every level, including the recently 
reinvigorated Code of Conduct 
and mandatory e-learning for all 
employees

• Regular Board legal updates and 
briefings, six-monthly compliance 
declarations and conflicts of 
interest registers and 
authorisations 

• Anonymous and independent 
whistleblowing helpline is available 
to all staff, with strict policies to 
ensure anonymity and regular 
reporting of helpline use provided 
to the Board

• Our Impact element of our 
Positive Impact Plan aligned to 
current requirements for 
environmental change

STABLE

• Group ensures panel of 
professional firms keep it 
abreast of all 
developments

• Internal training as and 
when required

• Annual mandatory 
e-learning for all 
employees

• Our Positive Impact Plan 
launched

CURRENT
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No. Risk Area
Strategic 
Link Mitigation Action/Control Change During the Year

Current/
Emerging Risk

7
 

Cyber risk, business 
continuity and 
digitisation

All businesses experience 
cyber attacks from 
phishing, viruses, 
malware and brute force 
attacks 

The risk of data loss and 
business disruption from 
these attacks would not 
only impact our 
profitability and brand 
but would also impact 
our relationship and 
confidence with our 
customers

Falling behind in the 
digital world to our 
competitors, through 
market disruptors 

• Cyber awareness training

• Security incidents reporting 
system

• Targeted phishing campaign 
across the Group

• Audit/maintain ISO 27001/GDPR 
compliance

• Maintain Cyber Essentials 
Certificate

• The implementation of an 
industry-leading security fabric

• Regular/proactive maintenance of 
the firewalls

• Endpoint antivirus/anti malware 
applications including telemetry 
back to our Security Operating 
Centre

• Sandbox service that captures all 
“unknowns” and test before 
release

• Regular penetration testing and 
feedback

• Relevant cyber insurances held

• Business continuity policy 
reviewed and updated

• Backup IT strategy in position

• Business interruption insurance in 
place

• Investment in digital systems and 
strategic focus

STABLE

• Security Operations 
Centre report and 
recommendations

• Proactive / automated 
updates of firewall

• Monthly review of cyber 
awareness training 
participation

• Communications to our 
people to raise awareness 
(first line of defence)

• Advancement of digital 
strategy and acquisition 
of LCS

CURRENT

8
 

Major loss of customer

Failure to retain existing 
major frameworks

Significant loss of 
revenue

Loss of cash generating 
baseload turnover

Impact on regional 
offices

• Customer relationship 
management plans in place and 
reviewed monthly

• Win strategies developed to retain 
existing and secure new 
framework awards

• Customer expectation surveys, 
customer satisfaction and 
customer performance 
questionnaires completed and 
analysed for –/+ trends

• Understand customer objectives 
and market developments and 
have SMART plans established

STABLE

• Major focus on customer 
experience

• Ongoing development of 
key strategic customer 
relationships

CURRENT
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OUR  
RISKS

Strategy key

 Driving Cash

  Develop, Maintain and  
Protect Our People

 Improve Profit

  Enhance Brand Image

 Prevent Losses

  Effective Communication

No. Risk Area
Strategic 
Link Mitigation Action/Control Change During the Year

Current/
Emerging Risk

9
 

Supply chain

Supply chain failure due 
to economic uncertainty 

Over reliance on supply 
chain

Lack of market capacity

• Managed Approved Vendor List 

• Rigorous and proactive supply 
chain audits

• Long term relationships

• Sufficient contingency planning

• Reduced payment days

INCREASE

• 2019 was very challenging 
for the supply chain and 
there were a number of 
high profile failings as 
reported in our non-
recurring position

EMERGING

10
 

Widespread virus 
outbreaks

Employee sickness

Travel restrictions

Supply chain failure/ 
commodity restrictions

Reduction in production 
on-site leading to a 
reduction in revenue

• Timely communication to control 
outbreaks

• Informed employees who 
understand best practice

• Use of communication technology 
to minimise travel, allow home 
working and mitigate impact

• Cash resilience and optimisation 
planning

• Scenario planning and cost 
reduction drive

• Incident management structure 
and processes

INCREASE

• The outbreak of 
Coronavirus was an 
example of how these 
outbreaks can occur

• Current impact changing 
daily for the whole of the 
UK

• Likely to have significant 
impact on 2020 
operations

EMERGING

11
 

Brexit/Economic 

The macroeconomic 
environment within the 
UK after Brexit is riddled 
with inherent 
uncertainty. In particular, 
the lack of clarity over 
the manner of Brexit is a 
concern for our supply 
chain, increasing the risk 
of materials shortages 
and adding to cost 
pressures

Brexit is also expected to 
exacerbate the current 
skills shortage in the 
construction industry 
due to reduced mobility 
of migrant labour, 
although the majority of 
staff employed directly 
by the Group are UK 
citizens

• Active engagement with our 
supply chain on the impact of 
Brexit, including any forecast 
pricing issues

• Long term frameworks that 
include increases in inflation

• Contingency planning to allow 
increased stock holding levels and 
access to materials

• Robust tendering system to 
ensure costs are correctly 
captured

• Brexit risk assessment embedded 
for new projects, in relation to 
time delay and costs implications

STABLE

• Brexit has caused 
uncertainty around the 
UK economy in general, 
which is where the 
majority of the Group’s 
revenue derives from

• Any weakening of the 
pound is likely to cause 
price pressures from our 
supply chain 

• Continued uncertainty 
around the manner of 
Brexit increases risk of 
material shortages and 
cost pressures

EMERGING

8
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Our Purpose: 
A positive impact on  
everything we touch

Our Positive Impact Plan brings our purpose to life by 
enabling our colleagues to understand how they can 
bring a positive impact through their everyday actions. 
Our focus continues to be on delivering a positive impact 
in everything we do, creating a virtuous link between 
our purpose, vision, values and the growth and success 
of our people and the communities we work in.

Our Priorities Our Ambition Our Alignment

• Our everyday actions will ensure we have safe,  
healthy and engaged colleagues reflecting the diversity of 
society

0 

• Growing our business while reducing our environmental 
impact

 

• Investing in the communities in which we work and live to 
create a lasting legacy

• Encouraging thinking differently to find innovative solutions 
to solve industry challenges

• Striving to do business in the right and ethical way, and 
engaging with our stakeholders

Delivering our Positive Impact Plan
We took some time to think about nmcn’s role today and in the future, thinking about the type of business we want to be and how we engage 
with our stakeholders. In March 2019, we launched our new sustainability strategy, our Positive Impact Plan 2025. Our seven-year Positive 
Impact Plan that aligns with the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and ESG standards, sets a clear direction for us on a 
series of topics which are material to us and where we believe we can have the most significant positive impact. 

The nmcn Positive Impact Plan is a visionary, long-term stakeholder facing strategy taking us to 2025 and is a key foundation for achieving our 
vision of being the best performing company in our chosen markets.
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Our priorities
The Positive Impact Plan consists of five key priorities: Our People, 
Our Impact, Our Communities, Thinking Differently and Better 
Business. We have set an ambition for each priority, together with a 
range of individual and measurable targets through to 2025, which 
are underpinned by robust delivery plans.

To date, here are some of our key achievements within each priority: 

Our People
Our behavioural safety programme “Collaborative Safety” has been 
rolled out across the business and we have also invested heavily in our 
approach to mental health and wellbeing. This included Group-wide 
mental health risk assessments, through a pilot programme and focus 
groups.

To support our colleagues in giving back to the community we 
launched the employee volunteering policy in March, giving all of our 
colleagues three days per year for volunteering. This volunteering 
policy is underpinned by a logging and reporting portal. To date we’ve 
had 96 of our colleagues apply for various activities and causes.

We held our first Positive Impact Week, which featured Group-wide, 
structured volunteering opportunities for our colleagues, customers 
and suppliers. During this week we came together to support local 
projects in the communities where we live and work, and in that 
week alone, we had 24 colleagues joining in, volunteering over 160 
hours and impacting over 512 people with our activities.

To continue to have engaged colleagues, we utilise our iConnect 
communication tool and have included a string of our priorities in 
every article or initiative, making the engagement with our colleagues 
effective and unified, resulting in Positive Impact becoming a widely 
relatable and recognised brand.

We relaunched our People Awards in April; a Group-wide initiative to 
award our colleagues for extraordinary contribution to our Positive 
Impact Plan priorities.

Our Impact
We launched our low carbon strategy and consolidated our energy 
suppliers to just two providers, giving greater transparency to our 
data and energy consumption, as well as enabling the business to 
switch to green electricity.

We have engaged with our supply chain to reduce packaging and 
waste. We have also developed and launched an ultra low emission 
site accommodation unit. 

Our Communities
Our Flagship Schools Programme has transformed the school 
curriculum with tailored construction activities and student 
feedback has been fantastic. 

We have announced our first corporate charity partnership with 
mental health charity, Mind. We are engaging our colleagues in 
tackling this industry challenge.

Our prisons programme has successfully trained 31 people over two 
cohorts in our nmcn Construction Academy Programme.

All of our colleagues have three days per year for volunteering, which 
has been extremely well received and many causes have benefited.

Thinking Differently
We published our first White Paper, which proposes that by 
combining off-site build and digital transformation, the entire 
construction sector could be reshaped for the future. This generated 
great interest across our supply chain and media.

We have improved our understanding of innovation across the 
organisation and ensured that ideas are properly captured and 
developed. 

We also introduced the PX-80 laser scanner to the UK market with a 
view that sharing this innovation with our competitors and peers is 
the only way to move the industry forward.

Better Business
We continue to find new ways of improving our supplier relationships 
having already achieved our Payment Practices Reporting target of 
45 days.

Leadership and Measurement 
The phased roll-out of the plan in 2019 provided opportunities for 
effective engagement with our colleagues and wider stakeholders 
as well as alignment to key national or industry events. The plan 
has been continuously supported by our senior leaders – the PLC 
Board, Executive Administration Board and by our Positive Impact 
Steering Group. 

Our Steering Group is chaired by our CEO, John Homer, and this 
group continually reviews progress and performance of the plan. The 
Positive Impact Steering Group provides strategic leadership and 
direction for the nmcn Positive Impact Plan 2025 to ensure effective 
implementation. It also ensures the adequacy of resources and 
considers any external signals of change in respect of sustainability.

Award Winning Plan
Our Positive Impact Plan 2025 was recognised externally by Leeds 
Sustainability Institute. We have achieved the Research, Innovation, 
Sustainability and Enterprise (RISE) Award for “Outstanding 
Contribution to Social Value”.

nmcn Positive Impact Agenda
The business has embraced the Positive Impact Plan in its first year 
and demonstrated it is prepared for the purpose-led journey aligned 
to wider societal issues. Our engagement, reporting and tangible 
results evidence that we have prioritised the correct issues; those 
important to nmcn, our people and our stakeholders. This not only 
provides a foundation for the future but allows us to demonstrate 
our position as a modern sustainable business and share our success, 
both internally and externally. We continue to be committed to 
building a sustainable business for the long term, based on our 
heritage and values. It has been an exciting year of laying the building 
blocks of our plan that underpins a fundamental part of our long 
term ambition to be the best performing company in our chosen 
markets.
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Stakeholder Value created How we engage Interests of the stakeholder Link to Positive Impact Plan

Customers • Quality project delivery that is delivered to expectation

• Known outcomes as the project progresses 

• Shared best practice to ensure continuous improvement

• Compliant and safe delivery of projects

• Structured meeting schedule for the lifecycle of 
the project

• Expectation forms and satisfaction 
questionnaires

• Procedures around non-conformances and 
audits

• Delivery of a quality service on time and to budget

• Excellent communication and a collaborative approach

• Our service provided in line with all relevant specifications and legislation

Colleagues • Purpose-led targets and measures

• Defined development plans with SMART goals

• Volunteering framework providing opportunity for 
choice

• Good working environment that enables collaboration 

• Employee share plan providing opportunity to invest in 
the future of the business

• Increased employee engagement

• Benchmarked benefits packages

• People Forum which provides a voice to all levels of the 
organisation

• Regular events including corporate inductions, 
leadership briefings, People Forum and Diversity 
Network

• The Positive Impact Plan 2025

• Regular and structured performance reviews

• Communication through iConnect (intranet) 
and Connect (internal magazine)

• Feeling valued by and engaged in the business

• Opportunity to succeed and progress in personal career

• Desire to have a positive impact

• Good working environment 

Suppliers • Reduced average payment days

• Shared best practice

• Repeat work offered and secured by supply chain 
partners

• Challenging our suppliers to reduce their impact and 
therefore increase their business sustainability

• Effective supply chain events

• 360 degree review meetings with supply chain 
partners

• Regular tender reviews and negotiations

• Collaborative planning sessions

• Two-way social media communication

• Prompt and fair payment practices maintained

• Collaborative working and excellent communication

• Two-way sharing of best practice 

• Appropriate opportunity for delivery

Investors • Strong share price performance

• Year-on-year results improvement

• No prosecutions or negative press

• Sustainable business model for the future

• Direct engagement and communication

• Data provided through market analysts

• Investors section of nmcn website and London 
Stock Exchange site

• Presentation of interim and annual results

• Sharing of announcements via RNS and website

• Return on investment

• Performance improvement

• Compliant and ethical business operations

Communities • Volunteering work completed

• Respectful site teams minimising impact

• School engagement to inspire the next generation

• Structured stakeholder management plans

• Project newsletters and websites

• Open days and consultation events

• Social media communication

• Engagement meetings

• Effective and timely communications

• Clean and tidy sites

• Secure and safe sites

Stakeholder engagement 
Our Positive Impact Plan was created to underpin our business 
purpose to have a positive impact on everything we touch. It is this 
plan which ensures that we engage with and deliver value for our 
stakeholders. The plan was developed by our business and authorised 
by the Board. 

Section 172 Statement
See page 72 for our confirmation statement under section 172 of the 
Companies Act 2006.

As part of the stakeholder engagement strategy the interests of each 
stakeholder group are identified to ensure value is created through 
the Positive Impact Plan. The engagement method differs between 
stakeholder groups but is continually assessed to maximise value. 

The interests of the different stakeholders are broad and it is 
essential there is both a top down and bottom up approach 
to ensure value is created. The successful implementation of 
the Positive Impact Plan has given the Board confidence that 
the business has a good understanding of the interests of the 
stakeholders and that there is a focus on effective engagement.
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Stakeholder Value created How we engage Interests of the stakeholder Link to Positive Impact Plan

Customers • Quality project delivery that is delivered to expectation

• Known outcomes as the project progresses 

• Shared best practice to ensure continuous improvement

• Compliant and safe delivery of projects

• Structured meeting schedule for the lifecycle of 
the project

• Expectation forms and satisfaction 
questionnaires

• Procedures around non-conformances and 
audits

• Delivery of a quality service on time and to budget

• Excellent communication and a collaborative approach

• Our service provided in line with all relevant specifications and legislation

Colleagues • Purpose-led targets and measures

• Defined development plans with SMART goals

• Volunteering framework providing opportunity for 
choice

• Good working environment that enables collaboration 

• Employee share plan providing opportunity to invest in 
the future of the business

• Increased employee engagement

• Benchmarked benefits packages

• People Forum which provides a voice to all levels of the 
organisation

• Regular events including corporate inductions, 
leadership briefings, People Forum and Diversity 
Network

• The Positive Impact Plan 2025

• Regular and structured performance reviews

• Communication through iConnect (intranet) 
and Connect (internal magazine)

• Feeling valued by and engaged in the business

• Opportunity to succeed and progress in personal career

• Desire to have a positive impact

• Good working environment 

Suppliers • Reduced average payment days

• Shared best practice

• Repeat work offered and secured by supply chain 
partners

• Challenging our suppliers to reduce their impact and 
therefore increase their business sustainability

• Effective supply chain events

• 360 degree review meetings with supply chain 
partners

• Regular tender reviews and negotiations

• Collaborative planning sessions

• Two-way social media communication

• Prompt and fair payment practices maintained

• Collaborative working and excellent communication

• Two-way sharing of best practice 

• Appropriate opportunity for delivery

Investors • Strong share price performance

• Year-on-year results improvement

• No prosecutions or negative press

• Sustainable business model for the future

• Direct engagement and communication

• Data provided through market analysts

• Investors section of nmcn website and London 
Stock Exchange site

• Presentation of interim and annual results

• Sharing of announcements via RNS and website

• Return on investment

• Performance improvement

• Compliant and ethical business operations

Communities • Volunteering work completed

• Respectful site teams minimising impact

• School engagement to inspire the next generation

• Structured stakeholder management plans

• Project newsletters and websites

• Open days and consultation events

• Social media communication

• Engagement meetings

• Effective and timely communications

• Clean and tidy sites

• Secure and safe sites

Colleague pledging to our Positive Impact Plan
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Group of apprentices from our Water segment

Our People 
Our people will always be at the core of our success and our strategy 
remains clear: attract, recruit, engage and develop our people. We 
want to be a company that people choose to work for, providing 
a supportive culture where inclusivity, opinions, diversity and 
opportunity are encouraged.

Listening to our People
We recognise the importance of listening to, engaging and 
empowering our people and we provide various opportunities to 
facilitate this. 2019 saw the formation of consultative People Forums 
at both a local and national level. We have continued to develop our 
leadership briefings, which provide an opportunity for our Executive 
team to share the plans, priorities and current performance of the 
business. We have extended the capability of our new intranet 
platform, which enables greater accessibility to information and best 
practice across the business. 

Resourcing for our Growth
Our in-house recruitment team is focused on attracting the best 
talent into our business. In 2019, a total of 175 new colleagues joined 
nmcn plc, of which 75% were recruited through our in-house team. 
This approach enables us to directly source a diverse pipeline of 
talent and more importantly, maintain a consistent level of quality. 
An external benchmarking exercise of our remuneration benefits 
during the year ensured we were in line with the market to attract 
the best talent. 2019 saw the first nmcn Group-wide graduate 
intake with 17 new people joining us. We also benefited from the 
TUPE transfer of a great team from a competitor to help serve our 
South West Water customer. Finally, we received record numbers of 
candidates for our apprentice recruitment programme.

Developing our People
We have seen even greater focus in this area for 2019. We have 
appointed a new learning and development lead who is adding value 
to every aspect of our offering to employees. We have launched 
our learning management system, which will ensure we can deliver 

learning to our employees wherever they work. 2019 also saw us 
launch our Graduate Development Programme. We focused on 
succession planning and building development pathways to help our 
people move up the hierarchy of our business. We also retained our 
Gold Investors in People Award and we have now been a recognised 
Investor in People since 2003. 

Engaged People 
The pride, passion and commitment that our colleagues contribute 
to nmcn is essential for our success. Our established purpose 
and values form the foundation of our culture. We continue to 
embed ways to enhance our colleagues’ experience, from seeking 
feedback, involvement in the development of our single identity 
and promoting leadership engagement across the business to 
investing in our communications systems. In the coming year we 
will continue to develop our People Forums’ drive for engagement 
with our regions, using storytelling for communications and helping 
our line management develop their coaching and mentoring skills. 
Our Investors in People survey provided insight into further areas 
to focus on in 2020, including enhancing our family friendly policies. 
Participation in the Employee Share Plan increased, which helps align 
colleagues with the performance of the business. 

2020 Priorities
• Attract high-quality people that reflect the diversity of the 

communities within which we operate

• Retain and develop our best people through high-quality learning 
and development activities 

• Nurture a culture that values learning, personal responsibility, 
engagement and empowerment

• Ensure our people have the necessary skills to drive competitive 
advantage over the medium to long term

• Support the business in added value areas like managing change, 
culture and organisational development

• Provide a platform for future growth and development

• Embed equality, diversity and inclusion within our business
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Our Positive Impact in action
Method of employee engagement
In 2019 we launched our People Forum, which provides 
a two-way communication process that involves and 
engages colleagues, enabling them to contribute to the 
success of the business. 

We wanted to further develop our formal consultation 
process by amplifying the way we listen to our people. 
Our People Forum meets three times a year and utilises 
colleague feedback to propose and help deliver a series 
of action plans to address key areas of discussion. The 26 
representatives are from all locations and disciplines within 
the business, which ensures that the views of all colleagues 
are considered and are taken into account. 

The forum provides a greater opportunity to all of our 
people to voice their ideas and concerns. This platform 
plays an integral role in improving communication from 
both the top-down and bottom-up, and will support 
management teams with problem-solving, implementing 
new ideas and new ways of working.

This elected platform will galvanise discussions around 
business-related issues. It’s an opportunity to consult 
colleagues on critical business changes before a formal 
roll-out to the wider business. The People Forum will have a 
real and valuable impact across the business, involving and 
engaging colleagues by listening and reacting to the issues 
that directly affect them at nmcn.

The forum covers all aspects of our business operations 
including health, safety and wellbeing, line management, 
personal growth, giving back and remuneration.

We have appointed a designated Non-Executive Director, 
Margaret Amos, to support our colleague engagement 
agenda which includes our People Forum. This is initiated 
through our understanding that there needs to be a 
means for the workforce to raise concerns in confidence/
anonymously, which the Board will routinely review and 
report on. 

Additionally, we’ll make sure that arrangements are in place 
for the balanced and independent investigation of any 
specific matters and for follow-up action. 

We continue to work with Nottingham Business School 
on the development of the forum; they will be providing 
critical evaluation and enhancement suggestions as the 
forum develops further.

2019 and target performance metrics

Workforce enrolled in nmcn Academy as 
apprentice or graduate*

5.4%
2025 target: 15%
* Includes apprenticeship levy and graduate programme

Volunteering (hours) by all employees

1,391 
2025 target: 10,000

% of our workforce volunteering

5%
2025 target: 25% 

nmcn is great place to work

60%*
2025 target: 95%
* Employees agree/strongly agree with IIP survey statement

% workforce EDI awareness trained 

27.53%
2025 target: 95%

% of BAME employees

5.02%
2025 target: 30%

Number of days training for behaviour safety

54
2025 target: 100%*
* Completed by all job roles that require it.

Lost time injury (LTI)

0.41
2025 target: 0*
* We are striving for zero accidents on all our sites.

Accident frequency rate (AFR)

0.09
2025 target: 0*
* We are striving for zero accidents on all our sites.

STRATEGIC REPORT
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Promoting Safety, Health, Mental Health 
and Happiness
Safety is a mindset. Our focus on safety is a key element of how 
we operate. Our drive to ensure everyone champions the right 
behaviours across the business and our supply chain to keep people 
safe and healthy is relentless. 

In 2019, we have seen positive downward trends across all our 
accident metrics, specifically RIDDOR reportable accidents, Lost 
Time Incidents (LTIs), and All Accident Frequency rates. Additionally, 
we have seen an increase in reporting of near misses and positive 
interventions. However, we are not complacent and continue to 
focus on root cause analysis, learning from these incidents and the 
data we can collect in order to identify areas for improvement. As a 
result of continuing our approach of focusing on creating a strong, 
positive safety culture through strong leadership, our business 
leaders have completed and passed the NEBOSH/HSE Health and 
Safety Leadership Excellence course. 

Consistent Approach
Our performance continues to improve as a result of a consistent 
and sustained approach to safety in the area of service strikes. Our 
damage rate trend decreased during 2019 and we saw a significant 
reduction in high potential incidents. We continue to encourage 
everyone working on our sites to set high standards around safety, 
provide safe systems of working and most importantly, look out for 
each other.

Our performance continues to be recognised by RoSPA, where 
we received six awards across the business, comprising of three 
President’s awards (having gained more than 10 consecutive gold 
awards) and three gold medals, in this prestigious annual scheme.

Additionally in 2019, we successfully migrated to the new ISO 45001 
standard for Occupational Health and Safety, which has an increased 
emphasis on engagement and consultation.

Connected Minds
Creating the right environment and behaviours is critical if we 
are to achieve our goal of zero harm. The appointment of a 
psychologist specialising in safety climate and culture has resulted 
in the development and launch of our next generation approach to 
behavioural safety “Connected Minds”, which forms part of a wider 
strategy on health, safety and wellbeing. In terms of influencing the 
safety culture of our business, we are addressing a range of factors 
known to have a positive impact on safety performance. This includes 
taking a whole person approach to health, safety, wellbeing and 
happiness. This is because we recognise the impact that psychological 
health can have on physical health and safety and vice versa. For 
example, people who are experiencing psychological distress are more 
likely to make mistakes and therefore have accidents. Accordingly, 
mental health has become a major area of focus.

Poor mental health has become a key area of focus within the 
construction industry, typically tackled in the form of awareness 
raising and providing support for people with poor mental health. 
We undertake similar activities, for example, we have ongoing 
campaigns, provide counselling, and have an Employee Assistance 
Programme (EAP). However, these approaches address poor mental 
health once it is occurring rather than preventing it in the first place. 

We have carried out a mental health risk assessment, and in line 
with the hierarchy of control, our aim is to identify psychological 
hazards and eliminate them at source. We have extended the HSE 
Management Standards to include additional measures, giving us a 
fuller understanding of our people. This has been a major research 
project, led by our in-house Chartered Psychologist, Dr Ruth Hartley. 
We are now able to target our resources to reduce psychological 
hazards.

As a business a positive site culture is imperative. In line with this, 
we continue to focus on our “Collaborative Safety” approach to 
behavioural safety. We have rolled out training across nmcn to 
develop the skills needed at site level to encourage collaboration. 
This develops core and advanced communication skills, which our 
connected minds (site managers and supervisors) can use to engage 
our site people in maintaining a strong, positive site safety culture. 

Workforce Perceptions of Health  
and Safety
Our ongoing health and safety strategy, procedures and reporting 
processes have been improved during the period following on from 
the findings of the Health and Safety Laboratory (HSL) Safety 
Climate Survey that we undertook in 2018. The survey provided a 
unique insight into our safety culture and opportunities for improving 
it. The tool covers eight factors from organisational commitment, 
health and safety, trust and behaviours, through to resources and 
usability of procedures. Over 75% of colleagues completed the 
survey providing an excellent response rate. Results from the survey 
all exceeded the HSL benchmark score and demonstrated that 
our culture around safety is continuously improving. This survey is 
biennial and will be conducted again in 2020.

2020 Priorities
• Deliver our zero harm approach and strive for zero Lost Time 

Incidents

• Second bullet point to: Implement the health and wellbeing 
framework, particularly in light of COVID-19

• Reduce All Accident Frequency rate

• Continued development of our engagement and consultation 
processes
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Craft competition to launch Our Impact

Last year we launched our Positive Impact 
Plan as we define a new ambition for nmcn’s 
approach to all aspects of sustainability. This is a 
strategic and structured vision, which is aligned 
with our purpose and global challenges.

Michaela Skodova
Group Environmental Manager 

Delivering Our Impact
The “Our Impact” priority relates to reducing our impact on the 
environment. We have a number of objectives and targets that 
cover: purchasing renewable energy; achieving an ultra-low emission 
construction site; and implementing sustainable procurement. In 
2019, we have worked to improve knowledge and understanding 
of waste across the business, for example, through the use of 
CL:AIRE Materials Management Plans we have prevented a total of 
approximately 67,000m3 of materials being sent to landfill by reusing. 

Our ongoing compliance with ISO 14001:2015 will support our 
goals and ensure we are continually improving our environmental 
performance.

Our approach to a low carbon business
We have successfully achieved Gold Standard CEMARS (Carbon 
and Energy Management and Reduction Scheme) certification for 
the eighth year running. Scope 1 emissions continue to have the 
largest impact on our footprint. As such, our focus has centred 
around reducing fuel consumption, improving materiality and design 
processes. We have introduced hybrid and electric options to our 
company car fleet, installed EV charging points at our head office, 
introduced an electric pool car and launched an industry first, ultra-
low emission accommodation unit. 

As part of our next steps to transition to a low carbon business, we 
plan to produce a business-wide low carbon strategy with a focus 
on tangible actions, from design through to building products and 
the transport we use. This will also include re-baselining our data to 
ensure we are as accurate as possible.
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Beach clearance volunteering activity 

In 2019 we achieved full compliance to ESOS Phase 2, assessing 
our hotspots across office management, fleet breakdown and site 
activities. To better manage our energy, gas and electricity for all 
regional offices is now procured through a third party intermediary 
(TPI). This involved consolidating our energy suppliers to just two, 
giving greater transparency to our data and energy consumption as 
well as enabling the business to switch to green electricity.

Increasing awareness amongst our 
colleagues
The environmental team expanded in 2019 with the addition of a 
second specialist Environmental Advisor, providing wider support 
and engagement to the business. Bespoke environmental audits, 
inspections guidance and training have been developed to upskill 
our colleagues and increase environmental awareness. Face-to-face 
and online training were the key themes of 2019 through introducing 
new e-learning modules and improving on key environmental 
communications. 

We continued to monitor our Legal Register, providing frequent and 
ongoing updates to our colleagues. We also carried out an extensive 
review of our operating procedures, to ensure they included 
current guidance, best practice and introduced new material 
where we believed there was a gap. This, together with a focus on 
environmental performance, resulted in no significant or major 
environmental incidents recorded during the year.

Enhancing the biodiversity of our work
The built environment has the potential to significantly increase 
the ecological value of a site through proper planning, design and 
construction. Our work with the Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust for 
16 years, and our inclusion of biodiversity benchmarking into ‘Our 
Impact’ targets, demonstrates our commitment to this agenda. In 
2019, we established our commitment to continuing our work to 
enhance biodiversity in the areas where we work and also engaged 
with key stakeholders to comply with new requirements.

2020 Priorities
• ‘Our Impact’ plan delivery with the focus on our low carbon 

strategy and low carbon action plan

• No major or significant environmental incidents

• 5% reduction in carbon emission intensity

• Increase environmental awareness and site engagement

• Projects with zero waste to landfill utilising CL:AIRE Materials 
Management Plans

2019 and target performance metrics

Renewable energy purchased 

13%
2025 target: 90%

Total fuel procured litres/£m turnover 

13,857
2025 target: 3% reduction of  
litres/£m turnover 

Carbon emission intensity (tCO2e/£m) 

41.75^

2025 target: 34% reduction of carbon 
emission intensity

 ̂ To be verified during external audit by CEMARS.
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Greenhouse gas emissions inventory summary – nmcn plc
Table 1: GHG emissions data summary

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Scope 1 8,275* 8,835* 10,281* 9,813* 8,783^
Scope 2 628* 654* 503* 315* 329^
Scope 3 mandatory 2,733* 2,707* 2,595* 3,148* 4,482^
Total gross emissions 11,636* 12,196* 13,379* 13,276* 13,594^
Certified green electricity – – – – –
Purchased emission reductions – – – – –
Net GHG emissions (all scopes) 11,636* 12,196* 13,379* 13,276* 13,594^
Total gross GHG emissions per turnover/revenue 
(£millions) 56.55* 51.65* 56.43* 48.88* 41.75^

* Amended figures – after audit and verification of net GHG emissions by CEMARS

 ̂ Figures awaiting verification audit by CEMARS

1. Company information
nmcn is a public limited company, incorporated in the UK. Registered 
address is Nunn Close, The County Estate, Huthwaite, Sutton-In-
Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 2HW.

2. Reporting period
GHG emissions data for the period 1st January 2019 – 31st December 
2019.

3. Change in emissions
Our total annual net emissions have increased in 2019, due to an 
increase in business.

4. Approach
We have followed DEFRA’s Environmental Reporting Guidelines. 
We have used the CEMARS (Certified Emissions Measurement and 
Reduction Scheme), reporting portal to collate data for the period. 
Data is gathered to fulfil our requirements under CEMARS; this 
system utilises the DEFRA/DECC latest conversion factors. 

5. Methodology
We have reported on all of the emissions sources required under 
the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors’ Reports) 
Regulations 2013. 

6. Organisational boundary
The operational control consolidation approach has been used 
to account for operational emissions with reference to the 
methodology described in the GHG Protocol and ISO 14064-1:2006 
standards.

Reported GHG emissions are for the operational activities of nmcn 
plc, excluding those of its subsidiaries; nmcn Sustainable Solutions 
Ltd and Lintott Control Systems Limited.

7. Operational scopes
We have measured our scope 1, 2 and significant scope 3 emissions.

8. Geographical breakdown
Emissions included are from the geographical areas in which we 
operate (UK). 

9. Targets 
Our emissions target is to reduce our GHG emissions, scopes 1, 2 and 
3 by 5%. 

10. Intensity measurement
We have chosen total gross GHG emissions per unit turnover of 
revenue (tCO2/£million) as this is a common business metric for our 
industry sector. 

11. External assurance statement
Achilles carbon reduction programme CEMARS will be auditing the 
data for the 2019 reporting period in due course, in accordance with 
ISO 14064-1:2006, and verification will be conducted in accordance 
with ISO 14064-3:2006 and the requirements of the CEMARS 
programme.

12. Carbon offsets
We have not purchased any carbon credits which reduce our GHG 
emissions.

13. Green tariffs
We have not purchased a green tariff which reduces our GHG 
emissions. 
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Greenhouse gas emissions inventory summary – nmcn Sustainable Solutions Ltd
Table 2: GHG emissions data summary

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Scope 1 770* 749* 931* 984* 733^
Scope 2 97* 148* 99* 74* 89^
Scope 3 mandatory 641* 641* 696* 986* 1,242^
Total gross emissions 1,508* 1,538* 1,726* 2,044* 2,064^
Certified green electricity – – – – –
Purchased emission reductions – – – – –
Net GHG emissions (all scopes) 1,508* 1,538* 1,726* 2,044* 2,064^
Total gross GHG emissions per turnover/revenue 
(£millions) 43.01* 39.33* 31.56* 29.64* 26.86^

* Amended figures – after audit and verification of net GHG emissions by CEMARS
 ̂ Figures awaiting verification audit by CEMARS

1. Company information
nmcn Sustainable Solutions Ltd is a subsidiary of nmcn plc, 
incorporated in the UK. Registered address is Nunn Close, The 
County Estate, Huthwaite, Sutton-In-Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, 
NG17 2HW.

2. Reporting period
GHG emissions data for the period 1st January 2019 – 31st December 
2019.

3. Change in emissions
Our total annual net emissions have increased in 2019, due to an 
increase in business.

4. Approach
We have followed DEFRA’s Environmental Reporting Guidelines. 
We have used the CEMARS (Certified Emissions Measurement and 
Reduction Scheme) reporting portal to collate data for the period. 
Data is gathered to fulfil our requirements under CEMARS; this 
system utilises the DEFRA/DECC latest conversion factors. 

5. Methodology
We have reported on all of the emissions sources required under 
the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors’ Reports) 
Regulations 2013. 

6. Organisational boundary
The operational control consolidation approach has been used 
to account for operational emissions with reference to the 
methodology described in the GHG Protocol and ISO 14064-1:2006 
standards.

Reported GHG emissions are for the operational activities of nmcn 
Sustainable Solutions Ltd, but excluding nmcn plc and Lintott 
Control Systems Limited.

7. Operational scopes
We have measured our scope 1, 2 and significant scope 3 emissions.

8. Geographical breakdown
Emissions included are from the geographical areas in which we 
operate (UK). 

9. Targets 
Our emissions target is to reduce our GHG emissions, scopes 1, 2 and 
3, by 5%. 

10. Intensity measurement
We have chosen total gross GHG emissions per unit turnover of 
revenue (tCO₂/£million) as this is a common business metric for our 
industry sector. 

11. External assurance statement
Achilles carbon reduction programme CEMARS will be auditing the 
data for the 2019 reporting period in due course, in accordance with 
ISO 14064-1:2006, and verification will be conducted in accordance 
with ISO 14064-3: 2006 and the requirements of the CEMARS 
programme.

12. Carbon offsets
We have not purchased any carbon credits which reduce our GHG 
emissions.

13. Green tariffs
We have not purchased a green tariff which reduces our GHG 
emissions.
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Creating a long lasting legacy 
Under this plan we’re setting out to create a lasting legacy in the 
communities we work with, our customers and our people.

We have formalised our volunteering policy, allowing everyone across 
the business, at any level, the opportunity to take three days off 
each year to volunteer, this can be increased to five days in special 
circumstances or for community projects abroad.

We recognise that most volunteering projects don’t fit neatly into 
one working day. To truly make a difference in our communities, we 
need to be flexible to allow people to choose how they use their time 
and when.

We’re also not limiting volunteering to existing formal schemes; 
while days spent planting trees and picking litter have their place, 
so does volunteering with the local scout group, giving a careers 
talk to a nearby high school or even spending time chaperoning our 
own children on school trips. Our communities are diverse and so, 
therefore, should be our volunteering.

Community Schools Programme
As a business we’ve always enjoyed a fantastic relationship with 
schools based in the areas where we work, with extremely positive 
feedback from children, teachers and parents.

This has mainly been through an ad hoc approach, leading dedicated 
projects to improve our relationship with the community, or in 
collaboration with our customers' own community programmes.

As nmcn grows, we recognise that there is a need for a more 
structured approach to working with schools to maximise the 
benefits of such fantastic initiatives.

The Chartered Institute of Building reports that the construction 
industry will require 157,000 new recruits by 2021 to keep up with 
demand. By pledging to educate school children about the industry, 
we can play our part in ensuring we continue to attract skilled 
workers to our industry.

This is why we’ve set ourselves some big targets as part of our 
Positive Impact Plan 2025 under the community schools programme, 
committing to engage with at least 5,000 children by 2025.

Our community schools programme continues to work hard to 
create connections with children and their families in the areas in 
which we work, on both a short and medium term basis. These 
schools may be close to one of our offices across the UK or, more 
commonly, in the areas in which our on-site teams are working.

As part of this commitment we have created and will continue to 
develop a wide range of activities, games and workshops for our 
colleagues to use when they visit schools, along with nmcn Schools 
Kits, which will give children in our communities the chance to try out 
their own PPE.

We continue to engage with schools close to our live projects to help 
young people understand the importance of the work we do. 

In 2019 we’ve delivered to more than 40 schools, spent over 397 
hours delivering and impacted over 1,811 young people. We also 
continue our contribution to Science, Technology, Engineering and 
Maths (STEM), which is a great way for our colleagues to gain new 
skills and qualifications whilst “giving back” to the next generation 
of engineering, science and technology driven professionals. Our 
commitment shows as we have set the goal of becoming a STEM 
Hub in response to a number of our colleagues both attending STEM 
training and delivering STEM sessions in our communities. 

Our first flagship school has been established, and we supported their 
curriculum with tailored construction activities. We have focused on 
children between the ages of 7-12 who are beginning to think about 
jobs and careers. The results of our engagement suggests that over 
86% of young people now see construction as a valid career choice. 

We will inspire young people around the world of work and 
encourage them to consider the construction industry. 

Volunteering with a local school on building a water wall 
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Classroom session with our Flagship school

Our Positive Impact in action
Flagship school partnership seeks 
to inspire the next generation
The new partnership for the 2019/2020 school year sees 
specialist professionals from across nmcn work with 7-11 
year olds from St Mary Magdalene Church of England 
Primary School on projects involving Science, Technology, 
Engineering and Maths (STEM). STEM is a key area in 
which the school must develop their children and nmcn 
will bring a different dimension to the curriculum.

The partnership sees us bring specialist knowledge and 
expertise to the school’s curriculum. The lessons and 
projects have been designed alongside the novel study 
approach taken in the school, where each will link with the 
books that children are studying. nmcn will also provide 
support to the younger children at the school through 
the provision of much-needed resources for “engineering 
areas” in foundation and key stage one classes.

For us, the partnership is a key component within our 
“Our Communities” priority. We have set our goal to 
inspire young people around the world of work and 
encourage them into the construction industry. We have 
committed to providing meaningful interventions to 
young people under the age of 12.

Sam Robinson, Headteacher at St Mary Magdalene CofE 
Primary School commented: “We’re excited to begin this 
partnership as it will add real-life contexts and impetus for 
our STEM curriculum. One of our key responsibilities as a 
school is to provide children with the skills and ambition to 
be successful in their adult life; this partnership will help us 
to fulfil that role.”

Charlotte Crake, Customer Liaison Manager for nmcn 
added “Our partnership with St Mary Magdalene CofE 
Primary School provides a hugely engaging programme, 
which will support both the national curriculum and 
Ofsted standards. Our links to the novels being studied by 
the children will hopefully inspire them to consider a STEM 
related career in the future.”

2019 and target performance metrics

People trained through our next steps  
prison programme 

31
2025 target: 500

Number of young people engaged through  
our community schools programme

1,763
2025 target: 5,000

Number of meaningful engagements and impacts 
through our flagship school programme

140
2025 target: 2,000

Funds raised for charity partners*

2025 target: £250,000
* New metric introduced
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Giving Back 
We recognise the importance of directly giving back to communities 
as a business, and by supporting our people in their own charity 
work. It has a significant impact on our communities, both locally and 
further afield, and something we feel reflects our values as a business 
and as individuals.

We’ve donated significant sums to the charitable endeavours of 
colleagues across the business over the years. In 2019, our charity 
committee, made up of representatives from across all our business 
units, supported 78 causes, donating a total of £20,000 as part of our 
colleague-led “Giving Back” scheme.

The scheme, which has been running for more than 10 years, enables 
anyone from across the business to apply for grants and donations 
towards charitable ventures.

Our Charity Partnership 
In 2019 we announced our first corporate charity partnership with 
Mind, the leading mental health charity in England and Wales.

The construction industry is highly reported as having one of the 
poorest levels of mental health in the country.

We want to be part of making a change in our industry. We believe in 
a workplace where everyone can thrive and having a positive impact 
in this area can make a difference to people and our communities.

Good mental health at work and good management go hand in hand 
and there is strong evidence that workplaces with high levels of 
mental wellbeing are safer, happier and more productive.

At nmcn, we are fully committed to protecting the physical and 
mental health of our colleagues. Addressing challenges around mental 
health is a key element of our Positive Impact Plan 2025 and aligns 
with our commitment to support our people to ensure they thrive.

We are looking forward to working with Mind to tackle the stigma 
around mental health within our industry, as we continue to raise 
awareness and improve mental health and wellbeing for our people 
and our communities now, and in the future.

Supporting those facing barriers to work
As part of working with our communities, we know that we need 
to look beyond traditional projects with schools and charity work. 
At nmcn we’re committed to our values as a family, people-focused 
business and that means helping to create opportunities for those 
from all walks of life.

We’ve been working with HMP Ranby since 2017, a category C men’s 
prison in Nottinghamshire – the county where our head office is 
based. As part of HMP Ranby’s education scheme, we’re offering 
some real-life insight into working on a construction site.

Within the 14-week programme we’re spending three days with 
inmates who are studying for the NVQ Civil Engineering Level 1. Our 
team currently delivers sessions on induction and familiarisation 
of sites, communication and culture and service detection and 
avoidance, to help prepare inmates for construction roles on their 
release.

Through this programme we have had the opportunity to take on 
ex-prisoners, giving them the first step towards a new future.

2020 Priorities
• Raise £35,000 in our first year of charity partnership with Mind

• Deliver further programme with HMP Stocken supporting at 
least five candidates 

• Engage with two more flagship schools for impactful 
engagement with 7-12 year olds

Old PPE donation to international project 
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Our Positive Impact in action 
Employees volunteering for Parkside High CIC
Volunteering plays a central role in our communities 
priority of our Positive Impact plan. We’re proud to be an 
organisation that can support its people to embark on 
volunteering work within the community or for charitable 
organisations, in order to create a lasting legacy.

Volunteers from our Water segment spent three full days 
volunteering for Parkside High CIC. They helped to complete 
Garden 61, which will become a vital tool to the charity in 
youth mentoring, along with other activities on-site, as well 
as a big part in the local community.

Parkside High CIC is a charity working across 
Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire that specialise in 
supporting children and young people aged 6-18. They 
deliver workshops in schools, children’s centres and out in 
the community. The team are committed to working with 
young people to develop confidence and resilience and to 
achieve their dreams and ambitions, regardless of personal 
circumstances.

The activity included:

• Loading in and levelling 30 tonnes of stone

• Border edgings in preparation for asphalt to be laid 

• A new fence

• A disabled ramp

• A breakout area with six telegraph poles which will have 
a roof installed for storage and shelter

• Water and ducting feeds to the breakout area

Liam Parker, Director from Parkside High CIC commented: 
“Myself, Emily and all the children and young people we work 
with at Garden 61 would like to pass a huge thank you to Paul 
and the team for their efforts.”

“Paul, together with Chris, Joe, John and Karl were 
professional and dedicated to the cause across the three 
days. The work they carried out pushed the project forward 
massively, as we are working hard to get the garden ready for 
a public opening in September. The support from nmcn has 
played a huge part in this target launch. Thanks a lot to nmcn 
and the team. Great effort!”

Colleagues with a representative from Parkside High CIC
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Finding innovative solutions to 
industry challenges 
We are keen to transform our culture by encouraging “thinking 
differently”, to find innovative solutions to solve the current and 
future challenges of the construction industry alongside our 
customers, partners, and suppliers.

At nmcn we have talented people who are continually developing 
new skills and knowledge which, when paired with outside 
experiences, enrich our workplace. 

Culture of innovation 
Our vision is to have a digitised workplace with simpler and more 
efficient processes, enabling greater productivity and creating 
opportunity for our people to think differently and innovate, leading 
to happier people who do what they do, really well.

Developing off-site solutions 
For the last 12 years, we have been designing and manufacturing 
package dosing systems, and some two years ago we introduced 
our Skilled Assembly Factory Environment (SAFE) approach to 
construction solutions. This off-site build and assembly approach 
focused on designing solutions that would optimise the use of 
factory assembly and modular construction to minimise the amount 
of time on-site and the associated health and safety risks.

SAFE is a part of our culture and all schemes are assessed as to how 
we can maximise off-site build solutions, with particular reference 
to our online electronic catalogue, which contains more than 200 
off-site build assemblies and modular systems. Our design and 

innovation teams have access to this online library, as well as our 
innovations database and all off-site build solutions are reported on 
project specific TotEx logs.

Positive Impact App 
At nmcn, one of the ways we develop new apps is to conduct a 
“design sprint”. This process requires effective collaboration and 
continued quality support to ensure that systems run smoothly and 
are fit for purpose. 

The brand new Your Positive Impact app combined the efforts of a 
number of people, where the primary focus had to be on the process, 
before exploring how we could apply the appropriate methods of 
data collection together with the ICT team.

An enhanced state of app development is something our ICT 
team aspire to achieve. By using the design sprint method in the 
development of the Your Positive Impact app, clear objectives were 
set and outcomes achieved. The app not only facilitates a greater 
process for sharing ideas across the business, but offers quality data 
insights and enhanced ways of working.

In-line with our "Thinking Differently" priority, the construction of 
this app is a fantastic example of where our colleagues have thought 
outside the box to create an effective and streamlined system. This 
renewed approach to submitting Your Positive Impact will allow 
every colleague to be heard and responded to, and the business to 
act fast on their suggestions.
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Design Sprints
We are using the concept of design sprints to think and act on 
solutions on behalf of our customers to address their social change, 
cultural and environmental challenges.

We will engage and listen to pioneers and experts who have 
successfully addressed a challenge we currently face. The 
advantage of this approach is that a group of people can focus on 
truly understanding the problem in question and create potential 
solutions. By sharing ways to create more headroom for thinking 
they can alleviate the regular workload pressure.

PX-80 Scanner
We introduced the PX-80 laser scanner to the UK market in 2019. 
By releasing this innovation to our peers, we were able to move 
the industry forward in big steps, and in doing so operate our own 
business more efficiently, safely and at the cutting edge.

2020 Priorities
• Foster a culture of innovation, encouraging our people to think 

differently by adopting new ways of developing solutions via 
design sprints and being part of nmcn’s first Innovation Festival, 
where we will bring together our colleagues, customers and 
suppliers to solve the big challenges we all face

• Digitally develop our business, continuing to enhance our BIM 
capabilities, and accelerating our digital twin plan to create 
intelligent assets built in a safe off-site environment, and in 
parallel develop our full asset lifecycle management capability

• Strengthen our ties with academia to collaborate on identifying 
and developing solutions to the future challenges within our 
chosen sectors

Our Positive Impact in action
White Paper – The New Wave of 
Construction
In October 2019 we published our first ever White Paper 
as an example of our constant drive to move forward 
and develop.

Our “Manifesto for Change” is aiming to influence the 
mindset of those yet to embrace new technologies but 
who have the power to transform the industry.

Our White Paper suggested that much of the talk around 
digital off-site build initiatives remains the same as it was 
over a decade ago, with many businesses and the industry 
still not making any significant changes. It suggests that 
by combining off-site build and digital transformation, the 
entire construction sector could be reshaped for the future.

As a business, we’re committed to thinking differently 
when it comes to the way we work. We recognise that 
there is a huge opportunity across all construction 
sectors and at all levels if we go on a digital transformation 
journey together – helping our industry to pick up its 
innovation pace.

Our White Paper was issued on our website and social media

2019 and target performance metrics

% of work delivered via off-site solutions 

2.4%
2025 target: 30%

% of projects using digital twins* 

2025 target: 50%
* New metric introduced

Trial of new technologies through our  
innovation programme*

2025 target: 10
* New metric introduced
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Our approach to better business
"Better Business" – striving to do business in the right and ethical way 
and complying with regulations and best practices, whilst proactively 
engaging with our stakeholders, underpins everything we do, and 
aligns nmcn with the UK Corporate Governance Code.

It’s fair to say that the construction industry is currently going 
through something of a reputation transformation in terms of 
the way it structures its financial arrangements. Our supply chain 
partners are a key component of our success and the partnership 
needs to work for every party involved. At nmcn, we’re working hard 
to keep our average payment terms below our target of 45 days. 

We are continually engaging with our supply chain to ensure 
payment terms remain acceptable to both parties.

We are more focused on developing strong relationships with our 
supply chain rather than simply measuring the relationship through 
statistics alone. It’s about building relationships of trust, where 
people are treated fairly, our customers get the best result and we 
get to work with suppliers who can trust us to  be paid on time, 
regardless of order volume or value.

Working as one
Throughout 2019 we have focused on consolidating our supply chain 
to ensure we build partner relationships with our key vendors. A 
further step to develop these relationships is through our 'Meet The 
Buyer' events. These allow our key partners to discuss any issues and 
upcoming works with all of our supply chain and procurement team. 
The event is run as an informal drop in to allow our partners to be 
treated as equal parties to ensure we can work and develop together 
moving forward.

Collaborative Approach
We collaborate with a wide range of partners, from SMEs and local 
companies to technical and specialist providers. We engage with our 
partners using a range of methods including the 'Meet The Buyer' 
events, annual review meetings, safety training events, collaboration 
events, and community projects. Our commitment and certification 
to ISO 44001 – Collaborative Business Relationships Management 
System ensures that our relationships are as effective as possible. 
Our operational and commercial teams have been trained in supply 
chain relationship management techniques such as collaborative 
planning and early supplier involvement to get the most from the 
partnerships. 

Supporting SMEs
More than 80% of nmcn’s supply chain is made up of SMEs and we 
ensure they align with our values, aspirations and culture especially 
in respect of safety and innovation. Our MarketPlace portal is a new 
approach to open working. It allows partners to view our rolling 
programme of work from tender award to latest progress on-site 
giving clear transparency of available opportunities. We are working 
to further develop the MarketPlace portal based on feedback from 
our supply chain partners to ensure it provides the information they 
require to promote early supplier engagement.

2020 Priorities
• Building supply chain resilience by using the learning of the 

COVID-19 experience

• Acceleration of the development and communication of supply 
chain & procurement team strategy

• Collaborative business relationships training extended to supply 
chain

• Taking a more risk focussed approach

• Implement strategic change agenda: category planning, SRM, 
cost reduction, smart working 
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Our Positive Impact in action
Working with our supply chain
Our initial venture into Category Management saw us 
target the Accommodation category of spend first as 
we had numerous suppliers across the Group servicing 
individual business units. 

In order to leverage our spend we initiated a Group wide 
tender for Accommodation Services which standardised 
our Accommodation offering across the Group - 
matching our internal offering. The result of the tender 
was that we consolidated our supply chain in this area 
from 9 partners to 3.

As well as a standardised offering, the further 
benefits we have realised include less time managing 
tail end suppliers and increased efficiencies across 
Accommodation suppliers.

Enhancing our Customer Experience
Our ability to consistently deliver to our customers’ expectations 
continues to be a focus in the way we work. The key to success in 
meeting or exceeding these expectations is through building strong 
relationships with our customers. To build trust, we build honest and 
open relationships, and our customer forms facilitate the dialogue 
that contributes to our strong customer relationships. Through 
working together and providing innovative solutions we are able to 
exceed our customer expectations and deliver Better Business.

Engaging with our Customers and  
Wider Stakeholders
We use a variety of ways to communicate and engage with our 
customers. Our customer forms were just one example of our 
engagement methods, which helped us to understand customers’ 
views on our performance, quality and safety. From insights 
gained in 2018, it was clear that communication was a key driver 
of satisfaction, and where we failed to be proactive with our 
communication, this affected the overall customer experience. 
Therefore, in 2019 we completed 234 customer satisfaction and 
expectations forms across a variety of projects capturing feedback at 
different stages of the project lifecycle. The area of communication 
still features highly, but this time around, our approach to health and 
safety has taken the lead. Through sentiment analysis, it’s the quality 
of the health and safety documents and our people’s behaviour that 
puts this area at exceeding expectations in 2019.

Utilising Net Promoter Score
Net Promoter Score (NPS) continues to feature as part of our 
customer satisfaction process. As part of our ongoing plans for 
continuous improvement in the area of customer experience, we 
are looking to develop this further in 2020 through engagement and 
training.

2019 and target performance metrics

Average time taken to pay suppliers’ invoices*

44 days 
2025 target: 45 days
* As reported for statutory purposes 

% of employees trained on Code of Conduct* 
2025 target: 100%

* New metric introduced

% of employees trained on modern slavery

1.4%
2025 target: 90%

Key Focus Areas 
In 2020 we plan to introduce a new platform for capturing complaints 
and compliments. Insights from this tool, along with the customer 
feedback forms, will allow us to focus on the areas we need to improve 
and also highlight the areas where we do well, so we can celebrate our 
successes. Another focus is the engagement of our leadership teams 
to assist with the key messages about customer experience. Our new 
plans have been shaped by each of the business units and their leaders, 
with a commitment for more training and engagement to ensure their 
customers receive exceptional customer service. We understand that 
our customers continue to face stretching targets with regards to their 
customer base satisfaction, and by working together we can offer 
innovative solutions to assist them with achieving their commitments.

2020 Priorities
• Customer experience training

• Senior leadership engagement

• Baseline score for Net Promoter Score >0 

• Continue to explore membership to the Institute of Customer 
Service

Approval of Strategic Report
The Strategic Report was approved and authorised for issue  
by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

John Homer
Chief Executive
22 April 2020
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Robert Moyle 
Executive Chairman
Strengths
• Leadership to provide growth and development of 

the Group
• Development of our people
• Attainment of Investors in People Gold standard
• Key monitoring of emerging markets for Group 

development
• Customer engagement and retention

Robert is a Chartered Engineer and a Fellow of the 
Institute of Civil Engineers. He joined the Group as a Site 
Engineer in 1973. His progression culminated in being 
appointed the Executive Divisional Director of the 
Utilities division and to the Board in 1984.

He was appointed Chief Executive in 1990 and then 
also Chairman in 1999, implementing a strategy of 
development that has taken the Group from the position 
of a regional to that of a national contractor. Robert took 
on the sole role as Executive Chairman in 2016.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed Robert’s 
position, for more details please see page 81.

John Homer
Chief Executive

Strengths
• Effective leadership for business success
• Passionate about people and culture
• Ardent drive for exceptional customer service
• Experience in change management strategies
• Successful problem solving qualities

John joined the Group in June 2016. He has enjoyed 
a successful career in the construction industry over 
the last 30 years, holding executive positions at BAM 
Construct UK and Galliford Try plc. Most recently 
he has been a managing director at Morgan Sindall 
Construction. He is a Chartered Surveyor and has 
extensive experience of solution delivery for a range of 
high profile public and private sector clients.

BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

Daniel Taylor 
Chief Financial Officer

Strengths
• UK GAAP and IFRS compliance
• Strategic financial planning
• Forecasting and detailed analysis
• Risk management, policy and process 

implementation

• Capital allocation and strategic investment appraisals

Dan joined the Group in 2013 having rapidly progressed 
his career since qualifying as a Chartered Accountant. 
Dan bears full responsibility for monitoring the Group’s 

business performance and cash flow, overseeing budgets 
and ensuring operational adherence across all regions. 
Additionally, Dan is accountable for annual reporting and 
the Group’s financial models, governance and risk. 

Dan heads up the nmcn Investments arm, which looks 
to invest the Group's cash reserves, through successful 
capital allocation. This is currently in carefully selected 
residential developments and small vertically integrated, 
off-site build supply chain acquisitions. This is highlighted 
in the year by the investment in LCS.
Dan also sits on the Executive Administration Board 
(EAB) with responsibility for procurement and supply 
chain, as well as ICT. Dan is a Fellow of The Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

Andy Langman
Chief Operating Officer – Water

Strengths
• Effective financial management and  

commercial acumen
• Client retention
• Best business practice
• Inspires innovation and innovative ideas
• Strong leadership skills in board governance

Andy joined the Group in 1998 as Managing Director of 
nmcn Sustainable Solutions Limited (formerly Nomenca 
Limited) during the formation of the subsidiary company, 
and was appointed to the Board in 2013.
During his tenure, Andy has steered nmcn Sustainable 
Solutions into year-on-year growth within the specialist 
MEICA field. He has cultivated an enviable reputation 
within the market based on repeat business through 
long term relationships in both contracting, product 
development and maintenance. 
From 1 January 2020 Andy is now Chief Operating 
Officer of the newly integrated Water business. He also 
sits on the Executive Administration Board (EAB) with 
responsibility for Quality, Environmental, Safety and 
Health (QESH).

Executive Directors
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Ian Elliott 
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director
Ian is a Chartered Engineer with an Honours Degree 
in civil engineering. He has extensive experience in 
the water industry and previously held the position 
of Managing Director of an engineering consultancy 
business and was Director of Engineering and 
Procurement with Severn Trent Water. He has served 

on the Board since March 2006 and in October 2018 
was appointed as Senior Independent Director of the 
Company.

The Nomination Committee has rigorously reviewed 
his position and independence in line with the code. For 
more details see the Nomination Committee Report on 
page 81.

David Rogers
Independent Non-Executive Director
David is a partner in the national law firm Weightmans 
LLP, working in their Manchester office in the firm’s 
construction team. He is dual qualified as a solicitor in 
England, Wales and in Scotland. Previously, he has been 
a partner in major commercial law firms in Manchester 
and Scotland. He is an experienced commercial 
litigation lawyer and has specialised in construction 

and engineering disputes for more than 30 years. He 
is a trained mediator and is accredited by the Centre 
for Effective Dispute Resolution (CEDR). David was 
appointed to the Board in 2011.

The Nomination Committee has rigorously reviewed 
his position and independence in line with the code. For 
more details see the Nomination Committee Report on 
page 81.

Mike Holt
Independent Non-Executive Director
Mike has significant listed public company board and 
financial experience. He is currently a non-executive 
director, and chair of the audit and risk committee, of 
Schroders Asian Total Return Investment Company plc, 
and Non-executive Chairman at AIM-quoted Real Good 
Food plc.

Between 2010 and 2017 he was CFO of Low & Bonar PLC, 
an international performance materials group, and prior 
to that he was CFO of Vp plc, the specialist equipment 

rental group, for over six years from 2004; both 
companies were listed on the Main Market of the London 
Stock Exchange. Prior to joining Vp, Mike held a number 
of senior financial positions within Rolls-Royce Group in 
the UK, USA and Hong Kong. 

Mike is a Fellow of The Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales and a member of The 
Association of Corporate Treasurers. Mike qualified as a 
Chartered Accountant with Arthur Andersen. Mike was 
appointed to the Board in 2018 and is the Chairman of 
the Audit Committee.

Margaret Amos
Independent Non-Executive Director
Margaret is an experienced board-level leader with 
experience in finance, transformation and programme 
management. She has over 27 years' experience with 
Rolls-Royce plc in a number of senior positions including 
Finance Director – Engineering, IT and Corporate, as 
well as Director of Business Planning. She has extensive 
non-executive director experience in both the private 
and public sectors, and is currently a director of South 
Derbyshire Clinical Commissioning Group (NHS) and 
Trinitas Services Limited (a subsidiary of Trinity House).

Margaret is a Fellow of The Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants, and a Fellow of The 
Chartered Institute of Procurement and Supply and is 
undertaking a doctorate in transformation strategy. She 
supports the whole Board’s initiative to develop good 
structures for employee engagement and establishing 
regular meaningful dialogue with employees. In this 
regard, Margaret, a member of the Remuneration 
Committee, is our designated Non-Executive Director 
with responsibility for employee engagement.

Non-Executive Directors
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE
Governance framework
The Group is governed through the Board and its Committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee. Further details of the work carried out by these Committees is described in the Reports on pages 76 to 83. 
The interaction between stakeholders within the Group’s governance framework and the key responsibilities of each is set out below.

Shareholders

O
ur

 P
eo

pl
e

O
ther Stakeholders

Internal influences External influences

Chairman

Board of Directors

Audit 
Committee

Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Chief  
Executive

Directors

3

3

1

1

Board tenure in years

0–5 years

5–10 years

10–15 years

>15 years

Male Male

Female Female

7

1

75

7

Board gender Gender balance of senior  
management and direct report
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Key responsibilities

Chairman
• Presiding over Board meetings in a manner that encourages 

openness and participation

• Guiding and directing corporate governance processes

• Working with the various Committees to align their objectives

• Engaging with our customers and promoting the Group

• Board of Directors
• Setting the overall strategy for the Group

• Monitoring the Group’s risks

• Dealing with key operational matters

• Audit Committee
• Reviewing the Group’s financial and narrative reporting

• Assessing the effectiveness of the Group’s system of  
internal controls

• Evaluating the Group’s risk management framework

• Overseeing internal commercial audits and liaising with  
the Group’s External Auditor

Nomination Committee
• Leading the process for Board appointments

• Considering succession planning at key management  
and Board level

• Evaluating the balance of skills, experience, independence  
and knowledge of the Board

• Promoting diversity at senior levels within the Group

Remuneration Committee
• Establishing and updating the Remuneration Policy for the 

Executive Directors

• Considering, discussing and approving annual bonuses and 
Performance Share Plan awards to Executive Directors

Chief Executive
• Driving shareholder value

• Implementing the Group’s strategy as determined by the Board

• Developing and managing the Group and its trading performance

• Promoting the Group’s values and culture

• Overseeing the Group’s performance in health and safety and 
sustainability matters

Directors
• Building teams that deliver the highest quality of service to the 

Group’s customers

• Managing the business units to achieve the Group’s strategic 
objectives

• Embedding the Group’s policies, procedures and controls within 
the business units

• Attracting, developing and retaining high calibre people to 
support the Group’s growth

Influences
• Return on investmentShareholders
• Sustainable return on investment and ESG considerations

• Year-on-year performance improvement

• Compliant and ethical business operations

• Feeling valued and engagedOur People
• Feeling valued and engaged 

• Opportunity to succeed and progress

• Desire to have a positive impact

• Prompt and fair payment practicesOther Stakeholders
• Prompt and fair payment practices 

• Collaborative working with customers and supply chain partners

• Regular communication of nmcn related news

All five priorities of the Positive Impact Plan set out the targets to be achieved by 2025

Board and Committee attendance during the year

Board
Audit 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Robert Moyle Chairman 8/8 – 1/1 –
John Homer Chief Executive 8/8 – 1/1 –
Daniel Taylor Chief Financial Officer 8/8 – – –
Andy Langman Chief Operating Officer – Water 8/8 – – –
Stuart Proud* Managing Director – Water 8/8 – – –
Ian Elliott Senior Independent Non-Executive Director 8/8 5/5 1/1 4/4
David Rogers Independent Non-Executive Director 7/8 4/5 1/1 3/4
Mike Holt Independent Non-Executive Director 8/8 5/5 1/1 4/4
Margaret Amos Independent Non-Executive Director 8/8 5/5 1/1 4/4

* resigned from PLC Board on 11 December 2019
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SECTION 172  
STATEMENT
Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 requires Directors to take into consideration the interests of stakeholders and other matters in their 
decision making. The Directors continue to have regard to the interests of the Company's employees and other stakeholders, the impact of 
our activities on the community, the environment and the Company’s reputation for good business conduct, when making decisions. In this 
context, acting in good faith and fairly, the Directors consider what is most likely to promote the success of the Company for its members in 
the long term. We explain in this annual report, and below, how the Board engages with stakeholders. 

• Relations with key stakeholders such as our customers, colleagues, suppliers, investors and our communities are explained in more detail 
on pages 48 and 49.

• The Directors are fully aware of their responsibilities to promote the success of the Company in accordance with section 172 of the 
Companies Act 2006 and that sufficient consideration is given to issues relating to the matters set out in s172(1)(a)–(f). The Board has 
annual training on legal matters, and the Company Secretary has briefed the Board on changes to the UK Corporate Governance Code 
which has now required these considerations to be published.

• The Board regularly reviews the Company’s principal stakeholders and how it engages with them. This is achieved through information 
provided by management and also by direct engagement with stakeholders themselves. For full information on stakeholder engagement 
see pages 48 and 49. In particular, the Board has enhanced its methods of engagement with the workforce. In that regard, the Board has 
appointed a Non-Executive Director with designated responsibility for workforce engagement; Margaret Amos was appointed in 2018 to 
take on this role. Read more about our People Forum on page 51. 

• We aim to work responsibly with our stakeholders, including our supply chain partners. The Board has recently reviewed its anti-corruption 
and anti-bribery, equal opportunities and whistleblowing policies. 

The key Board decisions made in the year are set out below:

Significant events/decisions Stakeholders affected Considerations

Our Positive Impact  
Plan launched

Employees

Customers

Supply chain partners

Shareholders

• Our Positive Impact Plan 2025 is the Company’s embedded framework to 
meet the ESG challenges we all face. Read more on pages 46 to 65.

• The Board reviewed and authorised the plan, but it is owned and 
embedded in the everyday actions of our employees.

Acquisition of  
LET and LCS

Shareholders

Employees

• Enhance our product and service offering for our full asset lifecycle 
management strategy, and digitisation.

• Employee talent management and retention programme in place.

• Transferable leadership skills were identified and available to the wider 
business segment. 

Water Segment – 
reorganisation

Employees

Customers

Shareholders

• Decisions were made after carefully considering the employee and 
customer impact of the changes proposed. 

• Employees within the Water segment were consulted to ensure the 
new structure would better serve employee engagement, retention and 
succession which ultimately would serve our customers and hence increase 
shareholder return.

• The new structure allows a better focus on key products and services work 
streams for our customers.

Succession planning & 
talent management

Supply chain partners

Employees

Customers

Shareholders

• The Board approved the appointment of the Procurement & Supply Chain 
Director, following a review of the leadership of the Group.

• Appointment made with the expectation to not only enhance our current 
relationships with supply chain partners, but also to build new relationships.

• Ultimately the growth in our supply chain will drive innovation to nmcn, as 
well as for our customers and ultimately shareholders.

• Talent management plans being progressed for all identified colleagues.
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Significant events/decisions Stakeholders affected Considerations

Contract / Framework 
selection and 
acceptance

Customers

Employees

Shareholders

Supply chain partners

• At each Board meeting, contracts and frameworks that are assessed to 
carry a certain high-risk level, based on the Group’s risks management 
procedures, are reviewed by the Board before the Group proceeds with 
opportunity.

• All stakeholder considerations are made based on the details of the 
individual contract/framework, to see if the contract/framework is suitable 
for our stakeholders and in line with our strategy.

Benefits increases Employees • The Board increased the holiday allowance for all of our weekly paid 
colleagues.

• Structured bonus and private medical insurance scheme were extended.

• All other benefits were benchmarked and adjustments made as 
appropriate to the amounts in each of the Company’s job families. 

• The decisions were taken to improve attraction and retention of our 
employees.

Review of key policies Customers

Employees

Shareholders

Supply chain partners

• The Board has recently reviewed its anti-corruption, anti-bribery, equal 
opportunities and whistleblowing policies and updated them accordingly 
with best practice.

• These policies have been included in mandatory training for all employees.

Investor relations Shareholders

Investors

• Increased the level of information available to our shareholders and 
potential investors.

• Research produced by an external analyst.

• Half year results presentation included on the Group website.

• Shareholder presentations arranged for the full year announcement and 
strategic direction.

Share option 
participation

Employees

Shareholders

• Share option participation was widened to include employees meeting 6 
monthly service criteria (previously 1 year), and additional matching shares 
offered to improve employee retention.

• The share option participation was extended to LET/LCS employees to 
improve retention and ensure they felt part of the wider Group.

• Better aligns employees’ interests with shareholders’.

The COVID-19 pandemic is an unprecedented challenge for the Group and the wider country. Additional Board meetings have been arranged 
to keep the Board abreast of the ever changing social and economic landscape. The Board is ensuring constant consideration is being given to 
all stakeholders when making decisions during these challenging times.
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

We have embedded the business purpose 
across the Group and assessed the culture 
statement with all our colleagues.

Robert Moyle
Chairman

For the year ended 31 December 2019 the Directors confirm that the 
Company has taken appropriate steps to comply with the provisions 
of the UK Corporate Governance Code, and with the provisions of 
the Disclosure and Transparency Rules on Audit Committees and 
Corporate Governance statements (DTR 7). The Company complies 
with many aspects of the revised UK Corporate Governance Code, 
which came into effect on 1 January 2019, and where the Company 
doesn't currently comply, meaningful explanation is provided.

Board leadership and Company purpose
The Board of Directors, under its Chairman, Robert Moyle, consisted 
throughout the year of five Executives, all highly experienced in 
the construction industry, and four independent Non-Executive 
members. Details of their biographies can be found on pages 68 and 
69. Mr DS Proud resigned from the Board on 11 December 2019, and 
retires from the Company in April 2020.

The Board met formally, as a whole, eight times during the year 
and the Audit Committee met five times during the year. The 
Remuneration Committee met four times, and the Nomination 
Committee met once during the year. All required Directors were 
present at each meeting if possible to have a quorum. The Board has 
a formal schedule of matters reserved solely for it to decide, which 
includes responsibility for the overall Group strategy. In advance 
of all Board meetings a Board pack is circulated to Board members 
informing them of all relevant matters.

The Board meetings include assessment of the opportunities 
available to the Group to enhance the future success and 
sustainability of the business. The Board also ensures its governance 
complements the delivery of its strategy and the sustainability of 
its business model. See the strategic review on pages 17 to 25. The 
Board is also responsible for assessing current and emerging risks and 
ensuring mitigating controls are implemented where appropriate; see 
pages 38 to 45.

The Group's purpose, which was determined by all of our colleagues 
in 2019, aligns with the Positive Impact Plan, which is the Board’s 
framework to assess the Group’s sustainability and societal impact in 
relation to Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) challenges. 

Our Positive Impact Plan, outlined on pages 46 to 65, gives an 
explanation of the Group’s approach to investing in and rewarding its 
workforce, as well as the Board’s activities and actions in relation to 
assessing and monitoring culture and addressing any misalignment of 
culture with purpose, values and strategy.

There is a well-established financial, budgeting and reporting 
function, with budgets and results reviewed by the Board providing 

a timely and regular monitoring of financial performance. All 
capital expenditure is approved by the Board only after a thorough 
evaluation process.

The Board has an agreed procedure for Directors to take 
independent professional advice in the furtherance of their duties, 
should they so require.

Composition, succession and evaluation
In the year the Board consisted of five Executives and four Non-
Executives. However, following Mr DS Proud resigning on  
11 December 2019, the Board composition is now made up  
of 50% Executive Directors and 50% Non-Executive Directors.

The Non-Executive Directors have no financial or contractual interest 
in the Company other than by way of their fees and shareholdings, 
and are considered independent of the Company. John Homer is 
the Chief Executive, whose role includes all the general duties and 
responsibilities of the daily functions of running a public company. 
The Nomination Committee has rigorously reviewed the position and 
independence of Ian Elliott and David Rogers in line with the Code; 
further details can be found in the Nomination Committee Report.

The appointment of Non-Executive Directors is led by the 
Nomination Committee, which comprises the Chairman, Chief 
Executive and existing Non-Executive Directors. The Committee 
evaluates the skills and experience of potential Non-Executive 
Directors and makes recommendations to the Board. Further details 
can be found in the Nomination Committee Report on page 81.

All Directors are now required to submit themselves for re-election 
every year.

The Board has oversight responsibility of the Positive Impact Plan and 
this includes the process for appointments, approach to succession 
planning and how both support developing a diverse pipeline. It also 
ensures a progressive policy on diversity and inclusion, its objectives 
and linkage to Group strategy, how it has been implemented and 
progress on achieving the objectives.

The Board is planning a facilitated Board effectiveness session during 
2020 to evaluate its performance, with a clear agenda, following a 
summary questionnaire completed by each of the Board members 
during 2019. The results and any actions taken will be disclosed in the 
2020 Annual Report.
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Accountability and review
The Board is fully aware of its duty to present a balanced and 
understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospects, 
and this is included in the Chairman’s Statement and Strategic Report.

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s systems of 
internal financial control, and for monitoring their effectiveness. 
The system of internal controls is designed to manage rather than 
eliminate the risk of business failure, to achieve business objectives, 
and can only provide reasonable, not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. The Directors have established an 
organisational structure with clear operating procedures, lines of 
responsibility and delegated authority within the limitations of 
the size of the business. These controls are established in order to 
safeguard the Group’s assets, maintain proper accounting records 
and ensure that financial information used within the business, or 
published, is reliable.

The risk management processes were in place for the full year to  
31 December 2019 and up to the date of approval of this report. 
The procedures are constantly reviewed throughout the year along 
with the operational current and emerging risks across the Group 
and, where required, those risks are prioritised for further action. 
This is carried out at both a management level, and reported up to 
the Board, and at Board level where the assessment also includes 
any significant corporate and emerging risks not identified by 
the business unit management teams. The current assessment is 
summarised on pages 38 to 45.

The Board has tasked the Audit Committee to complete an ongoing 
formal review of the effectiveness of the internal controls, which is 
completed on a rolling basis.

Audit, risk and internal control
The Board has constituted an Audit Committee, which comprises all 
four independent Non-Executive Directors: Mike Holt (Chairman), 
Ian Elliott, David Rogers and Margaret Amos. The Board is satisfied 
that they have recent and relevant financial experience to analyse, 
and when necessary to challenge the information contained in, or 
the presentation of, management accounts and statutory financial 
statements. The Chairman, Chief Executive and Chief Financial 
Officer attend Audit Committee meetings for specific purposes at 
the agreement of the Committee. See pages 76 to 79 for the Audit 
Committee Report.

Remuneration
The UK Corporate Governance Code has introduced significant 
additional provisions around remuneration, to which the Board has 
ultimate responsibility. These provisions are fully addressed within 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report starting on page 84.

Relations with shareholders
The Board endeavours to maintain dialogue with its shareholders 
by means of periodic financial reporting via trading updates, as 
required by the UK Listing Authority’s Disclosure and Transparency 
Rules, interim results at the half year, the Annual Report and at 
Annual General Meetings. The Group also updates its website for the 
latest news and includes update presentations for financial results. 
Throughout the year the Group has engaged with an appropriate 
market analyst who publishes financial research on its behalf. The 
Board has arranged presentations with major shareholders to 
present the full year figures and future strategy and prospects. The 
Board believes all of the items previously mentioned give current 
and prospective shareholders better and more timely information 
on the Group’s performance and future prospects. Details of all of 
these items, together with related press releases, are available at the 
Group’s website (www.nmcn.com).

The Board has also undertaken a review of any shareholder 
resolutions where a significant number of shareholders’ votes were 
cast against the recommended resolution. Full details can be found in 
the Nomination Committee Report on page 81.

The Company's Articles of Association may only be amended by 
special resolution at a general meeting of the shareholders.

Going concern
Based on the financial forecast included in the annual 3-year strategic 
planning cycle, which encompasses a detailed assessment for the 
succeeding 12 months to these financial statements, and taking 
into account the emerging impact of the COVID-19 crisis, which 
has been sensitised in the forecasting for both a revenue reduction 
and relevant cost mitigations (see pages 39 and 124), the Directors 
confirm that the Company, and the Group, has adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, 
being a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the 
financial statements. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 

The Board regularly reviews financial statements, cash balances 
and forecasts to ensure that the going concern assumption 
continues to prevail. This is particularly prevalent during these 
unprecedented times due to the ongoing uncertainties in relation to 
the COVID-19 crisis.

Code of Best Practice
Throughout the year ended 31 December 2019 the Company has 
been compliant with the UK Corporate Governance Code issued by 
the Financial Reporting Council in the UK, with the exception of the 
matters referred to below and where necessary, explained elsewhere 
in this Annual Report. This arises solely due to the size of the 
Company and the burden of increased costs should the Company 
wish to comply.

Daniel Taylor is the Company Secretary, a role he combines with his 
responsibilities as Chief Financial Officer, which the Board feels is 
appropriate.
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AUDIT
COMMITTEE REPORT

The Committee operates in an environment of 
co-operation and trust but ensures judgements, 
estimates and controls are properly applied and 
challenged. In particular, we are mindful of the 
need to ensure that variable consideration 
receivable from customers is only recognised to 
the extent it is highly probable there will not be a 
significant reversal of revenue in the future.

Mike Holt
Chairman, Audit Committee

Who are we?
The Audit Committee is made up of all four independent Non-
Executive Directors: David Rogers, Ian Elliott, Margaret Amos 
and myself. Collectively, we believe that we have the skills and 
experience required to fully discharge our duties and responsibilities 
under the Audit Committee’s Terms of Reference. Our biographies, 
qualifications and experience are on page 69. 

The Chairman, Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer, Group 
Financial Controller and External Auditor also generally join at least 
part of Audit Committee meetings by invitation, and KPMG has 
attended since their engagement as Internal Auditor. The Audit 
Committee meets at least three times a year.

The Audit Committee meets privately with the External Auditor at 
least once a year and as Committee Chairman, I meet and discuss 
issues with the External Audit Partner on a regular basis throughout 
the year.

Our purpose
The primary role of the Committee, which reports to the Board, is to 
ensure the integrity of the financial reporting and audit process and 
the maintenance of sound financial control and risk management 
systems. It is responsible for monitoring and reviewing:

• the integrity of the Group’s financial statements and any formal 
announcements relating to its financial performance;

• the effectiveness of the Group’s internal financial controls and 
the risk management systems;

• the integrity and responsiveness of the Group’s whistleblowing 
process;

• the effectiveness of the internal commercial audits across the 
Group;

• the effectiveness of the internal co-sourced audits across the 
Group;

• the effectiveness of the external audit process; 

• the effectiveness of the finance function; and

• certain specific key areas of risk management to support the 
Board's role in overseeing an enterprise-wide approach to risk 
identification, management and mitigation.

The Committee advises the Board on whether the financial 
statements are fair, balanced and understandable and if they provide 
the information necessary for the shareholders to assess the Group 
performance, business model, strategy and impact of new financial 
reporting standards.

The Committee also has responsibility for a number of other matters; 
further information and other documents that are pertinent to 
understanding the Audit Committee's role and remit are available on 
our website; www.nmcn.com.

2019 key achievements:
• The Committee appointed KPMG to perform internal 

audits as part of a co-sourced internal controls assurance 
programme

• A robust but supportive challenge on judgements affecting 
the carrying value of contract assets and liabilities

• Oversight of the implementation of IFRS 16 Leases and the 
accounting for the acquisition of Lintott Environmental 
Technologies Limited

• The review of a number of whistleblowing allegations, none 
identified wrong doing but some improvements to controls 
have been implemented

Areas of focus in 2020:
• Effectiveness of the internal controls assurance programme

• The external audit tender

• The effectiveness of the Audit Committee

• Cash forecasting and treasury management

• Assessing the controls and processes to preserve cash and 
optimise financial resilience amidst COVID-19
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Key areas of focus during the year
The Committee has continued to play a key role within the 
Group's governance framework in discharging its responsibilities 
set out above. We continue to focus on risk management and the 
identification of and response to emerging risks.

The Committee met five times during the year and has met four 
times since the end of the financial year. Areas of particular focus this 
year have been:

• reviewing the acquisition of Lintott Environmental Technologies 
Limited and its trading subsidiary, Lintott Control Systems 
Limited, and the corresponding accounting under IFRS 3, 
especially the valuation of the associated earn-out and the 
valuation of intangible assets acquired;

• examining areas of judgement by management in relation to 
contract assets and liabilities to gain confidence that it is highly 
probable that significant reversals will not occur, particular 
attention has been given to weather affected contracts during 
the fourth quarter, a number of major contracts and legacy 
contracts;

• reviewing the estimation accuracy of expert opinions used to 
inform and support management judgements and estimates; 
and

• improving the level of internal controls assurance through the 
appointment of KPMG as co-sourced Internal Auditor.

During the year, a number of concerns were raised through the 
Group's whistleblowing procedures. These were fully investigated 
by external advisers and findings reviewed by the Audit Committee. 
Some improvements to process controls have been implemented as 
a result, albeit none of the concerns raised indicated wrongdoing or 
poor practice.

Since the year-end, the Committee has been reviewing scenario 
based cash forecasts in response to the COVID-19 virus crisis.

External Auditor
The Committee formally met with the External Auditor, BDO LLP, 
to discuss the nature and scope of their annual audit and to review 
the audit plan in some detail before the audit commenced. The 
Committee also formally met with BDO to review the outcome of 
the audit and to discuss issues arising and their resolution.

When meeting with the External Auditor, we reviewed the Group’s 
accounting policies to ensure that they remained appropriate and 
discussed in broad terms the major risks that the Auditor was likely 
to consider during their work. These are set out in the Auditor’s 
own report, but included profits recognised on contracts, the 
recoverability of trade receivables and contract assets, going concern 
and the impact of new accounting standards and their disclosure 
requirements. 

We also discussed the judgements and uncertainties inherent in 
the preparation of the financial statements with the Auditor and 
how these areas were dealt with by the Group. These matters are 
discussed in detail in Note 4 and summarised below.

Each year the Committee assesses the effectiveness of the External 
Auditor. In addition to the quality of information provided to the 
Committee and our discussions with the Auditor, we also consider 
the views of the Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Officer, the 
Group Financial Controller, and a selection of the Group's senior 
management within each business unit using a questionnaire, 
which provides a structured and informed basis for us to assess the 
technical quality of the External Auditor. We remain satisfied that 
our Auditor is delivering an effective service on behalf of shareholders 
in terms of the necessary robustness and challenge in their work, 
including the extent to which the Auditor challenges management, 
and also in terms of supporting the Annual Report process 
effectively. We shall continue to review this on an annual basis.

The Committee also reviews and assesses information provided by 
the Auditor to confirm their independence and objectivity within 
the context of applicable regulatory requirements and professional 
standards. The Group has approved a formal policy of the provision 
of non-audit services aimed at safeguarding and supporting the 
independence and objectivity of the External Auditor. No fees were 
payable in the year or previous year to the External Auditor for non-
audit services.

BDO LLP have been our External Auditor since 2010. Our last tender 
was in 2010, at which time our current External Auditor was first 
appointed. As required by the Competition and Markets Authority 
2014 Order, the Group is required to undertake a mandatory tender 
for audit services. The Audit Committee will be undertaking this 
tender exercise in the first half of 2020.
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Significant financial statement 
reporting issues
The Committee looked carefully at those aspects of the financial 
statements which required significant accounting judgements or 
where there was estimation uncertainty. The significant issues 
considered for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out below.

Recognition of revenue and attributable  
profit (or losses)
For construction-related contracts and services, revenue and profit 
recognition is a key judgement area. The Board, where necessary, has 
taken expert advice on the value of certain problematic contracts 
recognised in the financial statements. These experts have been 
used to give their opinion on the legal substance and quantum 
measurement where appropriate. The Audit Committee reviewed 
and agreed with the use of such experts and the process the Board 
has undertaken to ensure that these contracts were reflected 
accurately in the financial statements.

Recoverability of contract assets and trade 
receivables
As at 31 December 2019 the value of trade receivables and contract 
assets was £56.71m. The recoverability of contract assets and trade 
receivables is an area of significant risk as a result of the sector and 
the characteristics of the contracting environment.

The Board, where necessary, has taken expert advice on the 
value of certain problematic contracts recognised in the financial 
statements. These experts have been used to give opinions on the 
legal substance and quantum measurement where appropriate. The 
Audit Committee reviewed and agreed with the use of such experts 
and the process the Board has undertaken to ensure that these 
contracts were reflected accurately in the financial statements.

Implementation of IFRS 16
The Committee has reviewed detailed financial analysis and 
reports produced by the Chief Financial Officer and Group Financial 
Controller, in relation to the implementation of IFRS 16 Leases, which 
was effective from 1 January 2019. The Group has implemented this 
new standard by adopting the full retrospective method.

The Committee reviewed and agreed the values and disclosures in 
relation to IFRS 16 to ensure calculations were appropriate and there 
was adequate disclosure included within the financial statements.

Note 2 in the notes to the financial statements section of Our 
Financials details the full impact of the adoption of IFRS 16.

Accounting for the acquisition of Lintott 
Environmental Technologies Limited and Lintott 
Control Systems Limited
The Company has implemented, for the first time, acquisition 
accounting under IFRS 3 Business Combinations, and the impact 
on the financial statements and clarity of the disclosures for the 
acquisition of Lintott Environmental Technologies Limited and 
its trading subsidiary, Lintott Control Systems Limited have been 
reviewed in detail and agreed by the Audit Committee.

The Committee also reviewed the detailed financial analysis 
in relation to fair value adjustments and the identification of 
separately recognisable intangible assets,and appropriate useful 
lives. These values will be reviewed going forward to ensure that 
any amortisation and/or potential impairment in relation to these is 
properly recognised and accounted for.

Annual Report
We have discussed the presentation of the Annual Report in the 
context of the requirements under the UK Corporate Governance 
Code and the significant changes made to the Code that became 
effective during the year. The Committee also considered the 
increasing acceptance of the concept of integrated reporting and 
the difficulties that shareholders have articulated in relation to the 
ever-increasing complexity of the financial statements.

At our final meeting with the External Auditor, prior to signing the 
Annual Report, we discussed the resolution of the risks that the 
Auditor had identified above, and concluded that the risks had been 
dealt with accordingly through the audit work completed and were 
disclosed appropriately in the Annual Report.

The financial statements and the Annual Report as a whole are the 
responsibility of the entire Board. Their responsibility statement is 
contained in the Directors' Report on pages 100 to 102, but the Board 
looks to the Audit Committee to advise in relation to the financial 
statements both as regards their form and content, issues which 
might arise and on specific areas which require judgement, such 
as the going concern presumption. The Board believes the Annual 
Report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and 
provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the 
Group's performance, business model and strategy.

In order to be able to advise the Board that the Annual Report is fair, 
balanced and understandable we spent some time deciding what 
this meant and who our key stakeholders were and what this would 
mean for them. We decided that the Annual Report should be free 
from bias, tell the story of the Group for this financial year accurately 
and be understandable to the reader.
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Going concern review
The Committee reviews the going concern and longer term viability 
forecasts for the Group. Particular attention was given to both the 
liquidity and solvency position envisaged by the report for the period 
12 months from this date and the foreseeable future as set out in the 
Board's strategic plan. This is of particular importance at the present 
time with the uncertainties and disruption of COVID-19 and cash 
forecasts for a range of scenarios have been stress tested.

Internal Audit
During the year the Audit Committee appointed KPMG to provide 
co-sourced Internal Audit services. KPMG completed two audits and 
findings were reported to the Committee and improvement actions 
agreed with management. The Committee has agreed a plan for 
the coming year which will focus on contract assets and some core 
financial processes to provide assurance that controls are working 
and complied with.

An ongoing programme of commercial and contractual peer 
reviews of certain contracts, known internally as contract “project 
monitoring” remains in place which aligns with the key strategic 
focus of preventing contract losses and margin erosion. The 
Group is utilising internal expertise from all business units to deliver 
the internal commercial audit function. The reports produced 
are reviewed by the Committee during the year by exception. 
A summary of progress is issued at every Board meeting, along with 
a timetable for upcoming reviews. 

Effectiveness of the finance function
The Committee reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s finance 
function. This review takes into account views of wider management 
across the Group, the External Auditor and Internal Auditor, in 
addition to the management reporting, financial forecasting and 
quality of information more generally provided to the Committee 
and to the Board. The Committee also reviews the continuing 
professional development of the finance team including the Chief 
Financial Officer. During the year, a development plan was agreed for 
the finance function and an Assistant Group Financial Controller was 
recruited to augment the central finance team.

Change and implementation of financial 
reporting standards
As noted earlier, the Committee has reviewed the detailed financial 
statement disclosures and impact thereon, in relation to the changes 
in financial reporting standards, in particular IFRS 16 Leases and 
implementation for the first time of IFRS 3 Business Combinations. 
The Committee has recommended to the Board, as part of the 
financial statements, that the disclosures are accurate, balanced and 
understandable.

Future plans
Looking ahead to the coming year, the Audit Committee will pay 
close attention to the following:

• the effectiveness of the internal commercial audit function and 
potential enhancements to its scope;

• the scope of work for KPMG as Internal Auditor within the co-
sourced internal controls assurance programme;

• the effectiveness of the Audit Committee and each member;

• significant risks and uncertainties as they arise or are emerging, 
particularly in relation to COVID-19 crisis management; 

• the need for a Treasury Committee; and

• the interim financial statement, and other announcements 
relating to the financial performance of the Group.

Mike Holt 
Chairman, Audit Committee 
22 April 2020
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The Committee met five times during the last year, and four times so far post the year-end. 
During the last year the following matters were discussed:

August 2019
• Review of contract positions and potential impact on the 

financial statements of any commercial risks

• Reviewed IFRS 16 disclosure requirements and 
financial impact

• Reviewed and signed off the interim statement for 2019 half 
year results

• Progressed the co-sourced internal audit function 
tender process

October 2019
• Review of contract positions and potential year-end 

commercial risks

• Discussed strategic approach to revenue and the impact of 
the new IFRS 16 Leases standard

• Discussed Auditor effectiveness and reported back to BDO 
LLP based on compiled questionnaires

• Agreed scope of works for quarter 4 internal audit work

December 2019
• Pre year-end review of results

• Updated the External Auditor on strategy and progress 
against targets

• Identification of potential risks and uncertainties within the 
Group that may impact the financial statements

• Strategic paper on the commercial forums progress and plans 
for 2020. Reviewed summary project monitoring audit results

• Reviewed proposed non-recurring metrics for the Group

• Agreed reporting, accounting and auditing issues with the 
Committee and the External Auditor

• Review of Audit Committee Terms of Reference

February 2020
• Discussed the impact of new reporting standards on the 

financial statements through a detailed report prepared by 
the Executive team, in particular the future impact of IFRS 16

• Reviewed the consolidation adjustments relating to 
nmcn Investments, and the required disclosures in the 
Annual Report

• Review of whistleblowing log and ongoing actions that are 
addressing the concerns raised. Summary update from the 
Executive team on the insurance policies renewal as part of 
our risk management strategy

• Reviewed report and recommendations from the co-sourced 
Internal Auditor

• Clarification and discussion around accounting treatment for 
potential risks and uncertainties within the Group that may 
impact the financial statements

• Agreed use of legal and quantum experts where appropriate 
to assess variable income

March and April 2020
• The Committee met three times in March and April 2020 

following delays caused by the COVID-19 virus outbreak. 
Meetings took place on 17 and 25 March and 22 April 2020

• Initial review of the draft Annual Report and Accounts, 
including authorising the Audit Committee report

• Review of the corporate risk register and strategic review 
for 2020

• Reviewed effectiveness of reporting, our policies, the new 
UK Corporate Governance Code and the requirements of ISA 
700 in the Annual Report and Accounts

• Reviewed and signed off the preliminary announcement for 
2019 results

• Detailed discussion around secured workload, going concern 
and viability cash flow forecasts

• Met with the External Auditor and considered their report

• Confirmed a rolling programme of internal audit work to be 
completed by our co-sourced partner

AUDIT
COMMITTEE REPORT
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NOMINATION
COMMITTEE REPORT

The committee is pleased to confirm the 
ongoing independence of the Non-Executive 
Directors on the Board.

Robert Moyle
Chairman, Nomination Committee

Membership 
The members of the Nomination Committee are Group Chairman 
R Moyle (Committee Chairman – appointed 4 October 2017), Chief 
Executive J Homer and all Non-Executive Directors; I Elliott, D Rogers, 
M Holt and M Amos.

Duties of the Committee
The main duties of the Committee include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 

• lead the process for Board appointments and make 
recommendations to the Board; 

• consider succession planning at senior levels within the Group 
and ensure an appropriate balance of skills and experience; 

• evaluate the balance of skills, experience, independence and 
knowledge of the Board; and 

• consider diversity issues, ensuring consideration of candidates 
from a wide range of backgrounds.

Diversity
Our policy is that no individual should be discriminated against 
on the grounds of race, colour, ethnicity, religious belief, political 
affiliation, gender, age or disability. Whilst we have not currently 
established diversity targets, this policy is reflected in our approach 
to recruitment at all levels.

Governance processes and 
Committee activities
The Committee normally meets at least twice a year or at such other 
times as the Committee Chair may request. In 2019, one meeting was 
held on 18 March 2019. At the meeting, the Committee met to consider 
and review the preparation of the Committee’s Report for 2018 and 
to further confirm the continuing independence of all Non-Executive 
Directors serving on the Committee. It further agreed to review (a) the 
restructuring of the Water segment and (b) the effectiveness of the 
existing succession plan at the Board meeting on 27 March 2019.

At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 16 May 
2019, the resolution concerning the reappointment of Mr M Holt as a 
Director of the Company did not receive the support of a majority of 
independent shareholders who voted. Mr M Holt is an experienced 

PLC Director, who in the Board’s view brings considerable valuable 
experience to the Company. A general meeting to vote on the 
reappointment of Mr M Holt as a Director of the Company was held 
on 10 September 2019, and the vote to reappoint was carried.

The Committee has formal Terms of Reference, which can be viewed 
on the Company’s website: www.nmcn.com.

On 17 March 2020 the Committee met to consider and review the 
preparation of the Committee’s Report for 2019 and to further 
confirm the continuing independence of all Non-Executive Directors 
serving on the Committee, and the effectiveness of the Executive 
Chairman’s leadership of the Board.

The Company’s Non-Executive Directors serving on the Committee 
are appropriately considered to be independent members of the 
Board. In this regard, the Board specifically considered the continued 
independence of those Non-Executive Directors who have now 
served for more than nine years as Board members (I Elliott and D 
Rogers). It is considered that these Directors remain independent, 
and the experience and knowledge that they have of nmcn’s 
business and strategy adds significantly to our Board’s capacity to 
function effectively, and for there to be appropriate constructive 
challenge and strategic guidance given by our Non-Executive 
Directors to the management team.

Additionally, I Elliott is our Senior Independent Non-Executive Director, 
which is a particularly important position for the balance of our Board 
at nmcn where our Chairman remains a member of the Executive 
Team. During the year the Board also considered the new UK Corporate 
Governance Code guidance regarding the role of the Chairman, and 
concluded that the nmcn Chairman remains uniquely positioned to lead 
our Board effectively, based on his knowledge and experience of our 
business and the key role that our Chairman plays in the management 
of relationships with our Company’s leading shareholders.

Robert Moyle
Chairman of the Nomination Committee
22 April 2020

2019 key achievements:
• Development of robust succession plan

Areas of focus in 2020:
• Further incorporation of the succession plan into the 

ongoing business strategy
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Our 2018 Directors’ Remuneration Report and our 
three yearly Directors’ Remuneration Policy were 
approved by over 99.6% of shareholders voting.

Ian Elliott
Non-Executive Chairman, Remuneration Committee

Remuneration Committee Chairman’s Letter

Dear Shareholder
I am pleased to present the Directors’ Remuneration Report for 2019. 

As a first point, I am grateful to our shareholders for their support 
at our 2019 AGM when the resolutions on both our 2018 Directors’ 
Remuneration Report and our three yearly Directors’ Remuneration 
Policy were approved by over 99.6% of shareholders voting.

Group performance in 2019 and 
remuneration in 2020
Ordinarily, a Committee Chairman’s letter to introduce a Directors’ 
Remuneration Report will explain how remuneration outcomes for 
the year were linked to and reflect performance in that year, and 
also give summary details of how the Company intends to operate 
Directors’ pay arrangements in the coming year.

In early 2020, the impacts of COVID-19 have caused us to rethink 
our approach. The Committee has determined that in the 
unprecedented business environment resulting from COVID-19 the 
interests of our shareholders will be best served as follows:

• As announced on 14 April 2020, we have implemented a 
temporary and voluntary reduction in the base salaries of the 
Executive Directors of 20%, and a 10% reduction for the senior 
management team (effective 1 April 2020).

• In order to protect the Company’s cash position, there will be no 
payment of annual bonus for 2019 until after a further review by 
the Committee in August 2020. This is considered appropriate 
to align to the treatment of shareholders in respect of 2019 
dividend payments.

• It is also expected that the vesting of 2017’s PSP award 
(scheduled for 27 April 2020) will be delayed to 28 August 2020, 
when the vesting date will be further reviewed and may be 
further extended.

• Our regular annual Performance Share Plan (“PSP”) awards to 
the Directors in 2020 will be delayed and considered later in the 
year when appropriate. All appropriate disclosures regarding the 
terms of these awards (such as the number of award shares and 
the share prices used to determine this, and the performance 
vesting conditions to be applied) will be made in the related RNS 
announcement when these awards are made.

• As we noted in the introductory statement to our Directors’ 
Remuneration Report for 2018, we are continuing to monitor 
the development of market practice in relation to the practice of 
pension contribution rates for Executive Directors being aligned 
to the equivalent rate for the majority of employees and the 
practice of shareholding guidelines extending for a period after 
an Executive Director leaves the Company. We expect to review 
these matters during the period for which our current three year 
policy is operated. 

2019 key achievements:
• 3-yearly renewal of our Directors’ remuneration policy at 

2019 AGM

• Both Directors’ remuneration policy and Directors’ 
remuneration report approved at the 2019 AGM by 99.6% of 
shareholders voting

• Considering all feedback from shareholders on Executive pay

• Considering feedback from the broader employee 
engagement process

• First CEO to employee pay ratio produced for DRR 2019

Areas of focus in 2020:
• Impact of the Company’s broader response to COVID-19 on 

Executive pay

• Consider appropriateness of long-term performance 
measures for new PSP awards

• Consider interests of shareholders, employees and wider 
stakeholders in the operation of Executive pay

• Consider all developments in market good practice and their 
appropriateness for nmcn

REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE REPORT
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As required by the UK Corporate Governance Code, I can confirm 
that there were no exercises of judgement or discretion by the 
Committee in the year in respect of Directors’ remuneration beyond 
normal commercial judgement exercised in confirming the outcome 
of performance metrics for annual bonuses and LTIPs as detailed in 
the relevant sections of the report.

As we noted in the introductory statement to our Directors’ 
Remuneration Report for 2018, we are continuing to monitor 
the development of market practice in relation to the practice of 
pension contribution rates for Executive Directors being aligned to 
the equivalent rate for the majority of employees and the practice 
of shareholding guidelines extending for period after an Executive 
Director leaves the Company.  We expect to review these matters 
during the period for which our current three year policy is operated.

Shareholder approval
Our Directors’ Remuneration Report for 2019 is in three sections: 

• This introductory letter;

• Part A, being the Implementation Report, which gives details of 
the payments made to Directors in 2019, as well as other required 
disclosures; and

• Part B, our Directors’ Remuneration Policy, which was approved 
by our shareholders at our 2019 AGM and which is included for 
information.

At the AGM on 25 June 2020, shareholders will be asked to approve 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report for 2019 (comprising this 
introductory statement and the Implementation Report) as a normal 
annual advisory vote.

I hope that you will continue to be supportive of our Executive 
remuneration policy and practices, and that you will vote in favour of 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report at the 2020 AGM.

Yours sincerely

Ian Elliott
Non-Executive Chairman, Remuneration Committee
22 April 2020
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REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE REPORT
Remuneration introduction and Annual Report

Introduction
This report contains the material required to be set out as the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the purposes of Part 4 of The Large and 
Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013, which amended The Large and Medium-sized 
Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (“the DRR Regulations”).

Part A constitutes the implementation sections of the Directors’ Remuneration Report (“Implementation Report”). The Auditor has reported 
on certain parts of the Implementation Report and stated whether, in their opinion, those parts have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the DRR Regulations. Those parts of the Implementation Report which have been subject to audit are clearly indicated. The Directors’ 
Remuneration Report (comprising the introductory statement to the DRR and the Implementation Report) is subject to an advisory vote at 
the 2020 AGM.

Part B represents the Directors’ Remuneration Policy. Shareholder approval was obtained at the 2019 AGM for our Directors’ Remuneration 
Policy. Our Directors’ Remuneration Policy is included for information only and is not subject to a vote at the 2020 AGM.

Part A: Implementation Report for 2019

Audited information
Single total figure table (audited)
The remuneration for the Executive and Non-Executive Directors of the Company who performed qualifying services during the year is 
detailed below. The Non-Executive Directors received no remuneration other than their annual fee.

For the year ended 31 December 2019:

 
Fees

£’000

Basic
Salary
£’000

Benefits
In kind

£’000

Annual
Bonus
£’000

Pension
Scheme 

contribution
£’000

Long term 
incentives

£’000

Total
2019

£’000

Executive Directors        
R Moyle (Chairman) – 335 39 –1 50 –1 424
J Homer – 319 14 1914 48 5852 1,157
DA Taylor – 185 15 1114 28 3382 677
A Langman – 165 14 744 25 3172 595
DS Proud3 – 165 15 994 25 3172 621
Non-Executive 
Directors       
I Elliott 41 – – – – – 41
DP Rogers 41  – – – – – 41
MJ Holt 41  – –  – –  – 41
M Amos 41  – –  – –  – 41
Total 164 1,169 97 475 176 1,557 3,638

1. R Moyle does not participate in the Annual Bonus Plan or the Performance Share Plan.

2. The expected levels of vesting under the PSP is shown on pages 86 and 87. Vesting is based on the adjusted aggregate PBT achieved over three financial years to 31 December 
2019, which means the performance criteria is substantially complete as at 31 December 2019. The corresponding values under the PSP, including the estimated value of 
dividends accrued to 31 December 2019, are shown in the table above, based on a three-month average Company share price to 31 December 2019 of £5.777. Any shares 
vesting under the PSP granted in 2017 will not vest until the end of the vesting period in April 2020. nmcn’s share price has performed very well since the 2017 awards were 
granted. The value of the shares awarded at the date of grant was £277,000 for J Homer; £160,000 for DA Taylor, and £150,000 for each of A Langman and DS Proud. The value of 
these shares (plus accumulated dividends) based on the three-month average share price to 31 December 2019 was £585,129 for J Homer; £337,978 for DA Taylor; and £316,857 
for each of A Langman and DS Proud.

3. Mr DS Proud retired from the Board on 11 December 2019, but will remain with the Company until 30 April 2020. His remuneration is shown in full for the year.

4. Payment of the amounts for 2019 annual bonus shown above for the continuing Executive Directors has been deferred and payment is subject to further review by the 
Remuneration Committee in August 2020.  Should the amounts shown be reduced on review, any variations to the amounts shown above will be disclosed in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report for 2020 when the Single Figure Table for 2019 is updated for actual payments. The 2019 annual bonus for DS Proud (who has retired) has not been 
deferred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018:

Fees
£’000

Basic
Salary
£’000

Benefits
In kind

£’000

Annual
Bonus
£’000

Pension
Scheme 

contribution
£’000

Long term 
incentives

£’000

Total
2018

£’000

Executive Directors        
R Moyle (Chairman) – 369 30 – 50 – 449
J Homer – 310 16 186 47 1,3562 1,915
DA Taylor – 180 15 108 27 7142 1,044
A Langman – 160 18 80 24 7142 996
DS Proud – 160 16 96 24 7142 1,010
Non-Executive 
Directors        
SJT Brown 301 – – – – – 30
I Elliott 40 – – – – – 40
DP Rogers 40  – – – – – 40
MJ Holt 101  – –  – –  – 10
M Amos 31  – –  – –  – 3
Total 123 1,179 95 470 172 3,498 5,537

1. Mr SJT Brown stepped down from the Board on 1st October 2018. Mr M J Holt and Ms M Amos joined the Board on 10th October 2018 and 12th December 2018 respectively.  
Fees shown are for the period in which each individual acted as a Director of nmcn.

2. The figures for long term incentives for each of the Executive Directors have been restated from the equivalent figures in the Directors’ Remuneration Report for 2018 to reflect 
the nmcn share price on the date when these awards vested (7 June 2019: 642.5p). The equivalent figures in 2018’s Directors’ Remuneration Report were based on a three-
month average Company share price to 31 December 2018 of £5.069.

The aggregate emoluments (being salary/fees, bonuses, benefits and pension allowances) of all Directors for 2019 was £3,638,000 (2018: 
£5,507,000).

Taxable benefits (audited)
The taxable benefits relate to car allowance or company cars, fuel cards, private health care, and pension administration and financial advice.

Bonus scheme (audited)
The bonus payable to the Executive Directors for 2019 was based on adjusted PBT targets (weighting 50% of salary max) and strategic targets 
(10% of salary max). 

For the achievement of a threshold level of adjusted PBT, a bonus of 0% of salary was payable. For achieving a stretch level of adjusted PBT, a 
bonus of 50% of salary was payable. For John Homer and Daniel Taylor, their bonus was payable entirely by reference to Group PBT. As Andy 
Langman and Stuart Proud were Managing Directors of specific business units, a portion of their bonuses was payable on business segment 
profits as well as Group PBT.

The table below shows the adjusted Group PBT targets for the 2019 annual bonus and performance against these.

 
Adjusted PBT 

for 2019

Threshold (0% of maximum) £6m
Target (60% of maximum) £7m
Maximum (100% of maximum) £8m
Actual performance £8.93m
Payout (% of maximum) 100%

The strategic targets for 2019 were based on our stated KPI of the Employee Stability Index. For 2019 this was 88.1% (2018: 86.67%) and 
represented attainment of this metric for the 2019 Annual Bonus at a maximum level. As we explain in our KPIs section, employee stability at 
nmcn ensures that the tacit knowledge, experience and our newest talent remain with the Group to provide one of our biggest competitive 
advantages.
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REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE REPORT
As explained in the Remuneration Committee Chairman’s letter introducing this Directors’ Remuneration Report, in order to protect the 
Company’s cash position, there will be no payment of annual bonus for 2019 until after a further review by the Committee in August 2020.  

The amounts disclosed accordingly represent an estimate and may be reduced if considered appropriate. Any variations to the amounts 
shown above will be disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report for 2020 when the Single Figure Table for 2019 is updated for actual 
payments.

 

Annual
Bonus
 £’000

Annual
Bonus

% of salary

Executive Directors   
J Homer 191 60%
DA Taylor 111 60%
A Langman 74 45%
DS Proud 99 60%

When setting the adjusted PBT targets for 2019 for the 2019 annual bonus and when considering performance against the targets, the 
Committee excluded potential positive and negative impacts of provisions for the continuing litigation related to the one remaining legacy 
contract, due to the current Executives included in the annual bonus having no involvement in the acceptance and delivery of the contract. 
The Committee applied similar treatments in prior years.

Given the competitive nature of the Company’s sector, the specific business unit PBT targets (for Andy Langman and Stuart Proud) for the 
Annual Bonus Plan are considered to be commercially sensitive and accordingly will not be disclosed until such time as the Committee believes 
them no longer commercially sensitive.

Performance Share Plan (“PSP”)
The performance period for the 2017 PSP awards ended on 31 December 2019. These awards will not vest until the end of the vesting period 
in April 2020 (although the vesting date has been further delayed to at least August 2020 as explained in the Committee Chairman's letter 
introducing this report). Performance against the adjusted aggregate PBT targets is shown below.

 

Aggregate 
adjusted PBT 

for 2017, 
2018 and 

2019

Threshold (0% vesting) £9m
Maximum (100% vesting) £13m
Actual performance £23.1m
Vesting (% of maximum) 100%

On a reported basis, excluding the IFRS 15 and 16 restatements, which was the basis on which the targets were set, aggregate PBT was 
£14.47m (2017: £1.00m; 2018: £6.03m; 2019 £7.44m). However, for consistency with the targets, which were set at the beginning of the period 
(when potential outcomes were uncertain), the Committee felt it appropriate to exclude both positive and negative impacts from provisions 
in respect of the litigation related to the one remaining legacy contract across the period. With adjustments to exclude such provisions, the 
maximum targets were substantially exceeded. The Committee felt that full vesting is appropriate. The Committee applied similar treatments 
in prior years.
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Total outstanding PSP awards
The table below shows the outstanding PSP awards as at 31 December 2019.

Executive
Date of 

award

Awards 
outstanding at 

01/01/19

Awards
Granted

During the
Year

Notional 
dividend 

shares 
accrued

Awards 
vested during 

the year1

Awards 
lapsed during 

the year

Interests
Outstanding at 

31/12/19

Normal 
vesting/

Exercise date

J Homer 07/06/16 206,612 – 4,508 211,120 – – 07/06/19
 27/04/17 97,468 – 3,818 – – 101,286 27/04/20
 26/04/18 102,376 – 4,010 – – 106,386 27/04/21

25/04/19 – 61,403 2,405 – – 63,808 25/04/22
DA Taylor 07/06/16 108,769 – 2,373 111,142 – – 07/06/19
 27/04/17 56,299 – 2,205 – – 58,504 27/04/20
 26/04/18 59,443 – 2,328 – – 61,771 27/04/21

25/04/19 – 35,653 1,396 – – 37,049 25/04/22
A Langman 07/06/16 108,769 – 2,373 111,142 – – 07/06/19
 27/04/17 52,780 – 2,068 – – 54,848 27/04/20
 26/04/18 52,838 – 2,070 – – 54,908 27/04/21

25/04/19 – 31,692 1,241 – – 32,933 25/04/22
DS Proud 07/06/16 108,769  – 2,373 111,142 – – 07/06/19
 27/04/17 52,780 – 2,068 – – 54,848 27/04/20
 26/04/18 52,838 – 2,070 – – 54,908 27/04/21

25/04/19 – 31,692 1,241 – – 32,933 25/04/22

1.  On vesting of PSP awards, the Company seeks to minimise shareholder dilution by “net settling” the awards by issuing shares equal in value to the post-tax amount to 
individuals, and paying the corresponding income tax to HMRC as a cash amount.

The PSP awards granted in 2019 were granted on the basis of shares worth 100% of each individual’s base salary, and calculated using the 
average market price of 520p taken using the last three trading days prior to grant on 25 April 2019. The exercise price is nil. The minimum share 
price in 2019 was 486p and the maximum share price was 785p. The closing share price on 31 December 2019 was 595p.

The awards shown in the table above vest based on performance against the aggregate Adjusted PBT targets shown below, each measured 
over a period of three financial years commencing with the year of grant. The performance measures for 2017 awards are as shown above.

2018 PSP awards (vest 2021)
Aggregate adjusted PBT for 2018, 2019 and 2020 % of award that vests

Below £18.25m 0%
£18.25m 0%
£24.25m 100%

Between £18.25m – £24.25m 0% – 100% straight-line

2019 PSP awards (vest 2022)
Aggregate adjusted PBT for 2019, 2020 and 2021 % of award that vests

£21.46m 0%
£24.46m 50%
£27.46m 100%

Between £21.46m – £27.46m 0% – 100% straight-line

“Adjusted” PBT will be used to determine vesting, thereby allowing the Remuneration Committee to remove the impact of one-off/exceptional 
items and/or reflect the impact of any major disposals/acquisitions etc.
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Statement of Directors’ shareholding and share interests (audited)
The beneficial interests of the Directors in shares of Companies within the Group at both the beginning and the end of the year are as follows:

nmcn Plc

31/12/19
10p Ordinary

Shares

31/12/18
10p Ordinary

Shares

R Moyle 463,597 463,221
J Homer 158,169 30,844
DA Taylor 98,652 37,273
AD Langman 252,045 192,744
DS Proud* 111,067 51,766
SJT Brown** – 6,500
I Elliott 8,000 –
DP Rogers – –
MJ Holt 6,005 –
M Amos – –

* DS Proud retired from the Board on 11 December 2019. Share interests shown for DS Proud have been included as at 31 December 2019.
** SJT Brown stood down from the Board on 1st October 2018. Share interests shown for SJT Brown are those held at this date.

As at 22 April 2020 the interests of Daniel Taylor, John Homer, Andy Langman, and Robert Moyle had all increased by 84 shares. This was as a 
result of their participation in the Employee Share Plan. The interests of the Directors in shares pursuant to their participation in the PSP are 
set out in the relevant section above. A share ownership guideline applies under which Executive Directors are required to retain (unless the 
Committee determines otherwise) all shares that vest under the PSP until such time as they hold shares worth 100% of salary. At present, all 
Directors satisfy this guideline.

Payments to past Directors (audited)
There were no payments to past Directors during the year (2018: None).

Payments for loss of office (audited)
There were no payments for loss of office during the year (2018: None).

Performance graph and CEO remuneration table (unaudited)
The graph below shows the Company’s Total Shareholder Return performance compared with the FTSE All Share Index excluding Investment 
Trusts. The graph provides a basis for comparison with a relevant equity index, and the Committee believes that no other published index 
provides a better comparison. In accordance with the Regulations, the graph shows this performance over a 10 year period.
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The Regulations also require a table setting out the remuneration of the CEO over the same 10 year period to which the TSR graph applies. 
This is presented below. The Regulations require the table to express the payout under the bonus as a percentage of the maximum bonus 
opportunity. However, as the Company’s bonus plan did not operate with a maximum bonus opportunity until 2015, we have instead shown 
the bonus actually paid in the relevant years. The only long term incentive awards vesting in the period were awards vesting by reference to 
FYEs 2018 and 2019.

  

CEO single figure 
of

 total 
remuneration 

(£’000)

Bonus paid to
CEO 

(£’000)

Percentage of
maximum bonus 
paid (from 2015)

Percentage of
maximum LTIP 

vesting 
(from 2018)

2019 J Homer 1,157 191 100% 100%
2018 J Homer 1,605 186 100% 100%
2017 J Homer 493 150 100%
2016 J Homer1 266 79 100%
2016 R Moyle1 221 40 67%
2015 R Moyle 393 – –
2014 R Moyle 368 – –
2013 R Moyle 348 – –
2012 R Moyle 347 – –
2011 R Moyle 319 – –
2010 R Moyle 408 56 N/A

1.  John Homer joined the Board of nmcn plc on 1 June 2016, becoming Chief Executive Officer on that date. The 2016 single figure of total remuneration for John Homer shows 
his remuneration since joining the Board. The 2016 single figure of total remuneration for Robert Moyle is prorated up until this date, when he ceased to act as Chief Executive 
Officer. Bonus caps were introduced from 1 January 2016.

Change in CEO pay for the year compared to UK salaried employees
The table below sets out the change in remuneration of the Chief Executive and the average change in the Company’s salaried population 
between 2018 and 2019:

 Salary Benefits Bonus

Chief Executive 2.5% 0% 2.5%
Average of salaried employees 4.8% 14.7% 18%

CEO to employee pay ratio
The table below shows the comparison of CEO total remuneration for 2019 (calculated using the Single Figure Table, see above) to that of 
identified UK employees at 25th percentile, median (50th percentile) and 75th percentile rankings of equivalent total remuneration.

Year Method
25th percentile 

pay ratio
Median 

pay ratio
75th percentile 

pay ratio

2019 Option B 36 : 1 30 : 1 22 : 1

Notes to the CEO to employee pay ratio calculation:
1. Option B (based on the gender pay gap reporting disclosures) was preferred as this data was already prepared on a Group basis.

2. In line with the gender pay gap reporting regulations, the employee with pay at the 25th percentile, median and 75th percentile employees 
was calculated with reference to 5 April for 2019.

3. The total remuneration levels of the employees so identified were then checked to ensure that these were representative of employees at 
these levels, including on a full-time equivalent basis.

4. The Committee believes the median pay ratio for 2019 to be consistent with the pay, reward and progression policies for the Company’s 
UK employees taken as a whole as at the reference date.



90 nmcn plc Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019

REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE REPORT
The total pay and benefits and the salary component of total pay and benefits for the employee at each of the 25th percentile, the median 
and the 75th percentile are shown below:

Year

Salary
Total pay and 

benefits

25th percentile Median 75th percentile 25th percentile Median 75th percentile

2019 £26,633 £37,382 £41,372 £32,461 £38,504 £51,733

Relative spend on pay
The table below shows the total cost of remuneration in the Group, compared with the dividends distributed.

 

Year ended
31 December

2019
£000

Year ended
31 December 

2018
£000 Change

Aggregate employee remuneration 84,867 78,633 7.9%
Equity dividends* 937 1,824 -48.6%

* The decrease in equity dividends has arisen due to the Board's decision to defer the payment of a final dividend in relation to 2019, see page 100.

Statement of voting at AGM
The Company remains committed to ongoing shareholder dialogue and takes an active interest in voting outcomes. Where there are 
substantial votes against resolutions in relation to Executive Directors’ remuneration, the Company will seek to understand the reasons for any 
such vote, and will detail here any actions in response to it.

The following table shows the results of the advisory vote on the 2018 Directors’ Remuneration Report and the binding vote on the Directors’ 
Remuneration Policy at the 2019 Annual General Meeting:

NUMBER OF VOTES
Votes in 

Favour
Votes

Against
Votes

Withheld

Remuneration Report (2019 AGM) 6,116,357 
(99.6%)

9,717 
(0.4%)

17,068 

Directors’ Remuneration Policy (2019 AGM) 6,116,357 
(99.6%)

9,717 
(0.4%)

17,068 

Unaudited information
Remuneration Committee
The members of the Remuneration Committee (all of whom are independent Non-Executive Directors) are:

• Ian Elliott (Chairman);

• David Rogers;

• Mike Holt; and

• Margaret Amos. 

The Committee’s principal responsibilities are:

• Recommending to the Board the remuneration strategy and framework for the Executive Directors and senior managers;

• Determining, within that framework, the individual remuneration arrangements for the Executive Directors and senior managers; and

• Overseeing any major changes in employee benefit structures throughout the Group.

The Committee met on five occasions during the year, and two occasions after the year-end.

Robert Moyle and John Homer are invited to attend meetings of the Committee, except when their own remuneration is being discussed, 
Daniel Taylor attends as secretary except when his own remuneration is being discussed and other Executives attend meetings as required.

The Committee has formal terms of reference which can be viewed on the Company’s website.
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At our People Forum in February 2020, the Company pay structure and policy for the Group was included as an agenda item. The structure 
was explained, with relevant reasoning to the members and they were invited to raise any questions or concerns. Items were raised as part of 
this consultation around Company pay policy in general, but none in relation to the main Board.

During the year, the Committee considered its obligations under the UK Corporate Governance Code and concluded that:

• the Directors’ Remuneration Policy supports the Company’s strategy (including in the performance measures chosen); and

• remuneration for our Directors remains appropriate.

In addition, the Committee has ensured that the Directors’ Remuneration Policy and practices are consistent with the six factors set out in 
Provision 40 of the Corporate Governance Code: 

Clarity – Our Directors’ Remuneration Policy is well understood by our senior executive team and has been clearly articulated to our 
shareholders

Simplicity – The Committee is mindful of the need to avoid overly complex remuneration structures, which can be misunderstood and 
deliver unintended outcomes. Therefore, a key objective of the Committee is to ensure that our Directors’ Remuneration Policy and 
practices are straightforward to communicate and operate 

Risk – Our Directors’ Remuneration Policy has been designed to ensure that inappropriate risk-taking is discouraged and will not be 
rewarded via (i) the balanced use of both annual incentives and long term incentives which employ a blend of financial, non-financial and 
shareholder return targets, (ii) the significant role played by shares in our incentive plans and (iii) malus/clawback provisions within all our 
incentive plans

Predictability – Our incentive plans are subject to individual caps, with our share plans also subject to market standard dilution limits. 
The weighting towards use of shares within our incentive plans means that actual pay outcomes are highly aligned to the experience of 
our shareholders

Proportionality – There is a clear link between individual awards, delivery of strategy and our long term performance. In addition, the 
structure of the Executive Directors’ service contracts, ensures that poor performance is not rewarded

Alignment to culture – Our executive pay policies are fully aligned to nmcn’s culture through the use of metrics in both the annual bonus 
and PSP that measure how we perform against key aspects of our strategy, which has the objective of constructing a sustainable and 
growing business through good leadership and effective communication

Advisers
FIT Remuneration Consultants LLP (FIT), signatories to the Remuneration Consultants Group’s Code of Conduct, continued to provide 
advice to the Committee on all matters relating to remuneration, including best practice. FIT provided no other services to the Group and, 
accordingly, the Committee is satisfied that the advice provided by FIT is objective and independent. FIT’s fees in respect of 2019 were 
£25,549.20 (ex VAT). FIT’s fees were charged on the basis of the firm’s standard terms of business for advice provided.

Implementation of Policy in 2020
Executive Directors
Base salary
Base salaries for the Executive Directors for 2020 will be as follows:

• Robert Moyle – £343,119

• John Homer – £327,283

• Daniel Taylor – £190,035

• Andy Langman – £185,000

Andy Langman's salary has been adjusted to reflect additional responsibilities following Stuart Proud's retirement. All other increases are in 
line with the range of increases awarded to staff throughout the business. However, as announced on 14 April 2020, we have implemented a 
temporary and voluntary reduction in the base salary of the Executive Directors of 20% and a 10% reduction for the senior management team 
(effective 1 April 2020).

Pension
• Contributions rates for Executive Directors for 2020 will be 15% of salary.

Benefits
• Details of the benefits received by Executive Directors are set out on pages 84 to 86.

• There is no current intention to introduce additional benefits in 2020. Executive Directors' car allowances have been increased from £12.5k 
to £15k.
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Annual Bonus Plan
• While the overall Annual Bonus Plan maximum is 75% of base salary, in 2020 no bonus will be paid in excess of 60% of salary (save where 

exceptional performance makes it appropriate to pay a higher bonus up to, but not exceeding, the 75% plan maximum).

• The bonus payable to the Executive Directors for 2020 will be based on adjusted PBT targets as to a maximum of 50% of base salary and 
strategic targets as to 10% of base salary. For the achievement of a target level of adjusted PBT, a bonus of 30% of salary will be payable. 
For achieving a stretch level of adjusted PBT, a bonus of 50% of salary will be payable. Up to 10% of base salary will be payable based on 
achievement against strategic targets, which will be disclosed in the 2020 Directors’ Remuneration Report. For John Homer and Daniel 
Taylor, the financial portion of their annual bonus is payable entirely by reference to Group adjusted PBT. Andy Langman, who from 1 
January 2020 assumes the role of Chief Operating Officer for the Water business segment, a portion of his bonus is payable on the Water 
business segment profits as well as Group adjusted PBT and strategic performance. As Chairman, Robert Moyle will not participate in the 
annual bonus scheme for 2020.

• Given the competitive nature of the Company’s sector, both the specific adjusted PBT targets and the strategic targets for the 2020 
Annual Bonus Plan are considered to be commercially sensitive and accordingly will not be disclosed until such time as the Committee 
believes them no longer commercially sensitive.

• For the purposes of assessing performance against the adjusted PBT targets, the Committee may exclude the impact of any material 
one-off/non-recurring/‘exceptional’ items which may be potentially PBT-enhancing and will determine, acting fairly and reasonably, how to 
treat any such items that may negatively impact PBT.

Performance Share Plan
As disclosed in the Remuneration Committee Chairman’s letter introducing the Directors’ Remuneration Report, the grant of PSP awards to 
Executive Directors in 2020 has been delayed and will be considered later in the year. 

All appropriate disclosures regarding the terms of these awards (such as the number of award shares and the share prices used to determine 
this, and the performance vesting conditions to be applied) will be made in the related RNS announcement when the PSP awards are made.

Non-Executive Directors
The Non-Executive Directors’ fees for 2020 will be £42,230, and they have been invited to join the Company’s private medical scheme.

This report was reviewed and approved by the Board on 22 April 2020 and signed on its behalf by order of the Board.

Ian Elliott
Non-Executive Director, and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
22 April 2020



93STRATEGIC REPORT OUR GOVERNANCE OUR FINANCIALSOUR GOVERNANCEOVERVIEW

Part B: Directors’ Remuneration Policy
This Part B sets out for shareholders’ information our Directors’ Remuneration Policy as approved by shareholders at our 2019 AGM.

It is not subject to approval by shareholders at our 2020 AGM.

Policy Table
The following table summarises the key features of our Directors’ Remuneration Policy. The policy has been developed mindful of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code and is felt to be appropriate to support the long term success of the Company, whilst ensuring that it does not 
promote inappropriate risk-taking.

Element and 
purpose Policy and operation Maximum Performance measures Changes

Executive Directors

Base salary

This is the core 
element of pay 
and reflects the 
individual’s role and 
position within the 
Group with some 
adjustment to reflect 
their capability and 
contribution.

Base salaries will be reviewed each 
year by the Committee.

Base salary is paid monthly through 
the payroll.

The Executive Directors’ 
salaries will not be increased 
so as to exceed the median 
for the equivalent roles in 
companies listed in the FTSE 
SmallCap Index. Normally, 
Executive Directors’ base 
salaries will not be increased 
by more than the average 
awarded to staff. However, 
during the life of this policy 
it may be necessary to make 
higher increases to bring the 
Executive Directors’ salaries 
closer to an appropriate 
market rate, and/or to reflect 
(i) an increase in scope of 
role/responsibilities, (ii) any 
changes to other elements 
of an Executive Director’s 
package.

N/A No 
material 
changes

Benefits

To provide benefits 
valued by recipients.

The Executive Directors receive 
private health care cover, 
independent financial advice, a 
company car or car allowance and a 
company fuel card.

The Committee reserves discretion 
to introduce new benefits where it 
concludes that it is appropriate to 
do so, having regard to the particular 
circumstances and to market 
practice.

Where appropriate, the Company 
will meet certain costs relating to 
Executive Director relocations.

It is not possible to prescribe 
the likely change in the cost 
of insured benefits or the cost 
of some of the other reported 
benefits year-to-year, but 
the provision of benefits will 
operate within an annual limit 
of £50,000 per Executive (plus 
a further 100% of base salary 
in the case of relocations). 
Relocation payments would 
be made only in the year 
of relocation (and/or the 
following financial year).

The Committee will monitor 
the costs of benefits in 
practice and will ensure 
that the overall costs do 
not increase by more than 
the Committee considers 
appropriate in all the 
circumstances.

N/A No 
material 
changes
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Element and 
purpose Policy and operation Maximum Performance measures Changes

Pension 

To provide 
retirement benefits.

Executive Directors can receive 
pension contributions to personal 
pension arrangements or, if a 
Director is impacted by annual 
or lifetime limits on contribution 
levels to qualifying pension plans, 
the balance can be paid as a cash 
supplement and/or consolidated 
into base salary.

The maximum employer’s 
contribution is limited to up to 
15% of base salary.

N/A No 
material 
changes

Annual Bonus Plan

To motivate 
Executives and 
incentivise delivery 
of performance over 
a one-year operating 
cycle, focusing on 
the short to medium 
term elements of our 
strategic aims.

Annual Bonus Plan levels and the 
appropriateness of measures 
are reviewed annually at the 
commencement of each financial 
year to ensure they continue to 
support our strategy. 

Once set, performance measures 
and targets will generally remain 
unchanged for the year, except to 
reflect events such as corporate 
acquisitions or other major 
transactions where the Committee 
considers it to be necessary in 
its opinion to make appropriate 
adjustments. 

Annual Bonus Plan outcomes 
are paid in cash following the 
determination of achievement 
against performance measures and 
targets, albeit that a portion of the 
bonus can be deferred and payable 
a year later. 

Clawback/malus provisions apply to 
the Annual Bonus Plan as explained 
in more detail in the relevant note to 
the policy table.

The maximum annual bonus 
that can be earned is 75% of 
base salary for the duration 
of this policy. To the extent 
that the actual maximum 
bonus opportunity in any 
year was less than 75%, the 
Committee can in exceptional 
circumstances agree to pay a 
higher bonus than originally 
contemplated up to (but not 
exceeding) the overriding 75% 
salary cap. 

The performance measures applied 
may be financial or non-financial and 
corporate, divisional or individual and 
in such proportions as the Committee 
considers appropriate. 

The Committee’s current intention 
is that, for a threshold target level of 
performance, a bonus of up to 40% 
of salary can be paid. The Annual 
Bonus Plan remains a discretionary 
arrangement and the Committee retains 
a standard power to apply its judgement 
to adjust the outcome of the Annual 
Bonus Plan for any performance measure 
(from zero to any cap) should it consider 
that to be appropriate. Further details 
of measures, their weighting and targets 
will be disclosed in the relevant Annual 
Report on Remuneration.

No 
material 
changes
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Element and 
purpose Policy and operation Maximum Performance measures Changes

Long Term 
Incentives

Provided under 
the Performance 
Share Plan (“PSP”), 
to motivate and 
incentivise delivery 
of sustained 
performance and 
alignment with 
shareholders.

The primary ongoing long term 
incentive plan is the Performance 
Share Plan. Awards can be granted 
as conditional shares or a nil/nominal 
cost option, vesting subject to 
the achievement of three-year 
performance conditions. Awards can 
be satisfied by shares and/or cash.

From 2019, new awards are subject 
to an additional two-year holding 
period following the end of the 
three-year performance period.

A payment equivalent to the 
dividends that would have accrued 
on the number of shares that vest 
may be made to participants on 
vesting, as cash or shares.

PSP awards are subject to clawback/
malus provisions described more 
fully in the relevant note to the 
policy table.

Awards over shares worth 
up to 100% of salary can 
be granted each year (or 
such higher number as 
the Committee considers 
appropriate in exceptional 
circumstances, up to a 
maximum of 200%). Details 
of any awards granted in a 
year will be disclosed in the 
relevant Annual Report on 
Remuneration.

The Committee may set such 
performance conditions on PSP awards 
as it considers appropriate (whether 
financial or non-financial and whether 
corporate, divisional or individual).

Once set, performance measures 
and targets will generally remain 
unaltered unless events occur which, 
in the Committee’s opinion, make it 
appropriate to substitute, vary or waive 
the performance conditions in such 
manner as the Committee thinks fit.

Performance periods may be over such 
periods as the Committee selects at 
grant, which will not be less than (but 
may be longer than) three years.

The Committee retains a standard 
power to apply its judgement to adjust 
the outcome of any performance 
measure for the Performance Share Plan 
(from zero to any cap) should it consider 
that to be appropriate.

No more than 25% of awards may vest 
for attaining the threshold level of 
performance for any condition. Further 
details of measures, their weighting and 
targets will be disclosed in the relevant 
Annual Report on Remuneration.

No 
material 
changes

All-employee  
Share Plans

To encourage share 
ownership by 
employees, thereby 
allowing them to 
share in the long 
term success of the 
Group and align their 
interests with those 
of the shareholders.

The Company operates an HMRC-
approved Share Incentive Plan 
which follows the usual form for 
such plans.

Executive Directors are able to 
participate in the plan on the same 
terms as other Group employees.

The maximum participation 
levels for the plan are set by 
HMRC from time to time.

Consistent with normal practice, such 
awards are not subject to performance 
conditions.

No 
material 
changes
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Element and 
purpose Policy and operation Maximum Performance measures Changes

Non-Executive Directors

Non-Executive 
Director Fees

To enable the 
Company to recruit 
and retain Non-
Executive Directors 
of the highest calibre, 
at the appropriate 
cost.

The fees paid to Non-Executive 
Directors aim to be competitive 
with other fully listed companies of 
equivalent size and complexity.

The fees payable to the Non-
Executive Directors are determined 
by the Board.

In the normal course, Non-Executive 
Directors will not be granted awards 
under any incentive arrangements.

The Company reserves the right to 
provide benefits (including travel 
and office support) within the 
prescribed limits.

Fees are paid monthly 
through payroll.

The aggregate fees (and 
any benefits) of the Non-
Executive Directors will not 
exceed £250,000 in aggregate. 
For the avoidance of doubt, 
the amount stated above 
excludes any fees payable to 
the Chairman for the duration 
of this policy.

Any increases actually made 
will be appropriately disclosed.

N/A No 
material 
changes

Notes to the policy table:
Malus and clawback (for information and not part of 
the Directors’ Remuneration Policy)
Malus (being the forfeiture of any deferred element of incentive 
pay, including PSP awards) and clawback (being the ability of the 
Company to claim repayment (as a debt) of any net element of 
incentive pay previously paid) provisions can be applied by the 
Committee. If the Committee becomes aware that the financial (or 
other) results that they used to determine an incentive payout were 
incorrect, which resulted in an overpayment and/or if the Committee 
becomes aware of an act or omission by an Executive Director that 
justifies (or would, at the time, have justified) summary dismissal, 
the Committee can apply malus and/or clawback. The period for 
clawback is up to three years from vesting of the PSP award or the 
payment of a bonus.

Stating maximum amounts for the  
Remuneration Policy
The DRR Regulations and related investor guidance encourages 
companies to disclose a cap within which each element of the 
Directors’ Remuneration Policy will operate. Where maximum 
amounts for elements of remuneration have been set within the 
above, these will operate simply as caps and are not indicative of any 
aspiration.

Travel and hospitality
While the Committee does not consider travel and hospitality 
to form part of benefits in the normal usage of that term, it has 
been advised that corporate hospitality (whether paid for by 
the Company or another party) and business travel for Directors 
(and exceptionally their families) may technically come within the 
applicable rules and so the Committee expressly reserves the right 
for the Committee to authorise such activities within its agreed 
policies.

Differences between the policy on remuneration for 
Directors from the policy on remuneration of other 
employees
While the appropriate benchmarks vary by role, the Company seeks 
to apply the philosophy behind this policy across the Company as a 
whole. Where the Company’s pay policy for Directors differs from 
its pay policies for groups of employees, this reflects the appropriate 
market rate for the relevant roles. The Company takes into account 
pay levels and bonus opportunities applied across the Group as a 
whole when setting the Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy.

Outstanding obligations
The Company will honour any commitments entered into prior to 
the approval and introduction of this policy, including obligations 
entered into under prior policies.

Pension contributions
An Executive Director may elect to surrender salary or annual 
bonus outcomes in return for additional contributions to pension 
arrangements being made by the Company on their behalf. Any such 
amounts surrendered are regarded as part of the original pay element 
for the purposes of this policy rather than as amounts counting 
towards the maximum employer’s pension contribution stated in the 
table above. If the Company elects to increase the additional pension 
contribution to reflect any related employer’s NICs saving, any such 
increases to reflect employer’s NICs will be regarded as additional 
employer’s pension contributions for the purposes of this policy.
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Committee discretions
The Committee will operate the Annual Bonus Plan and PSP 
according to their respective rules and the above policy table. The 
Committee retains discretion, consistent with market practice, in a 
number of respects, in relation to the operation and administration 
of these plans.

These discretions include, but are not limited to, the following:

• The timing of grant of an award/bonus opportunity;

• The size of an award/bonus opportunity subject to the 
maximum limits set out in the policy table;

• The determination of performance against targets and resultant 
vesting/bonus payouts;

• Discretion required when dealing with a change of control or 
restructuring of the Group;

• Determination of the treatment of leavers based on the rules of 
the plan and the appropriate treatment chosen;

• Adjustments required in certain circumstances (e.g. rights issues, 
corporate restructuring events and special dividends); and

• The annual review of performance measures, weightings and 
targets from year to year.

In addition, while performance measures and targets used in the 
Annual Bonus Plan and PSP will generally remain unaltered, if events 
occur which, in the Committee’s opinion, would make a different or 
amended target a fairer measure of performance, such amended or 
different target can be set provided that the new target must, in the 
Committee’s opinion, be appropriate in maintaining the integrity of 
the original award.

Any use of these discretions would, where relevant, be explained in 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and may, where appropriate 
and practicable, be the subject of consultation with the Company’s 
major shareholders.

Share ownership guidelines
Any vested shares under the proposed new Performance Share Plan 
must (unless the Remuneration Committee determines otherwise) 
be retained unless/until the Executive Director holds shares worth at 
least 100% of salary.
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Recruitment remuneration policy
The Company’s recruitment remuneration policy aims to give the 
Committee sufficient flexibility to secure the appointment and 
promotion of high-calibre Executives to strengthen the management 
team and secure the skill sets to deliver our strategic aims. The main 
features of this policy are described below.

In terms of the principles for setting a package for a new Executive 
Director, the starting point for the Committee will be to apply the 
general policy for Executive Directors as set out above and structure 
a package in accordance with that policy. Consistent with the DRR 
Regulations, the caps contained within the policy for fixed pay do not 
apply to new recruits, although the Committee would not envisage 
exceeding these caps in practice.

The Annual Bonus Plan and PSP will operate (including the maximum 
award levels) as detailed in the general policy in relation to any 
newly appointed Executive Director. For an internal appointment, 
any variable pay element awarded in respect of the prior role may 
either continue on its original terms or be adjusted to reflect the new 
appointment as appropriate.

For external and internal appointments, the Committee may 
agree that the Company will meet certain relocation expenses as it 
considers appropriate. For external candidates, it may be necessary 
to make additional awards in connection with the recruitment to buy 
out awards forfeited by the individual on leaving a previous employer.

For the avoidance of doubt, buyout awards are not subject to a 
formal cap. Any awards to a newly recruited Director which are not 
buyouts will be subject to the limits for Annual Bonus Plan and PSP as 
stated in the general policy.

For any buyouts the Company will not pay more than is, in the view 
of the Committee, necessary and will in all cases seek, in the first 
instance, to deliver any such awards under the terms of the existing 
Annual Bonus Plan and PSP. It may, however, be necessary in some 
cases to make buyout awards on terms that are more bespoke than 
the existing Annual Bonus Plan or PSP (e.g. structure awards that 
may pay out over multi-year periods).

All buyouts, whether under the Annual Bonus Plan, PSP or otherwise, 
will take account of the service obligations and performance 
requirements for any remuneration relinquished by the individual 
when leaving a previous employer. The Committee will seek to make 
buyouts subject to what are, in its opinion, comparable requirements 
in respect of service and performance. However, the Committee may 
choose to relax this requirement in certain cases (such as where the 
service and/or performance requirements are materially completed, 
or where such factors are, in the view of the Committee, reflected 
in some other way, such as a significant discount to the face value of 
the awards forfeited) and where the Committee considers it to be in 
the interests of shareholders. Exceptionally, where necessary, such 
buyouts may include a guaranteed or non-prorated annual bonus in 
the year of joining.

A new Non-Executive Director would be recruited on the same terms 
as explained above in respect of the main policy for such Directors.

Service contracts
None of the Executive Directors has a service contract which 
exceeds one year. The current notice periods are six months for all 
Executives. Copies of these contracts are kept at the Company’s 
registered office.

The Non-Executive Directors have letters of appointment. They 
are engaged for specific terms and their reappointment will not be 
automatic.

The date of each Executive Director’s contract is:

Name Date of latest contract

R Moyle March 2015
J Homer June 2016
DA Taylor February 2020
A Langman January 2018
DS Proud* March 2015

* DS Proud retired from the Board on 11 December 2019.

REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE REPORT
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Termination policy summary
The Committee will consider treatments on a termination having 
regard to all of the relevant facts and circumstances available at 
that time, the provisions of service contracts and the terms of any 
incentive arrangement. This policy applies both to any negotiations 
linked to notice periods on a termination and any treatments that 
the Committee may choose to apply under the discretions available 
to it under the terms of the Annual Bonus Plan, PSP or other 
incentive arrangements.

Under the PSP, if, during the performance or vesting period, a 
participant:

i. resigns or is dismissed, awards normally lapse in full;

ii. ceases to be employed due to death, injury, ill health, disability, 
redundancy, retirement, the participant’s employing company 
or employing part of a business being sold out of the Group 
or for any other reason the Committee determines, awards 
are retained and vest in the normal course subject to the 
performance conditions, or, if the Committee so decides, 
immediately on the participant ceasing to be in employment. 
Awards will be prorated by reference to the proportion of 
the performance period for which the participant remained 
employed, unless the Committee determines otherwise. The 
holding period will normally continue to apply.

The Company has the power to enter into settlement agreements 
with Directors and to pay compensation to settle potential legal 
claims. In addition, and consistent with market practice, in the 
event of the termination of an Executive Director, the Company 
may make a contribution towards that individual’s legal fees and 
fees for outplacement services as part of a negotiated settlement. 
Any such fees will be disclosed as part of the detail of termination 
arrangements. For the avoidance of doubt, the policy does not 
include an explicit cap on the cost of termination payments.

External appointments
The Company’s policy is to permit an Executive Director to serve as 
a non-executive director elsewhere when this does not conflict with 
the individual’s duties to the Company. Where an Executive Director 
takes such a role, whether they are entitled to retain any fees which 
they earn from that appointment will be considered on a case-
by-case basis. No Executive Directors currently hold any external 
appointments.

Statement of consideration of employment 
conditions elsewhere in the Group
Pay and employment conditions generally in the Group are taken 
into account when setting Executive Directors’ remuneration. The 
Committee receives regular updates on overall pay and conditions 
in the Group, including (but not limited to) changes in base pay 
and any staff bonus pools in operation. There is also oversight of 
the all-employee share schemes which Executive Directors and all 
other Group employees can participate in on the same terms and 
conditions.

Reflecting standard practice, the Company did not consult with 
employees in drawing up this Remuneration Report.

Statement of consideration of shareholder views
The Committee ensures that its major shareholders are consulted 
in advance of any material changes in Executive pay practices at 
the Company. The Committee also considers any feedback which it 
receives from its shareholders in relation to remuneration.

Illustration of Remuneration Policy
Charts were prepared to show the implementation of the policy in 
the financial statements for 31 December 2018.



100 nmcn plc Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019

DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT
The Directors present their Annual Report and audited financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Corporate Governance Statement approved by the Board is 
provided on pages 70 to 75 and incorporated by reference herein.

Results
The results of the Group for the year are as follows:

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Restated

Operating profit 7,670 6,162
Net finance costs (229) (154)
Profit before tax 7,441 6,008
Tax (1,529) (1,187)
Profit after tax 5,912 4,821

Dividends
Details of dividends paid during the year of 9.0p (2018: 6.0p per 
ordinary share) are set out in Note 13. As part of a review of capital 
allocation across the business, and recognising the uncertainties 
posed by the COVID-19 crisis, in particular the possibility of 
further restrictions or extended time frames, the Board will not be 
recommending a final dividend for 2019 (2018: 12p). The Board is 
very mindful of the importance of dividends to all shareholders and, 
should circumstances permit, a special interim dividend may be 
made later this year.

The Board’s strategy is to return to a steady attractive dividend 
and as such would expect to pay no less than 33% of all profits 
after tax back to its shareholders. If possible, the Board should 
review payments up to 50% of profit after tax each year, subject 
to the Group’s growth profile, its balance sheet strength, cash flow 
forecasts and other investment opportunities that would ultimately 
achieve higher returns for its shareholders.

Therefore, dividends each year to be reviewed by the Board are 
between 33% and 50% of profit after tax giving dividend cover of 
between two and three times, unless specific conditions exist.

Any dividends paid outside of these parameters would be deemed 
exceptional by the Board, and explained accordingly.

Directors and Board meetings
The Directors of the Company who served during the year are as 
shown on pages 68 and 69. In addition, Stuart Proud served as a 
Director until 11 December 2019.

In accordance with the Articles of Association and the Group’s 
commitment to following applicable governance requirements, all 
Directors offer themselves for re-election.

The Board agreed all other external appointments of Directors during 
the year.

Significant shareholdings
10p ordinary shares as at 31 March 2020:

2019 
no. of shares

2018
no. of shares

Mr PR Wood and Mr WEC 
Cursham (see Note 31) 818,174 836,174
Mrs D Hutchinson, Mr IB Speke 
and Mr MS Garratt  
(see Note 31) 3,271,716 3,249,716
Mr R Moyle, Mrs AEF Moyle and 
Mr RL Symington (see Note 31) 691,860 691,860
Link Market Services Trustees 
Limited 479,322 476,976
TWG Charlton 952,500 952,500

Apart from these and the Directors’ holdings already shown, the 
Directors are not aware of any other holding which exceeds 3% of 
the issued share capital.

Charitable donations
The Group made charitable donations totalling £36,000 during the 
year (2018: £32,000). These donations were made to 99 beneficiaries.

Diversity and inclusivity
The Group is committed to providing opportunities for people with 
disabilities to enter employment, develop and progress within the 
organisation. This not only benefits the individuals but also the 
Group and community as a whole. In addition to complying with the 
requirements of the Equality Act 2010, it is also congruent with the 
Group’s diversity principles and allows greater exposure of staff to 
work with a range of different people from different backgrounds. 

When an employee becomes disabled in the course of their 
employment, reasonable steps will be taken to accommodate their 
disability by considering adjustments to working practices and 
arrangements, or as relevant.

Moreover, the Group utilises the following: biannual leadership 
briefings where feedback and interaction are encouraged, quarterly 
company magazine, weekly newsletters, daily articles promoting 
business and social discussions, and utilising a digital platform with 
the capability to feature regular polls and surveys.

Greenhouse gas emission
Details of our emissions during the year are set out on pages 56 and 
57, and form part of the Directors’ Report disclosures.

Market value of shares at 31 March 1982
For Capital Gains Tax purposes, the market value of the ordinary 
shares of 10p in the Company as at 31 March 1982 was 6.563 pence 
per share.
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Auditor and disclosure of information  
to Auditor
Each Director has taken steps that they ought to have taken as a 
Director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the Company’s Auditor is aware 
of that information. The Directors confirm that there is no relevant 
information that they know of which the Auditor is unaware of.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance 
with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Share capital
Details of the issued share capital of the Company are set out in 
Note 21.

During the year the Company purchased 42,500 ordinary shares of 
10p each in the Company at a cost of £218,125 (excluding purchasing 
costs) and representing 0.41% of the issued share capital. This is the 
maximum number of shares held in treasury by the Company during 
the year and no shares have been disposed of.

The Directors believe that it would be advantageous to the Company 
to have more flexibility as regards the shares in the Company. 
The Directors have, therefore, decided to request shareholders 
to confer the authorities as detailed below. The Directors will be 
voting in favour of the proposed Resolutions in respect of their own 
shareholdings in the Company, and they recommend that you vote 
in favour of the Resolutions.

Authority to Allot Equity Securities 
(Resolution 5)
Generally, the Directors may only allot shares in the Company (or 
grant rights to subscribe for, or to convert any security into, shares in 
the Company) if they have been authorised to do so by shareholders.

If passed, Resolution 5 will authorise the Directors to allot shares in 
the Company (and to grant rights to subscribe for, or to convert any 
security into, shares in the Company) up to an aggregate nominal 
amount of £50,750 (which represents approximately 5% of the 
Company’s issued share capital as at 22 April 2020, being the last 
practicable date before the publication of this document).

If given, this authority will expire at the conclusion of the Company’s 
next Annual General Meeting, or 15 months from the passing of the 
Resolution (whichever is earlier). It is the Directors’ intention to renew 
the allotment authority each year.

There are no present plans to exercise this authority.

Disapplication of pre-emption rights 
(Resolution 6)
Resolution 6, if passed, would enable the Directors to allot shares for 
cash on a non pre-emptive basis up to an aggregate nominal amount 
of £50,750 (which represents approximately 5% of the Company’s 
issued share capital as at 22 April 2020), without having to first offer 
them to shareholders in proportion to their existing holdings. This 
limit is in line with the guidelines issued by the pre-emption group.

If given, this authority will expire at the conclusion of the Company’s 
next Annual General Meeting, or 15 months from the passing of the 
Resolution (whichever is earlier). It is the Directors’ intention to renew 
this authority each year.

There are no present plans to exercise this authority.

Authority to purchase ordinary shares 
(Resolution 7)
Resolution 7 will be proposed as a Special Resolution to give the 
Company authority to purchase its own shares in the market during 
the period until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company 
for up to 1,000,000 shares, representing approximately 10% of the 
issued ordinary share capital of the Company. 

The Directors have no current intention of exercising this authority 
to purchase the Company’s ordinary shares, other than to fund 
the employee share scheme and Performance Share Plan. The 
Company will only exercise this authority to make such a purchase 
in the market if the Directors consider it is in the best interests of the 
shareholders generally to do so.

The Company is permitted to hold shares it has purchased in 
treasury, as an alternative to cancelling them. Shares held in treasury 
may subsequently be cancelled, sold for cash or used to satisfy 
options exercised under any of the Company’s share schemes. Whilst 
held in treasury, the shares are not entitled to receive any dividend 
or dividend equivalent (apart from any issue of bonus shares) and 
have no voting rights. The Directors believe it is appropriate for the 
Company to have the option to hold its own shares in treasury if, at 
a future date, the Directors exercise this authority. The Directors will 
have regard to investor group guidelines that may be in force at the 
time of any such purchase, holding or resale of shares held in treasury.

If given, this authority will expire at the conclusion of the Company’s 
next Annual General Meeting, or 15 months after the passing of the 
Resolution (whichever is earlier). It is the Directors’ intention to renew 
this authority each year.

A sustainable business
We ensure our business is sustainable by taking a long term view: 
valuing our employees and addressing the direct and indirect impact 
we have on the environment. Our sustainability policies are applied 
to effect the transition of our business to a low carbon economy. 
During 2019 the Group launched its Positive Impact Plan. Further 
details are available on the Group’s website (www.nmcn.com), 
and an update given on pages 46 to 65 where a summary of future 
developments is also available.

Qualifying third party indemnity 
provisions 
During the year and up to the date of this report, qualifying third 
party indemnity insurance was maintained for the Directors. There 
was no qualifying pension scheme indemnity provision in place.

Financial instruments and risk 
management
Details regarding financial instruments are set out in Note 29 to the 
financial statements.

All Employee Share Plan
The Company’s All Employee Share Plan currently has 348 (2018: 257) 
participants. Their total holding is 479,322 (2018: 476,976) shares. 
Shares held in the All Employee Share Plan rank pari passu with the 
shares in issue and have no special voting rights.

Stakeholder Engagement
A summary of how the Group regards employee interests and 
relationships with key stakeholders and the impact of this on 
decisions is set out in the Section 172 statement on pages 72 and 73.
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DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT
Post Balance Sheet Events
On the 23 March 2020 the UK Government announced a national 
lockdown in response to the COVID-19 virus outbreak. The potential 
impact of COVID-19 on the Group's trading performance for the 
balance of 2020 remains unclear. We are experiencing disruption 
in certain areas, but where safe to do so, nmcn continues to be 
operational across many of its sectors. In Water, which accounts 
for circa two thirds of our overall revenues, we are working closely 
with our customers, across multiple business workstreams, that 
are designated by the Government to be critical to the COVID-19 
response. There is a clear commitment and ongoing demand for our 
directly delivered services.

Within the Built Environment segment, Telecommunications and 
Highways have also been designated 'critical sectors' and we remain 
operational to some degree here too, with the workforce engaged 
in all areas where we have frameworks and ongoing contractual 
requirements. Our services in Building have been disrupted with a 
temporary cessation of works at the majority of our sites. 

Where it is safe to do so, we continue to work on those projects 
that are deemed to be in areas of critical national significance to the 
COVID-19 response. Presently such activities represent about 70% of 
the workload we would normally anticipate. With the commitment 
of a highly skilled and dedicated workforce, collaborative working 
with our customers and supply chain partners, we are adjusting to 
the evolving challenges of this global event. 

The Board is confident of the Company's ability to survive the 
current challenges and to emerge as a strong contender in its chosen 
markets. We are not, however, able to quantify the likely impact on 
the 2020 full year results at this stage.

There were no further events after the balance sheet date, and up 
to and including the date of authorisation, that are required to be 
disclosed under applicable accounting standards (2018: none).

Political donations
There were no political donations made during the year (2018: none).

Directors’ Responsibilities Statement
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and 
the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements 
for each financial year. Under that law the Directors are required to 
prepare Group financial statements and have elected to prepare 
the financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. 
Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company, and of the 
profit or loss for the Group for that period. 

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent;

• state whether they have been prepared in accordance with 
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will 
continue in business; 

• prepare a Director’s Report, a Strategic Report and Director’s 
Remuneration Report, which comply with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the Company, and enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 
2006 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of 
the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. The 
Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Annual Report and 
Accounts, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced, and understandable, 
and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess 
the Group’s performance, business model and strategy.

Website publication
The Directors are responsible for ensuring the Annual Report and 
the financial statements are made available on a website. Financial 
statements are published on the Group’s website in accordance with 
legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination 
of financial statements, which may vary from legislation in other 
jurisdictions. The maintenance and integrity of the Group’s website 
is the responsibility of the Directors. The Directors’ responsibility 
also extends to the ongoing integrity of the financial statements 
contained therein.

Directors’ responsibilities pursuant to 
DTR4
The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge:

• The Group financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and Article 4 of the IAS 
Regulation, and give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and profit and loss of the Group.

• The Annual Report includes a fair review of the development and 
performance of the business and the financial position of the 
Group and the parent Company, together with a description of 
the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

By order of the Board

Daniel Taylor
Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary
22 April 2020

Nunn Close 
The County Estate 
Huthwaite 
Sutton-in-Ashfield 
Nottinghamshire NG17 2HW
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF NMCN PLC

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of nmcn plc (the “Parent Company’) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”’) for the year ended 31 
December 2019 comprising the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statements of Changes in Equity of the Group and the 
Parent Company, the Balance Sheets of the Group and Parent Company, the Statements of Cash Flows of the Group and Parent Company and 
the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted by the European Union and, 
as regards the Parent Company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2019 and 
of the Group’s profit for the year then ended;

• the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;

• the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and 
as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group 
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to principal risks, going concern and viability statement
We have nothing to report in respect of the following information in the annual report, in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to 
you whether we have anything material to add or draw attention to:

• the directors’ confirmation set out on page 38 in the annual report that they have carried out a robust assessment of the Group’s emerging 
and principal risks and the procedures in place to identify emerging risks and explain how they are being managed or mitigated;

• the directors’ statement set out on page 75 in the financial statements about whether the directors considered it appropriate to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements and the directors’ identification of any material uncertainties to 
the Group and the Parent Company’s ability to continue to do so over a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the 
financial statements;

• whether the directors’ statement relating to going concern required under the Listing Rules in accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3) is 
materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit; or

• the Directors’ explanation set out on page 39 in the annual report as to how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what 
period they have done so and why they consider that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a reasonable 
expectation that the group will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, 
including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.
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Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of 
the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified, 
including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts 
of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Recognition of revenue and attributable profit (or 
losses) on contracts and related estimates:

Refer to page 78 (Audit Committee Report) and 
notes 3 and 4 to the financial statements for the 
directors’ disclosures of the related accounting policies, 
judgements and estimates.

Revenue and attributable profit is recognised on 
the stage of completion of individual contracts and 
frameworks, calculated on the proportion of total 
costs incurred at the reporting date as compared to the 
projected total costs at completion. Expected losses 
are recognised immediately as an expense.

The extent of revenue and profit / loss recognised on 
a particular partially completed contract represents 
an area of significant judgement which involves an 
assessment of both current and future contract 
performance.

The potential outcomes for contracts can have a 
material impact on the financial statements, whether 
through error or management bias.

In view of the judgments involved, potential for 
management bias and the significance of these matters 
to the determination of Group revenue and profits, we 
consider this to be an area giving rise to a significant risk 
of material misstatements in the financial statements.

We considered whether the revenue and cost recognition policies comply with Accounting 
Standards.

We used a risk-based approach to identify a selection of contracts considered to present a 
higher risk of error, supplemented by a random sample of contracts covering all operating 
segments for detailed testing. We obtained a copy of the contract documentation and critically 
assessed and challenged the recognition of revenue and costs. The overall testing approach, and 
that applied to the contracts selected for testing, was:

• We tested the application of the revenue and cost recognition policies. 

• We challenged management’s recognition of income looking at the determination of 
performance obligations and timing of recognition of variable income, agreeing these to 
supporting documentation where appropriate.

• For a sample of contracts throughout the year we agreed revenue and costs to supporting 
documentation.

• We tested the controls governing applications for payment and recognition of contract 
assets and the application of payroll, subcontractor and purchasing costs to contracts for 
operational effectiveness throughout the year. We analysed contract assets at the year end 
together with individual contract records in order to determine that the contract estimates 
we were considering were complete.

• We assessed the contract estimates adopted by management at the year end by reference 
to external evidence, being customers’ certification of work done, management’s expert 
reports obtained by the Group, or other relevant correspondence. We considered the 
expertise and competence of those external experts.

• We carried out detailed testing of the post year end performance to corroborate estimates 
at the year end in respect of costs expected to be incurred and challenged assumptions 
which appeared inconsistent with actual post year end performance.

• We assessed the reliability of management estimates in light of the positions adopted in 
previous years compared to the actual out-turns of contracts.

• Groups of contracts negotiated as a single framework were reviewed to check that they 
were accounted for on a weighted average basis and accurately reflected the overall 
expected performance of the framework agreement.

Based on the work that we have performed we are satisfied that the judgements made by 
management in recognising accounting entries in relation to contracts are appropriate.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Recoverability of trade receivables and amounts 
recoverable under construction contracts (contract 
assets):

Refer to page 78 (Audit Committee Report) and 
notes 3 and 4 to the financial statements for the 
Directors’ disclosures of the related accounting policies, 
judgements and estimates.

This area was assessed as a key audit matter because 
construction contract assets (trade receivables, 
retention balances and amounts recoverable under 
construction contracts) may be subject to complex 
negotiated settlements or dispute.

For a sample of trade receivable and amounts recoverable under construction contracts where 
payment had been received after the year end we agreed the year end trade receivables to 
post year end receipts and customer remittances. For a sample of construction contract assets 
which were not supported by external certifications we agreed the amounts to applications 
approved by the Group’s Quantity Surveyors and where applicable, to management’s expert 
opinions as to the quantum recoverable.

If payment had not been received we inspected correspondence with the customer, including 
customer certifications of applications made for payment and customer payment history to 
assess the recoverability of the debt.

For a sample of trade receivables and construction contract balances we challenged 
management’s assessment of the recoverability in light of the supporting evidence and 
documentation available to us, including a review of legal and management’s expert reports. 

We inspected a sample of retention balances receivable and agreed the value of the retention 
to customer correspondence, identifying when the retention fell due. For a sample of 
retentions that were due for receipt, we reviewed the status of the project and considered the 
reasonableness of management’s assessment of the recoverability of those balances.

Based on the work that we have performed we consider the judgements made by management 
in respect of the recoverability of trade receivables and contract assets to be reasonable. 

Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect of misstatements. We consider 
materiality to be the magnitude by which misstatements, including omissions, could influence the economic decisions of reasonable users 
that are taken on the basis of the financial statements. In order to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that any misstatements 
exceed materiality we use a lower materiality level, performance materiality, to determine the extent of testing needed. Importantly, 
misstatements below these levels will not necessarily be evaluated as immaterial as we also take account of the nature of identified 
misstatements and the particular circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their effect on the financial statements as a whole.

We determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole to be £519,000 (2018 - £300,000) for the Group and £482,000 (2018 - 
£220,000) for the Parent Company. In determining this, we based our assessment on 5% of underlying profit before tax (2018 - 5% of profit 
before tax). We believe that underlying profit before tax represents one of the principal key performance indicators for the Group and Parent 
Company.

Performance materiality was set at 70% of the above materiality levels based on our assessment of the Group’s control environment and a low 
level of expected misstatements.

Whilst materiality for the financial statements of the Group as a whole was £519,000, each component of the Group was audited to a 
lower level of materiality. Audits of the components were performed at a materiality level calculated by reference to a proportion of Group 
materiality appropriate to the relative size of the business concerned. These materiality levels ranged between £297,000 and £263,000.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report for their consideration all individual audit differences in excess of £10,000 for both 
the Group and Parent Company. We also agreed to report differences below this threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative 
grounds.

An overview of the scope of our audit
The Group audit strategy was risk based and the nature and extent of our testing was established by reference to the areas we considered 
represented a significant risk of material misstatement. In making this assessment we:

• Assessed the degree of estimation uncertainty associated with the judgements taken by the Directors during the preparation of the 
financial statements, taking into account external factors which could result in management bias. This was specifically focused on the 
extent of profit or loss recognised on contracts in progress at the reporting date. We inspected the performance of the operating divisions, 
inclusive of joint operations and selected contracts from each operating segment which we considered presented the greatest risk of 
material misstatement for detailed testing.

• Assessed the Group’s control environment and internal systems used to generate the key accounting entries for revenue, direct material 
costs, subcontractor costs, payroll, stock and contract assets.

• Reviewed the performance of the Group against our expectations based on our knowledge of the Group, other relevant sector knowledge, 
the external economic conditions and historic performance and trends.

• Considered non-routine or unusual transactions which have an inherent risk of material error.



109STRATEGIC REPORT OUR GOVERNANCE OUR FINANCIALSOVERVIEW

Our Group audit focused on the trading Parent Company, nmcn plc and trading subsidiary nmcn Sustainable Solutions Limited which were 
both subject to full scope audits by the Group audit team. These entities represent the principal business units of the Group and account for 
100% of the Group’s revenue, profit before tax and total assets.

We also gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the Group and the industry in which it operates, and 
considered the risk of acts by the Group that were contrary to applicable laws and regulations, including fraud. We designed audit procedures 
at Group and significant component level to respond to the risk, recognising that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to 
fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery 
or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. We focused on laws and regulations that could give rise to a material misstatement in 
the financial statements, including, but not limited to, the Companies Act 2006, the UK Listing Rules and UK tax legislation. Our tests included 
agreeing the financial statement disclosures to underlying supporting documentation, reviewing Board minutes, enquiries with management 
and enquiries of legal counsel. There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and, the further removed non-
compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we would become 
aware of it. We did not identify any key audit matters relating to irregularities, including fraud. We also addressed the risk of management 
override of internal controls, including testing journals and evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the Directors that represented a 
risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Other information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other 
than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information 
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

In this context, we also have nothing to report in regard to our responsibility to specifically address the following items in the other information 
and to report as uncorrected material misstatements of the other information where we conclude that those items meet the following 
conditions:

• Fair, balanced and understandable set out on page 78 – the statement given by the Directors that they consider the annual report 
and financial statements taken as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders 
to assess the Group’s position, performance, business model and strategy, is materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the 
audit; or

• Audit committee reporting set out on pages 76 to 79 – the section describing the work of the audit committee does not appropriately 
address matters communicated by us to the audit committee; or

• Directors’ statement of compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code set out on page 75 – the parts of the Directors’ 
statement required under the Listing Rules relating to the company’s compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code containing 
provisions specified for review by the auditor in accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.10R(2) do not properly disclose a departure from a relevant 
provision of the UK Corporate Governance Code.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors’ report 
for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and those reports have been 
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and its environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the Directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our 
opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by us; or

• the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors 
either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Other matters which we are required to address
Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed by the members on 14 December 2010 to audit the financial 
statements for the year ending 31 December 2010 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is 10 years, 
covering the years ending 31 December 2010 to 31 December 2019.

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the Group or the Parent Company and we remain 
independent of the Group and the Parent Company in conducting our audit.

Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Audit Committee.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Parent Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Parent Company’s members those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the Parent Company and the Parent Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions 
we have formed.

Geraint Jones (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of  
BDO LLP, Statutory auditor 
London, United Kingdom 
22 April 2020

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number OC305127).
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GROUP STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

2019
£’000

2019
£’000

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2018
£’000

2018
£’000

Notes

Total Before 
Non-

Recurring 
Items

Non-
Recurring 

Items
Note 2.4 Total

Total Before 
Non-

Recurring 
Items 

Restated*

Non-
Recurring 

Items
Note 2.4

Total 
Restated*

Revenue 6 405,408 (750) 404,658 340,450 – 340,450
Other operating income 1,190 – 1,190 1,277 – 1,277

406,598 (750) 405,848 341,727 – 341,727
Raw materials and 
consumables (71,821) – (71,821) (48,930) – (48,930)
Other direct charges (227,079) (2,198) (229,277) (195,740) (1,865) (197,605)
Employee costs 8 (84,867) – (84,867) (78,633) – (78,633)
Amortisation of intangible 
assets 15 (43) – (43) – – –
Depreciation of property, 
plant and equipment 16 (5,475) – (5,475) (4,677) – (4,677)
Other operating charges (6,695) – (6,695) (5,720) – (5,720)
Operating profit 10 10,618 (2,948) 7,670 8,027 (1,865) 6,162
Finance income 11 49 – 49 31 – 31
Finance costs 11 (278) – (278) (185) – (185)
Profit before tax 10,389 (2,948) 7,441 7,873 (1,865) 6,008
Tax 12 (2,089) 560 (1,529) (1,538) 351 (1,187)
Profit and total 
comprehensive income for 
the year 8,300 (2,388) 5,912 6,335 (1,514) 4,821
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent 8,300 5,912 6,335 4,821
Profit per share – basic 14 80.53p 57.36p 62.42p 47.50p
Profit per share – fully 
diluted 14 78.48p 55.90p 57.90p 44.06p

* Details of the restatement are presented in Note 2.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Group

Share 
Capital 

£’000

Merger 
Reserve 

£’000

Treasury 
Share 

Reserve 
£'000

Share-Based
Payment 
Reserve 

£’000

Capital 
Redemption 

Reserve 
£’000

Retained 
Earnings 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Balance at 31 December 2017 as previously 
reported 1,015 455 – – 20 11,343 12,833
Adjustment on adoption of IFRS 16 – – – – – (21) (21)
Balance at 1 January 2018 as restated 1,015 455 – – 20 11,322 12,812
Profit and total comprehensive income for 
the year as restated – – – – – 4,821 4,821
Share-based payment expense – – – 1,069 – – 1,069
Share-based payment expense 
– deferred tax – – – 381 – – 381
Dividends paid – – – – – (914) (914)
Balance at 31 December 2018 as restated 1,015 455 – 1,450 20 15,229 18,169
Profit and total comprehensive income for 
the year – – – – – 5,912 5,912
Shares issued on exercise of share options 29 – – 948 – (977) –
Tax settlement of share options – – – (1,644) – – (1,644)
Treasury shares repurchased – – (220) – – – (220)
Share-based payment expense – – – 866 – – 866
Share-based payment expense 
– current tax – – – 282 – – 282
Share-based payment expense 
– deferred tax – – – (268) – – (268)
Dividends paid – – – – – (2,151) (2,151)
Balance at 31 December 2019 1,044 455 (220) 1,634 20 18,013 20,946

Company

Share 
Capital 

£’000

Merger 
Reserve 

£’000

Treasury 
Share 

Reserve 
£'000

Share-Based
Payment 
Reserve 

£’000

Capital 
Redemption 

Reserve 
£’000

Retained 
Earnings 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Balance at 31 December 2017 as previously 
reported 1,015 455 – – 20 7,679 9,169
Adjustment on adoption of IFRS 16 – – – – – (21) (21)
Balance at 1 January 2018 as restated 1,015 455 – – 20 7,658 9,148
Profit and total comprehensive income for 
the year as restated – – – – – 4,233 4,233
Share-based payment expense – – – 1,069 – – 1,069
Share-based payment expense 
– deferred tax – – – 381 – – 381
Dividends paid – – – – – (914) (914)
Balance at 31 December 2018 as restated 1,015 455 – 1,450 20 10,977 13,917
Profit and total comprehensive income for 
the year – – – – – 5,433 5,433
Shares issued on exercise of share options 29 – – 948 – (977) –
Tax settlement of share options – – – (1,644) – – (1,644)
Treasury shares repurchased – – (220) – – – (220)
Share-based payment expense – – – 866 – – 866
Share-based payment expense 
 – current tax – – – 282 – – 282
Share-based payment expense 
 – deferred tax – – – (268) – – (268)
Dividends paid – – – – – (2,151) (2,151)
Balance at 31 December 2019 1,044 455 (220) 1,634 20 13,282 16,215
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BALANCE SHEETS
AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

Group Company

Notes

2019 
£’000 

2018
£’000 

Restated

2019 
£’000 

2018
£’000 

Restated

Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 15 2,272 – – –
Property, plant and equipment 16 28,775 22,591 27,375 22,591
Investments in subsidiaries 17 – – 4,614 2,437
Investments in joint ventures 33 – – 225 200
Deferred tax asset 25 625 902 226 795

31,672 23,493 32,440 26,023
Current assets
Inventories 18 1,805 1,791 1,248 1,287
Trade and other receivables 19 81,201 60,814 74,500 51,488
Cash and cash equivalents 20 25,814 33,353 19,785 31,358

108,820 95,958 95,533 84,133
Total assets 140,492 119,451 127,973 110,156
Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders 
of the Parent
Share capital 21 1,044 1,015 1,044 1,015
Share-based payment reserve 22 1,634 1,450 1,634 1,450
Merger reserve 22 455 455 455 455
Treasury share reserve 22 (220) – (220) –
Capital redemption reserve 22 20 20 20 20
Retained earnings 22 18,013 15,229 13,282 10,977
Total equity 20,946 18,169 16,215 13,917

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 26 6,709 2,329 6,709 2,329
Obligations under leases 23 3,677 2,032 2,529 2,032
Provisions 24 313 350 313 350

10,699 4,711 9,551 4,711
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 26 107,653 95,727 101,202 90,806
Current income tax payable 22 157 (30) 35
Obligations under leases 23 1,172 687 1,035 687
 108,847 96,571 102,207 91,528
Total liabilities 119,546 101,282 111,758 96,239
Total equity and liabilities 140,492 119,451 127,973 110,156

The Company has elected to take exemption under section 408(3) of the Companies Act 2006 to not present the Parent Company’s 
statement of comprehensive income. The profit of the Parent Company for the year was £5,433,000 (2018 restated: £4,233,000).

The notes on pages 115 to 147 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements of the Group and Company (registered number 00425188) were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 
22 April 2020 and signed on its behalf by

J Homer
Chief Executive

DA Taylor
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Group Company

Notes

2019
£’000 

2018
£’000 

Restated

2019 
£’000 

2018
£’000 

Restated

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit 7,670 6,162 6,178 4,900
Adjustment for:
Amortisation of intangible assets 15 43 – – –
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 16 5,475 4,677 5,410 4,676
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (410) (574) (410) (574)
Share-based payment expense 9 866 1,069 866 1,069
Operating cash flows before movement in working capital 13,644 11,334 12,044 10,071
Decrease in inventories 59 29 39 100
(Increase) / decrease in receivables (11,392) 1,292 (16,801) 3,228
Increase in amounts owed by joint ventures 19 (5,830) (8,479) (6,210) (8,814)
Decrease in reinstatement provision 24 (37) (54) (37) (54)
Increase in payables 4,285 19,669 7,274 17,281
Cash generated from / (used in) operations 729 23,791 (3,691) 21,812
Income tax paid (1,133) (500) (753) (87)
Net cash generated from / (used in) operations (404) 23,291 (4,444) 21,725
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,072) (3,263) (2,968) (3,263)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,062 930 1,062 930
Cash acquired through purchase of subsidiary 34 842 – – –
Investment in joint ventures 33 – – (25) (200)
Interest received 11 49 31 49 31
Dividends received from subsidiaries – – 723 422
Net cash used in investing activities (1,119) (2,302) (1,159) (2,080)
Cash flows from financing activities
Equity dividends paid 13 (2,151) (914) (2,151) (914)
Treasury shares repurchased (220) – (220) –
Proceeds from exercise of share options 29 – 29 –
Repayment of obligations under leases 23 (1,272) (491) (1,243) (491)
Repayment of obligations under financing arrangements (3,583) (3,052) (3,583) (3,052)
Proceeds from financing arrangements 1,459 – 1,459 –
Interest payable under leases 11 (132) (71) (115) (71)
Interest payable under financing arrangements 11 (139) (110) (139) (110)
Interest paid 11 (7) (4) (7) (4)
Net cash used in financing activities (6,016) (4,642) (5,970) (4,642)
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (7,539) 16,347 (11,573) 15,003
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 20 33,353 17,006 31,358 16,355
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 20 25,814 33,353 19,785 31,358
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Notes to the financial statements
nmcn PLC (the 'Company') is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The ordinary shares of the Company 
are traded on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange. The Company and its subsidiaries are referred to as 'the Group'. Information 
regarding the activities of both the Group and the Company are outlined in the Strategic Report.

The consolidated financial statements consolidate those of the Group. The Company financial statements present information about the 
Company as a separate entity and not about the Group.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and interpretations 
as adopted by the European Union and in accordance with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 that are relevant to entities reporting 
under IFRS. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis and are presented in round thousands unless otherwise noted.

Accounting standards issued but not adopted
The following new standards, amendments or interpretations applicable in future periods have not been early adopted as they are not 
expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements of the Group or the Company:

• Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards (effective 1 January 2020)

• Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations – Definition of a Business (effective 1 January 2020)

• Definition of Material – Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 (effective 1 January 2020)

2. Changes to significant accounting policies and other restatements
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Group’s and Company's financial statements in dealing with items which 
are considered material are set out in Note 3. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated.

IFRIC 23 'Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment' has been adopted by the Group and the Company for the first time in these financial 
statements. IFRIC 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects the application of 
IAS 12 'Income Taxes'. The Group and the Company have determined that they do not have any uncertain tax positions that would not be 
accepted by the tax authorities and therefore the adoption of IFRIC 23 has not had any impact in the current or prior periods on the financial 
statements of the Group or the Company.

Additionally, these are the first set of the Group’s and Company's annual financial statements where IFRS 16 Leases has been applied. The 
impact on these financial statements and the changes to the Group’s and Company's significant accounting policies are described in further 
detail below.

2.1. IFRS 16 Leases – overview
The Group has adopted IFRS 16 Leases from 1 January 2019.

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 and provides a single lease accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise right of use assets and lease liabilities in the 
balance sheet for all applicable leases. Operating lease costs previously recognised within operating profit in the statement of comprehensive 
income have been replaced by depreciation and finance costs. The adoption of IFRS 16 under the retrospective approach has affected the 
comparative information presented in the Group’s financial statements, representing an increase in gross assets and liabilities in the balance 
sheet and an increase in operating profit and finance costs in the statement of comprehensive income. The impact of the restatement on the 
prior year’s results is shown in Note 2.3.
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2. Changes to significant accounting policies and other restatements continued

2.2. IFRS 16 Leases – changes in accounting policy
The details of the new significant accounting policy and the nature of the changes to the previous accounting policy in relation to the Group’s 
adoption of IFRS 16 Leases is set out below.

 Amended Accounting Policy Nature Of Change In Accounting Policy

A The Group allocates the consideration in the contract 
to each lease component on the basis of relative stand-
alone selling prices. For each lease component, the Group 
recognises a right of use asset and a lease liability at the 
lease commencement date.

Under IAS 17, the Group previously classified leases as operating 
or finance leases based on its assessment of whether the lease 
transferred significantly all the risks and rewards of ownership 
to the Group. Under IFRS 16, the majority of the Group’s leases 
are recognised on the balance sheet within property, plant and 
equipment with a corresponding amount in lease liabilities for 
operating leases. Finance leases are shown as financing arrangements 
within trade and other payables.

B Sale and leaseback transactions under IFRS 16 are 
accounted for based upon whether the transfer qualifies 
as a sale as defined by IFRS 15. Where the transfer is not a 
sale, the buyer-lessee continues to recognise the asset on 
its balance sheet and recognises the proceeds from the 
sale and leaseback as a financial liability in accordance with 
IFRS 9. 

The Group has reclassified all assets previously recognised as finance 
leases under IAS 17 as financing arrangements accounted for in line 
with IFRS 9 as they do not fall within the scope of IFRS 16. This has been 
determined on the basis that the Group owns all assets that it finances 
and the agreement with the lender does not constitute a sale. 

Where an arrangement was treated as a finance lease under IAS 17, 
an asset was recognised within property, plant and equipment at the 
lower of fair value of the asset and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. The asset was subsequently depreciated on the 
same basis as other assets owned by the Group without recourse to 
financing arrangements. A liability equal to the initial asset value was 
recognised and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 

There is no material difference between amounts recognised for such 
arrangements following reclassification under IFRS 16.

C Lease liabilities are presented as “obligations under leases” 
in the balance sheet.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value 
of future lease payments, discounted at the interest rate 
implicit in the lease. Where the implicit interest rate cannot 
be determined, the Group discounts the future lease 
payments using its incremental borrowing rate. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

Liabilities were only recognised under IAS 17 in respect of 
arrangements classified as finance leases. This distinction no longer 
exists under IFRS 16.

Lease payments associated with operating leases were recognised 
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, with no 
amounts being recognised on the balance sheet.

D Right of use assets are presented in “property, plant and 
equipment” on the balance sheet. 

The right of use assets are initially measured at cost, 
representing the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted 
for any up-front lease payments, direct costs incurred or 
lease incentives received.

Right of use assets are subsequently depreciated in line 
with the requirements of IAS 16 Property, Plant and 
Equipment, therefore being depreciated over the lease 
term. Impairment testing is also undertaken on an annual 
basis and when indicators of impairment exist.

Assets were only recognised under IAS 17 in respect of arrangements 
classified as finance leases. This distinction no longer exists under 
IFRS 16.

E No right of use asset or lease liability is recognised in respect 
of leases with terms of 12 months or less or in relation to 
low value assets. Lease payments associated with such 
leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.

The treatment of short-term leases and leases for low-value assets is 
unchanged on adoption of IFRS 16 as all such leases were previously 
expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2.3. Impact of IFRS 16 restatement on the financial statements
The following tables summarise the impact of adopting IFRS 16 on the Group’s and Company’s financial statements, as described in notes 2.1 
and 2.2.

Impact on the Group statement of comprehensive income
Year Ended 31 December 2018

£’000 Adjustment £’000

As 
reported Note 2.2 Restated

Revenue 340,450 – 340,450
Other operating income 1,277 – 1,277

341,727 – 341,727
Raw materials and consumables (48,930) – (48,930)
Other direct charges (197,605) – (197,605)
Employee costs (78,633) – (78,633)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (4,166) (511) (4,677)
Other operating charges (6,282) 562 (5,720)
Operating profit 6,111 51 6,162
Finance income 31 – 31
Finance costs (114) (71) (185)
Profit before tax 6,028 (20) 6,008
Tax (1,191) 4 (1,187)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 4,837 (16) 4,821
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Changes to significant accounting policies and other restatements continued 

2.3. Impact of IFRS 16 restatement on the financial statements continued
Impact on the Group balance sheet

As at 1 January 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As 
reported

Adjustment
Note 2.2B

Adjustment
Note 2.2 Restated

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 18,174 – 1,409 19,583
Investments in subsidiaries – – – –
Investments in joint ventures – – – –
Deferred tax asset 1,223 – 5 1,228

19,397 – 1,414 20,811
Current assets
Inventories 1,820 – – 1,820
Trade and other receivables 53,627 – – 53,627
Cash and cash equivalents 17,006 – – 17,006

72,453 – – 72,453
Total assets 91,850 – 1,414 93,264
Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves attributable to equity 
holders of the Parent
Share capital 1,015 – – 1,015
Share-based payment reserve – – – –
Merger reserve 455 – – 455
Capital redemption reserve 20 – – 20
Retained earnings 11,343 – (21) 11,322
Total equity 12,833 – (21) 12,812

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables – 2,514 – 2,514
Obligations under leases 2,514 (2,514) 1,061 1,061
Provisions 404 – – 404

2,918 – 1,061 3,979
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 73,471 2,451 – 75,922
Current income tax payable 177 – – 177
Obligations under leases 2,451 (2,451) 374 374
 76,099 – 374 76,473
Total liabilities 79,017 – 1,435 80,452
Total equity and liabilities 91,850 – 1,414 93,264
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2.3. Impact of IFRS 16 restatement on the financial statements continued
Impact on the Group balance sheet

As at 31 December 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As 
reported

Adjustment
Note 2.2B

Adjustment
Note 2.2 Restated

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 19,918 – 2,673 22,591
Investments in subsidiaries – – – –
Investments in joint ventures – – – –
Deferred tax asset 893 – 9 902

20,811 – 2,682 23,493
Current assets
Inventories 1,791 – – 1,791
Trade and other receivables 60,814 – – 60,814
Cash and cash equivalents 33,353 – – 33,353

95,958 – – 95,958
Total assets 116,769 – 2,682 119,451
Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves attributable to equity 
holders of the Parent
Share capital 1,015 – – 1,015
Share-based payment reserve 1,450 – – 1,450
Merger reserve 455 – – 455
Capital redemption reserve 20 – – 20
Retained earnings 15,266 – (37) 15,229
Total equity 18,206 – (37) 18,169

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables – 2,329 – 2,329
Obligations under leases 2,329 (2,329) 2,032 2,032
Provisions 350 – – 350

2,679 – 2,032 4,711
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 93,140 2,587 – 95,727
Current income tax payable 157 – – 157
Obligations under leases 2,587 (2,587) 687 687
 95,884 – 687 96,571
Total liabilities 98,563 – 2,719 101,282
Total equity and liabilities 116,769 – 2,682 119,451
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2. Changes to significant accounting policies and other restatements continued 

2.3. Impact of IFRS 16 restatement on the financial statements continued
Impact on the Group statement of cash flows

As at 31 December 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £'000

As 
reported

Adjustment
Note 2.2B

Adjustment
Note 2.2 Restated

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit 6,111 – 51 6,162
Adjustment for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4,166 – 511 4,677
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (574) – – (574)
Share-based payment expense 1,069 – – 1,069
Operating cash flows before movement 
in working capital 10,772 – 562 11,334
Decrease in inventories 29 – – 29
Decrease in receivables 1,292 – – 1,292
Increase in amounts owed by joint ventures (8,479) – – (8,479)
Decrease in reinstatement provision (54) – – (54)
Increase in payables 19,669 – – 19,669
Cash generated from operations 23,229 – 562 23,791
Income tax paid (500) – – (500)
Net cash generated from operations 22,729 – 562 23,291
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,263) – – (3,263)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 930 – – 930
Investment in joint ventures – – – –
Interest received 31 – – 31
Dividends received from subsidiaries – – – –
Net cash used in investing activities (2,302) – – (2,302)
Cash flows from financing activities
Equity dividends paid (914) – – (914)
Repayment of obligations under leases (3,052) – 2,561 (491)
Repayment of obligations under financing arrangements – – (3,052) (3,052)
Interest payable under leases (110) 110 (71) (71)
Interest payable under financing arrangements – (110) – (110)
Interest paid (4) – – (4)
Net cash used in financing activities (4,080) – (562) (4,642)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 16,347 – – 16,347
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2018 17,006 – – 17,006
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2018 33,353 – – 33,353
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2.3. Impact of IFRS 16 restatement on the financial statements continued
Impact on the Company balance sheet

As at 1 January 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As 
reported

Adjustment
Note 2.2B

Adjustment
Note 2.2 Restated

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 18,173 – 1,409 19,582
Investments in subsidiaries 2,437 – – 2,437
Investments in joint ventures – – – –
Deferred tax asset 1,222 – 5 1,227

21,832 – 1,414 23,246
Current assets
Inventories 1,387 – – 1,387
Trade and other receivables 45,902 – – 45,902
Cash and cash equivalents 16,355 – – 16,355

63,644 – – 63,644
Total assets 85,476 – 1,414 86,890
Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves attributable to equity  
holders of the Parent
Share capital 1,015 – – 1,015
Share-based payment reserve – – – –
Merger reserve 455 – – 455
Capital redemption reserve 20 – – 20
Retained earnings 7,679 – (21) 7,658
Total equity 9,169 – (21) 9,148

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables – 2,514 – 2,514
Obligations under leases 2,514 (2,514) 1,061 1,061
Provisions 404 – – 404

2,918 – 1,061 3,979
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 70,938 2,451 – 73,389
Current income tax payable – – – –
Obligations under leases 2,451 (2,451) 374 374
 73,389 – 374 73,763
Total liabilities 76,307 – 1,435 77,742
Total equity and liabilities 85,476 – 1,414 86,890
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2. Changes to significant accounting policies and other restatements continued 

2.3. Impact of IFRS 16 restatement on the financial statements continued
Impact on the Company balance sheet

As at 31 December 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As 
reported

Adjustment
Note 2.2B

Adjustment
Note 2.2 Restated

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 19,918 – 2,673 22,591
Investments in subsidiaries 2,437 – – 2,437
Investments in joint ventures 200 – – 200
Deferred tax asset 786 – 9 795

23,341 – 2,682 26,023
Current assets
Inventories 1,287 – – 1,287
Trade and other receivables 51,488 – – 51,488
Cash and cash equivalents 31,358 – – 31,358

84,133 – – 84,133
Total assets 107,474 – 2,682 110,156
Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves attributable to equity  
holders of the Parent
Share capital 1,015 – – 1,015
Share-based payment reserve 1,450 – – 1,450
Merger reserve 455 – – 455
Capital redemption reserve 20 – – 20
Retained earnings 11,014 – (37) 10,977
Total equity 13,954 – (37) 13,917

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables – 2,329 – 2,326
Obligations under leases 2,329 (2,329) 2,032 2,032
Provisions 350 – – 350

2,679 – 2,032 4,711
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 88,219 2,587 – 90,806
Current income tax payable 35 – – 35
Obligations under leases 2,587 (2,587) 687 687
 90,841 – 687 91,528
Total liabilities 93,520 – 2,719 96,239
Total equity and liabilities 107,474 – 2.682 110,156
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2.3. Impact of IFRS 16 restatement on the financial statements continued

Impact on the Company statement of cash flows
As at 31 December 2018

£’000 £’000 £'000 £’000

As 
reported

Adjustment
Note 2.2B

Adjustment 
Note 2.2 Restated

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit 4,849 – 51 4,900
Adjustment for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4,165 – 511 4,676
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (574) – – (574)
Share-based payment expense 1,069 – – 1,069
Operating cash flows before movement  
in working capital 9,509 – 562 10,071
Decrease in inventories 100 – – 100
Decrease in receivables 3,228 – – 3,228
Increase in amounts owed by joint ventures (8,814) – – (8,814)
Decrease in reinstatement provision (54) – – (54)
Increase in payables 17,281 – – 17,281
Cash generated from operations 21,250 – 562 21,812
Income tax paid (87) – – (87)
Net cash generated from operations 21,163 – 562 21,725
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,263) – – (3,263)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 930 – – 930
Investment in joint ventures (200) – – (200)
Interest received 31 – – 31
Dividends received from subsidiaries 422 – – 422
Net cash used in investing activities (2,080) – – (2,080)
Cash flows from financing activities
Equity dividends paid (914) – – (914)
Repayment of obligations under leases (3,052) – 2,561 (491)
Repayment of obligations under financing arrangements – – (3,052) (3,052)
Interest payable under leases (110) 110 (71) (71)
Interest payable under financing arrangements – (110) – (110)
Interest paid (4) – – (4)
Net cash used in financing activities (4,080) – (562) (4,642)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 15,003 – – 15,003
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2018 16,355 – – 16,355
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2018 31,358 – – 31,358
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2. Changes to significant accounting policies and other restatements continued 

2.4. Non-recurring items
Non-recurring items are material items of income and expense which the Group believes should be disclosed separately in the statement of 
comprehensive income to assist in understanding the underlying financial performance achieved by the Group by virtue of their nature or size. 

The non-recurring items have been identified as such as they are not attributed to the ongoing trading of the Group. The profit before non-
recurring items is deemed by the Board to be an alternative performance measure (APM). The Group has used this APM to aid comparability of 
its performance and position between periods, but these metrics are not comparable with other businesses as they are specific to nmcn. The 
non-recurring items in 2019 are in relation to the following items and amounted to £2.95m (2018: £1.87m) in total before tax.

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Revenue adjustments:

Legacy contracts 750 –
Cost adjustments:
Legacy contracts 736 512
Subcontractor insolvency 1,856 –
Defective work rectification (394) 470
Performance share plan – 516
Development customer insolvency – 367
Total non-recurring costs 2,198 1,865
Total non-recurring items 2,948 1,865

Legacy contracts are explained in further detail in the Financial Review on page 35.

Additional costs were incurred following the insolvency of a subcontractor. This situation is unique and has therefore been classified as non-
recurring given the material nature of the amounts involved.

During 2018, the Group rectified defective work as a result of a substandard product provided by an aggregate supplier. This situation is unlikely 
to be repeated and recovery is being progressed therefore in the current year the recovery of the direct costs recognised in 2018 has been 
recognised as non-recurring income.

During the prior year a non-recurring expense in relation to the “true-up” of the Directors' Performance Share Plan (PSP) was recognised. 
A specific provision was also recognised in the prior year in respect of an insolvent development customer. 

3. Other significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis as set out on page 39 and in accordance with IFRS 
adopted by the European Union and, therefore, comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation.

The Board has assessed a series of scenario plans and cash flow forecasts in response to the extraordinary situation emerging from the 
COVID-19 crisis. These scenarios include, but are not limited to, a significant reduction in revenue for the period, along with client payment 
delays and limited recovery of fixed costs. The potential impact on liquidity and solvency have been partially mitigated by a temporary 
reduction in the remuneration of the senior management team. All non-essential capital and overhead expenditure has now been deferred, 
and various other cost reduction initiatives have been implemented. Measures taken to reduce cash outflows include the deferral of VAT 
payment, financing costs, and utilisation of the Government's Job Retention Scheme. Discussions are also progressing with our funders to 
utilise the recently announced Coronavirus Large Business Interruption Loan Scheme (CLBILS), should further restrictions be imposed. 

Where it is safe to do so, the Company continues to work on projects that are deemed to be in areas of critical national significance to the 
COVID-19 response (see page 102). Presently such activities represent about 70% of the workload we would normally anticipate. With the 
commitment of a highly skilled and dedicated workforce, close collaboration with our customers and supply chain partners, we are adjusting to 
the evolving challenges of this global event. 

The Board is confident of the Company's ability to survive the current challenges, and consider it reasonable to assume that the Group has 
adequate resources to continue for the foreseeable future and, for this reason, have continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 
the financial statements.
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(b) Consolidation
The consolidated accounts include the audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 
2019. All inter-company transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. Where the Company has control over an investment it is 
classified as a subsidiary. The Company controls an investee where all three of the following elements are present: power over the investee, 
exposure to variable returns from the entity, and the ability of the investor to affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever 
facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of these elements of control. The results of the subsidiaries are included in 
the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group obtains control until the date that control ceases.

(c) Business combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The consideration transferred in a 
business combination is measured as the fair value of assets given and contingent consideration incurred at the date of acquisition. Identifiable 
assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured at fair value at the acquisition date. Any excess 
of fair value of the consideration transferred over the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. Costs directly attributable to 
the acquisition are expensed to the statement of comprehensive income as incurred.

The fair value of contingent consideration liabilities are re-assessed at each balance sheet date with changes recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

(d) Revenue
Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration the Group is expected to be entitled to in exchange for transferring 
services to a customer. For each contract with a customer the Group applies the five-step model under IFRS 15: identify the contract with a 
customer; identify the performance obligations in the contract; determine the transaction price; allocate the transaction price to the separate 
performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct service to be delivered; and recognise the revenue 
when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the transfer to the customer of the services promised.

The Group accounts for groups of performance obligations negotiated as a single framework as an aggregated single construction contract 
thus applying the portfolio model of IFRS 15. The transaction price of each construction contract is valued as contract revenue less items 
classified as variable income such as variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments.

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be reliably estimated, revenue and associated costs are recognised by reference to the 
stage of completion of activity at the balance sheet date, measured by reference to the proportion of contract costs incurred for work 
performance to date to the estimated total contract costs. Where the outcome cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised 
to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable.

Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant 
reversal of this revenue will not occur. If the contractual entitlement has been established but the corresponding change in value is still being 
negotiated, management use their judgement to estimate the change to the total transaction price.

Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period they are incurred, including costs of obtaining a contract to the extent that 
recoverability under the contract was not probable. If deemed material, incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised and 
amortised consistently with the transfer of the services to which the asset relates.

Where it is anticipated that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is immediately recognised as an expense.

(e) Intangible assets and goodwill 
All business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Goodwill represents the difference between the fair value of 
consideration transferred in respect of the acquisition and the acquisition date fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is not amortised but 
tested annually for impairment or at any time when there are indicators of impairment.

The Group assesses the fair value of intangible assets arising on acquisitions, including software and customer relationships. An intangible asset 
will be recognised if the asset is identifiable and its fair value can be measured reliably. An intangible asset is identifiable if it is separable or if it 
was obtained through contractual or legal rights.

Other intangible assets, excluding goodwill, acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Amortisation is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the intangible 
assets which are considered to be:

Software – 5 years
Customer relationships – 12 years
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3. Other significant accounting policies continued

(f) Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Land is not depreciated.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of assets less any residual value by equal instalments over their estimated lives, which are 
considered to be:

Buildings – a maximum of 50 years
Plant and machinery – between three and 15 years
Fixtures, fittings, equipment and motor vehicles – between two and ten years 
Right of use assets – over the lease term

Assets held under financing arrangements are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as assets without recourse to 
financing arrangements. All estimated useful economic lives and residual values are reviewed on an annual basis and adjusted if appropriate.

Gains and losses on disposal are recognised through the statement of comprehensive income. 

(g) Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour together 
with a proportion of direct overheads. 

(h) Taxation 
Tax on the profit for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income except to the 
extent that it relates to items directly recognised in equity.

Current tax for the period is based on the taxable income for the year and is measured as the amount expected to be paid/received from the 
tax authorities. Taxable income differs from profit as reported in the statement of comprehensive income for the period as there are some 
items which may never be taxable or deductible for tax and other items which may be deductible or taxable in other periods. Income tax for 
the period is calculated using the current ruling tax rate. 

Deferred tax is the future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities 
shown on the balance sheet. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if they arise in the following situations: the initial recognition 
of goodwill; and the initial recognition of assets and liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business 
combination. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of recovery or settlement of the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date. 

The Group does not recognise deferred tax assets or liabilities on temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where 
the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is not considered probable that the temporary 
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. It is the Group’s policy to reinvest undistributed profits arising in Group companies.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can 
be utilised. The carrying amount of the deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. 

(i) Foreign currency 
The presentation and functional currency of the Group and the Company is sterling. Foreign currency transactions are translated into sterling 
using the exchange rates prevailing on the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All foreign currency translation differences are charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income.

(j) Financial instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance sheet when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. 

The classification of financial instruments is based on the manner in which a financial instrument is managed and its contractual cash flow 
characteristics. 

All financial instruments are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. An investment with a maturity of three months or less is normally classified as being 
short-term.
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(l) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables includes applications to the extent that there is an unconditional right to payment and the amount has been certified by 
the customer. The recoverable amount of applications that have not been certified and other amounts that have not been applied for but 
represent the recoverable value of work carried out at the balance sheet date are recognised as contract assets.

Trade receivables and retentions held by customers for contract work are stated at their original invoiced value, as the interest that would be 
recognised from discounting future cash receipts over the short credit period is not considered to be material.

(m) Impairment of trade and other receivables
The Group and the Company applies the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses under IFRS 9 using a lifetime expected credit 
loss provision for trade receivables, contract assets, amounts owed by Group undertakings and amounts owed by joint ventures. To measure 
expected credit losses on a collective basis, trade receivables and contract assets are grouped based on similar credit risk and ageing. The 
Group’s and the Company's contract assets have similar risk characteristics to the trade receivables for similar types of contracts.

Allowances for credit losses are calculated by considering on a discounted basis the cash shortfalls it would incur in various default scenarios 
over the remaining lives of the assets and multiplying the shortfalls by the probability of each scenario occurring. The allowance is the sum of 
these probability weighted outcomes.

Forward-looking information is incorporated into the Group’s and the Company's assessment of expected credit losses and includes, but is not 
limited to, the consideration of macroeconomic data, macroeconomic forecasts for the sectors in which the Group and the Company operate 
and financial review of individually significant customers.

(n) Trade and other payables 
Contract costs incurred in relation to work completed at the balance sheet date, net of progress buying on construction contracts is 
recognised in trade payables. Any payments received in advance of completing the work are recognised as contract liabilities within trade and 
other payables.

Trade payables, contract liabilities and balances held with subsidiaries and joint ventures are held at their original invoiced value as the interest 
that would be recognised from discounting future cash flows over the short credit period is not considered to be material.

(o) Reinstatement provision
The reinstatement provision represents the Directors’ best estimate of the fair value of expected costs relating to the statutory maintenance 
liability of two years on all contracts undertaken in the public highway. 

(p) Joint arrangements 
The Group is a party to a joint arrangement when there is a contractual arrangement that confers joint control over the relevant activities of 
the arrangement to the Group and at least one other party. Joint control is assessed under the same principles as control over subsidiaries.

Where the Group has both the rights to assets and obligations for the liabilities of the joint arrangement it classifies its interests as a joint 
operation; otherwise, the arrangement is classified as a joint venture.

In assessing the classification of interests in joint arrangements, the Group considers:

• The structure of the joint arrangement

• The legal form of joint arrangements structured through a separate vehicle

• The contractual terms of the joint arrangement agreement

• Any other facts and circumstances (including any other contractual arrangements)

The Group accounts for its interests in joint operations by recognising its share of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in accordance with 
its rights and obligations.

The results of joint ventures are incorporated in the financial statements using the equity method of accounting. After application of the 
equity method, the Group’s investments in joint ventures are reviewed to determine whether any additional impairment loss in relation to the 
net investment in the joint venture is to be recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Where the Group’s share of losses exceeds its investment in a joint venture, the carrying amount of the equity interest is reduced to nil and the 
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group is obliged to contribute towards its share of the loss.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.

(q) Segment reporting 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker, who is also 
the Chief Executive. 



128 nmcn plc Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Other significant accounting policies continued

(r) Investments in subsidiaries 
Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less provision for impairment. They are tested for impairment on an annual basis and when there 
is any evidence of impairment. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they occur.

(s) Pensions 
The Group operates defined contribution personal pension schemes. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in 
independently administered funds. The pension cost charge in the statement of comprehensive income represents contributions payable by 
the Group to the funds. 

(t) Share-based payments
Employee services received in exchange for the grant of equity-settled awards are reflected as a cost in the statement of comprehensive 
income on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. The amount charged is based on the fair value of the awards at the date of grant and the 
number of awards that are expected to vest. A separate component of equity is recognised in respect of employee services received to date 
and is released into retained earnings when the corresponding awards are exercised and shares are transferred to employees.

(u) Treasury shares
Own equity instruments that are repurchased (treasury shares) are deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

(v) Other operating income
Income not derived from the Group’s primary activities, including profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment and financing income in 
respect of the Group’s joint ventures, is recognised as other operating income and is recognised at the fair value of amounts receivable.

(w) Finance income and costs
Finance income comprises interest receivable on funds invested and is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as it accrues 
using the effective interest method.

Finance costs comprises bank interest payable and is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as it accrues using the effective 
interest method. Finance costs also includes interest recognised on lease liabilities.

4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation and uncertainty 
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the Directors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised where the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods where the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

Critical accounting judgements
Revenue recognition and valuation of construction contracts within trade and other receivables
The Group uses the percentage-of-completion method in accounting for its construction contracts. Use of the percentage-of-completion 
method requires the Group to estimate the construction performed to date as a proportion of the total construction to be performed. The 
estimation of the revenue and profit recognition by reference to the stage of completion can involve considerable judgement around future 
margins. This includes the valuation of construction contract claims, incentive payments and variations in the contract work. 

Judgement is also applied in determining when contracts should be aggregated and treated as a single construction contract. Where a group 
of contracts are treated as an aggregated single construction contract the Group has to estimate the percentage of construction to date as 
a proportion of the total construction to be performed, in addition to estimating the future margins and any final incentive payments to be 
received. The use of these estimates is intended to give the most accurate representation of the overall future single margin.

The Group reviews these estimates and assumptions as each contract progresses. To the extent that the amounts receivable on the contracts 
are different to the amounts recorded such differences will impact revenue and cost of sales in the period in which such determination is made.

Leases
The application of IFRS 16 requires the Group to make judgements affecting the valuation of lease liabilities and associated right-of-use assets. 
This includes determining contracts within the scope of IFRS 16, the contract terms and interest rates used for discounting future cash flows. 

The lease term determined by the Group generally comprises the non-cancellable period of lease contracts and periods covered by an option 
to either extend or terminate the lease if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option.

Judgement is also required in determining the discount rate to be used. The Group has determined that the interest rates implicit in the leases 
cannot be readily determined and therefore has used its incremental borrowing rate to discount future lease payments.
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Key sources of estimation and uncertainty
Contract assets
The carrying value of contract assets amounted to £47.01m (2018: £33.35m) as at 31 December 2019, in relation to £33.89m (2018: £27.58m) of 
applications for payment that had not been certified.

Management has significant experience in making estimates around the percentage-of-completion, based on costs to complete and final 
project out-turn. Although there are likely to be fluctuations on individual contracts, using a portfolio basis the level of estimation uncertainty 
leading to a material adjustment within the next financial year is considered to be low. Estimation uncertainty which could have a material 
impact on contract assets has been mitigated where necessary by the use of independent quantum and legal experts who were assessed by 
the Directors for their ability, qualifications and experience in this field.

Due to the nature of contract assets, there are circumstances outside of the Board's control that can impact the variable income classed as 
highly probable. The Directors have therefore assessed the potential reasonable range of variation on contract assets. This range has been 
estimated as an increase or decrease to contract assets of £1.18m or £1.59m respectively in relation to matters that are within the ordinary 
course of business and also those matters where third party expert opinion has been sought.

Legacy contracts
Legacy contracts are construction contracts entered into at the height of the recession, before 31 December 2013, and which carried a high 
contractual and commercial risk. These contracts have negatively impacted the Group’s income statement in 2013 and subsequent years. As 
at 31 December 2019, there is only one legacy contract remaining and whilst there are no uncertainties with regards to the completion of this 
contract, uncertainty remains around the agreement of the final amount recoverable.

In the year to 31 December 2019, the total loss before tax recognised on legacy contracts was £1.49m (2018: £0.51m).

Contract revenue on the contract has been recognised based on the prudent best estimate of the Directors as at 31 December 2019 of the 
amount recoverable from the client. The Group is and will be pursuing claims with the client for sums greater than the carrying value and 
is in negotiations to settle this balance. The Directors have sought to make the estimate as precise as possible by reflecting the views of 
independent quantum and legal experts who were appointed by the Directors for their ability, qualifications and experience in this field.

The independent quantum and legal experts, in conjunction with management, considered a number of factors when making their 
assessment, such as contractual terms, work performed, claims for variations, submissions for extensions of time, claims for loss and expense 
and expected time frames in which settlement is likely.

There are inevitably other external factors involved in the settlement of this balance which may be outside of the Board’s control. In 
consideration of these factors, the Directors have assessed the potential reasonable range of variation on the trade receivable asset. This range 
has been assessed and estimated as an increase or decrease to trade receivables of £0.80m or £1.35m respectively.

Intangibles arising from business combinations
Intangibles arising on a business combination incorporates goodwill and other intangible assets which are initially measured at fair value at the 
date of acquisition by the Group. Determining whether goodwill is subsequently impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash 
generating unit (CGU) to which the goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires an estimate to be made of the timing and 
amount of future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU and the application of a suitable discount rate in order to calculate net present 
value. Cash flow forecasts for the next three years is based on the CGU's budgets and forecasts combined with other key inputs.

Contingent consideration
For business combinations, the Group estimates the fair value of the consideration transferred, which includes assumptions about the future 
performance of the business acquired and an appropriate discount rate to determine the fair value of any contingent consideration. These fair 
values are based on future cash flows discounted using a risk-adjusted bank borrowing rate.

Investments in subsidiaries
The carrying value of investments in subsidiaries held by the Company is based on value in use which requires estimates in respect of future 
cash flows, including future earnings growth and an appropriate discount rate. The carrying amount of investments in subsidiaries in the 
Company at 31 December 2019 was £4,614,000 (2018: £2,437,000).
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5. Reporting segments
The operating segment reporting format reflects the Group’s management and internal reporting structure. 

Operating segments 
The Board reviews the Group’s operational performance via two segments: the Water segment and the Built Environment segment. 
Accordingly, the segmental information presented below is prepared on the same basis.

Further details of the operating segments' activities are provided in our operational and financial review on pages 28 to 37.

The Group manages its operating segments’ trading performance and working capital by monitoring operating profit and centrally manages 
Group taxation, capital structure and expenditure.

Year ended 31 December 2019

Built 
Environment 

£’000
Water 
£’000

Total Before
 non-recurring 

items 
£’000

Non-
recurring 

items 
£’000

Total
£’000

Revenue
External sales 122,783 282,625 405,408 (750) 404,658
Result before corporate expenses 10,040 21,193 31,233 (2,948) 28,285
Corporate expenses (7,003) (13,612) (20,615) – (20,615)
Operating profit/(loss) 3,037 7,581 10,618 (2,948) 7,670
Finance income 49 – 49
Finance costs (278) – (278)
Profit before tax 10,389 (2,948) 7,441
Tax (2,089) 560 (1,529)
Profit for the year 8,300 (2,388) 5,912

Year ended 31 December 2018

Built 
Environment 

£’000
Water 
£’000

Total Before 
non-recurring 

items 
£’000

Non-
recurring 

items 
£’000

Total
£’000

Revenue Restated Restated Restated Restated
External sales 95,870 244,580 340,450 – 340,450
Result before corporate expenses as restated 7,675 20,883 28,558 (1,865) 26,693
Corporate expenses (7,744) (12,787) (20,531) – (20,531)
Operating profit/(loss) (69) 8,096 8,027 (1,865) 6,162
Finance income 31 – 31
Finance costs (185) – (185)
Profit before tax 7,873 (1,865) 6,008
Tax (1,538) 351 (1,187)
Profit for the year 6,335 (1,514) 4,821

Segment assets
2019

£’000
2018

£’000

Restated
Built Environment 70,497 52,954
Water 69,995 66,497
Total segment assets and consolidated total assets 140,492 119,451
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Other segment information
Depreciation  

and amortisation 
Additions to  

non-current assets

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Restated Restated
Built Environment 1,643 1,317 3,321 2,264
Water 3,875 3,360 8,990 5,777
Total 5,518 4,677 12,311 8,041

There were no impairment losses recognised in respect of property, plant and equipment. All of the above relates to continuing operations and 
arose in the United Kingdom. The results of each segment are not materially affected by seasonality. Segment liabilities are not presented as 
they are not managed on a segment-by-segment basis.

Information about major customer
Revenues of approximately £192,360,000 (2018: £172,523,000) were derived from a single external customer. These revenues are attributable 
to the Water segment. No other customer accounted for more than 10% of revenues.

6. Revenue from contracts with customers
Disaggregation of revenue
Year ended 31 December 2019

Built 
Environment 

£’000
Water
£’000

Total 
£’000

Construction 49,155 – 49,155
Highways 35,565 – 35,565
Telecommunications 37,313 – 37,313
Civil Engineering and MEICA (nmcn Sustainable Solutions) – 79,624 79,624
Civil Engineering and MEICA (NMCNomenca) – 203,001 203,001

122,033 282,625 404,658

Year ended 31 December 2018
Built 

Environment 
£’000

Water
£’000

Total 
£’000

Construction 38,182 – 38,182
Highways 30,444 – 30,444
Telecommunications 27,244 – 27,244
Civil Engineering and MEICA (nmcn Sustainable Solutions) – 68,967 68,967
Civil Engineering and MEICA (NMCNomenca) – 175,613 175,613

95,870 244,580 340,450

Revenue is disaggregated based on the underlying Business Unit to which the revenue relates. The majority of the Group’s business is carried 
out under long-term contracts with customers, with the associated performance obligations being recognised over time. The Group operates 
across a number of market sectors within the construction industry and it is considered most appropriate to disaggregate revenue on this 
basis. No disaggregation of revenue by geographical market is presented as all of the Group’s revenue is derived from the UK. The Directors do 
not consider there to be any further categories into which revenue can be meaningfully disaggregated. From 1 January 2020 the Group has 
restructured its operations into 11 Business Units across the Built Environment and Water segments. 
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6. Revenue from contracts with customers continued

Contract balances and performance obligations

Year ended 31 December 2019

Group Company

Contract 
assets
£’000

Contract 
liabilities 

£’000

Contract 
assets
£’000

Contract 
liabilities 

£’000

As at 1 January 2019 33,349 (29,459) 24,943 (27,959)
Applications for payment 424,947 – 348,247 –
Transfers from contract assets to trade receivables (428,699) – (352,853) –
Revenue recognised as work done not invoiced 14,894 – 12,006 –
Cumulative catch-up adjustments 4,773 – 3,428 –
Impact of revenue constraint on applications for payment (2,254) – (1,249) –
Amounts in contract liabilities recognised as revenue – 29,459 – 27,959
Payment received in advance of performance – (14,992) – (14,272)
As at 31 December 2019 47,010 (14,992) 34,522 (14,272)

Year ended 31 December 2018

Group Company

Contract 
assets
£’000

Contract 
liabilities 

£’000

Contract 
assets
£’000

Contract 
liabilities 

£’000

As at 1 January 2018 36,891 (9,616) 30,173 (9,616)
Applications for payment 371,649 – 306,579 –
Transfers from contract assets to trade receivables (396,425) – (327,980) –
Revenue recognised as work done not invoiced 5,998 – 4,037 –
Cumulative catch-up adjustments 17,480 718 13,071 718
Impact of revenue constraint on applications for payment (2,244) – (937) –
Amounts in contract liabilities recognised as revenue – 9,616 – 9,616
Payment received in advance of performance – (30,177) – (28,677)
As at 31 December 2018 33,349 (29,459) 24,943 (27,959)

Contract assets and contract liabilities are included within trade and other receivables (Note 19) and trade and other payables (Note 26) 
respectively. Cumulative catch-up adjustments include the effect of contract modifications, variable consideration or a change in the estimate 
of contract price.

The Group typically satisfies the performance obligations contained in its contracts with customers over time, as the customer generally 
controls the asset as it is constructed or enhanced. As at 31 December 2019 the amount of revenue that was expected to be recognised when 
the remainder of the performance obligations contained in its contracts are satisfied was £261,107,000 (2018: £431,986,000).

Significant contract terms
Payment terms vary on a contract-by-contract basis and are negotiated individually with customers. Certain contracts for the development 
of residential property on behalf of the Group’s joint ventures allow for amounts due under those contracts to be drawn down under the 
financing agreements in place between the Group and the relevant joint venture. Further information concerning the Group’s joint ventures is 
presented in Note 33.

Contracts undertaken in the public highway include a statutory maintenance liability of two years. Details of the associated provision are 
presented in Note 24.
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7. Employee numbers
The average monthly number of persons employed (including Directors) during the year was as follows: 

Group
2019

No.
2018

No.

Management 142 108
Administration 225 211
Contracting 1,351 1,217

1,718 1,536

Company
2019

No.
2018

No.

Management 126 108
Administration 210 211
Contracting 1,285 1,217

1,621 1,536

8. Employee costs
Employee costs in the year were as follows:

Group
2019

£’000
2018

£’000

Wages and salaries 73,439 68,778
Social security costs 7,838 6,807
Other pension costs 3,590 3,048
 84,867 78,633

Company
2019

£’000
2018

£’000

Wages and salaries 72,611 68,778
Social security costs 7,838 6,807
Other pension costs 3,557 3,048
 84,006 78,633

Remuneration in respect of the Directors is set out in the Remuneration Report on pages 82 to 99.

9. Share-based payments
The Group operates a Performance Share Plan (PSP) for its Board Directors, full details of which can be found in the Remuneration Report on 
pages 82 to 99.

The Group recognised expenses relating to equity-settled share-based payment transactions in the year ended 31 December 2019 totalling 
£0.87m before taxation (2018: £1.07m). The expense recognised in the year ended 31 December 2019 reflects the PSP awards for 2016, 2017, 
2018 and 2019. The valuation method used to value the Performance Share Plans is the Black–Scholes method.

2019
Awards

2018
Awards

Awards outstanding at 1 January 1,059,741 755,610
Granted during the year – dividend shares for prior periods – 18,245
Granted during the year – new awards 198,987 285,886
Awards vested and exercised during the year (544,546) –
Awards lapsed during the year – –
Awards outstanding at 31 December 714,182 1,059,741
Awards exercisable at 31 December – –
Weighted average remaining contractual life (years) 1.18 1.13
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10. Operating profit
2019

£’000
2018

£’000

Operating profit is stated after charging: Restated
Short term leases 13,286 11,503

Amortisation of intangible assets 43 –
Depreciation  – wholly owned 4,167 4,166
 – held under leases 1,308 511
Impairment for credit losses – 367
Auditor’s remuneration  – audit fee of Parent Company 105 64
 – audit fee of subsidiaries 63 29
Directors’ emoluments
Fees to Non-Executive Directors 164 131
Remuneration as Executives’ salary and benefits 1,266 1,274
 – performance related 475 470
 –  pension contributions (five Directors in defined contribution 

schemes) 176 172
 – share-based payments 866 1,069
 – National Insurance on share-based payments 341 –
And after crediting:
Gain on disposal of property, plant and machinery 410 574

11. Finance income and costs
2019

£’000
2018

£’000

Restated
Interest receivable 49 31
Finance income 49 31

Interest payable 7 4
Interest on obligations under leases 132 71
Interest on financing arrangements 139 110
Finance costs 278 185

12. Tax
2019

£’000
2018

£’000

Restated
Current tax – current year 19% (2018: 19%) 1,292 467
Current tax – prior year (26) 13
Deferred tax – current year 17.60% (2018: 18.46%) 100 700
Deferred tax – prior year 163 7

1,529 1,187
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The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the statement of comprehensive income as follows:
2019

£’000
2018

£’000

Restated
Profit before tax 7,441 6,028
Tax at the UK Corporation Tax Rate of 19% (2018: 19%) 1,414 1,145
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 60 25
Income not taxable for tax purposes (138) (27)
Depreciation on assets not qualifying for capital allowances 17 17
Other differences (2) 8
Adjustments in respect of previous periods 184 19
Effect of acquired intangible assets on deferred tax (6) –

1,529 1,187

The provision for deferred tax is calculated based on the tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date. There are no 
unrecognised trading losses carried forward (2018: £nil).

Factors that may affect future tax charges
A reduction in the UK corporation tax rate from 19% to 17% (effective 1 April 2020) was substantively enacted on 6 September 2016. This will 
reduce the Group’s future current tax charge accordingly. 

Following the general election in December 2019, it is expected that the reduction to the UK corporation tax rate to 17% will be delayed. As this 
has not yet been enacted, the Group has continued to recognise deferred tax assets at a rate of 17%. This has resulted in the Group recognising 
a lower deferred tax asset than if the expected future tax rate of 19% had been applied.

13. Dividends
Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year:

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 of 12p (2017: 3p) per share 1,214 305
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 of 9p (2018: 6p) per share 937 609

2,151 914

As part of a review of capital allocation across the business, and recognising the uncertainties posed by the COVID-19 crisis, in particular the 
possibility of further restrictions or extended time frames, the Board will not be recommending a final dividend for 2019 (2018: 12p). The Board 
is very mindful of the importance of dividends to all shareholders and, should circumstances permit, a special interim dividend may be made 
later this year.

14. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share are calculated on the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent of £5,912,000 
(2018 restated: £4,821,000). The weighted average of 10,306,253 (2018: 10,150,000) shares in issue during the year is used for the basic earnings 
per share calculation. 

Outstanding share awards granted under the Performance Share Plan (“PSP”) totalling 714,182 awards (2018: 1,059,741) are considered to be 
contingently issuable shares that could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future, of which the performance-related vesting 
conditions had been satisfied in respect of 269,486 awards as at 31 December 2019 (2018: 792,246). This additional number of shares is 
therefore included in the diluted earnings per share calculation as at that date.
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15. Intangible assets

Group
Goodwill

£’000 
Software 

£’000

Customer 
Relationships 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Cost
At 1 January 2019 – – – –
Additions through business combinations 1,552 457 306 2,315
At 31 December 2019 1,552 457 306 2,315

Amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2019 – – – –
Charge for the year – 31 12 43
At 31 December 2019 – 31 12 43

Carrying amount 
At 31 December 2019 1,552 426 294 2,272

Amortisation of intangible assets is recognised on the face of the Group’s statement of comprehensive income.

The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated entirely to Lintott Control Systems Limited (LCS) which is part of the Group's Water segment, 
representing the value of the workforce acquired and the expected growth and cost synergies as a result of combining LCS with the Group's 
existing business. Although the key management of LCS were an integral value driver to the Board’s acquisition decision, based on the relevant 
accounting standards, these have not been identified as a separately identifiable intangible asset. The Board is committed to ensuring the 
individuals are motivated, engaged and ultimately retained by the Group to implement all the commercial benefits identified from the 
acquisition.

Impairment reviews are to be carried out on an annual basis or more frequently if there are indications of impairment. No review has been 
undertaken during the period due to the business combination only being effective for 3 months and there being no current indicators of 
impairment. Future impairment reviews will compare the carrying amount of goodwill to the value in use derived from discounted cash flow 
projections for LCS. Value in use calculations will be based on three-year management forecasts with a terminal growth applied thereafter 
reflecting the best estimate of the long-term growth rate of the segment.

Software has been valued based on the qualifying research and development expenditure incurred by LCS to bring the asset into use. The 
value of customer relationships has been calculated using the multi-period excess earnings method which has been based on estimated future 
revenues and cash flows discounted at a rate of return.



137STRATEGIC REPORT OUR GOVERNANCE OUR FINANCIALSOVERVIEW

16. Property, plant and equipment

Group

Freehold 
land and 
buildings 

£’000 

Plant and 
machinery 

£’000

Fixtures, 
fittings, 

equipment 
and motor 

vehicles 
£’000

Right of use 
asset 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Cost
At 1 January 2018 – restated 9,054 12,266 12,906 1,409 35,635
Additions 999 2,246 3,021 1,775 8,041
Disposals – (1,149) (2,555) – (3,704)
At 1 January 2019 – restated 10,053 13,363 13,372 3,184 39,972
Additions through business combinations – 9 37 1,315 1,361
Additions 959 4,674 3,227 2,091 10,951
Disposals (244) (3,238) (4,028) (230) (7,740)
At 31 December 2019 10,768 14,808 12,608 6,360 44,544

Depreciation
At 1 January 2018 – restated 1,568 6,750 7,734 – 16,052
Charge for the year 106 1,680 2,380 511 4,677
Disposals – (1,123) (2,225) – (3,348)
At 1 January 2019 – restated 1,674 7,307 7,889 511 17,381
Charge for the year 184 1,747 2,236 1,308 5,475
Disposals (4) (2,966) (3,887) (230) (7,087)
At 31 December 2019 1,854 6,088 6,238 1,589 15,769

Carrying amount 
At 31 December 2019 8,914 8,720 6,370 4,771 28,775
At 31 December 2018 – restated 8,379 6,056 5,483 2,673 22,591
At 31 December 2017 – restated 7,486 5,516 5,172 1,409 19,583
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16. Property, plant and equipment continued

Company

Freehold 
land and 
buildings 

£’000 

Plant and 
machinery 

£’000

Fixtures, 
fittings, 

equipment 
and motor 

vehicles 
£’000

Right of use 
asset 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Cost
At 1 January 2018 – restated 9,054 12,115 12,483 1,409 35,061
Additions 999 2,246 3,021 1,775 8,041
Disposals – (1,149) (2,555) – (3,704)
At 1 January 2019 – restated 10,053 13,212 12,949 3,184 39,398
Additions 959 4,674 3,122 2,091 10,846
Disposals (244) (3,238) (4,005) (230) (7,717)
At 31 December 2019 10,768 14,648 12,066 5,045 42,527

Depreciation
At 1 January 2018 – restated 1,568 6,605 7,306 – 15,479
Charge for the year 106 1,665 2,394 511 4,676
Disposals – (1,123) (2,225) – (3,348)
At 1 January 2019 – restated 1,674 7,147 7,475 511 16,807
Charge for the year 184 1,740 2,215 1,271 5,410
Disposals (4) (2,966) (3,865) (230) (7,065)
At 31 December 2019 1,854 5,921 5,825 1,552 15,152

Carrying amount 
At 31 December 2019 8,914 8,727 6,241 3,493 27,375
At 31 December 2018 – restated 8,379 6,065 5,474 2,673 22,591
At 31 December 2017 – restated 7,486 5,510 5,177 1,409 19,582

17. Investments in subsidiaries
Shares in Group

companies

Company
2019

£’000
2018

£’000

Cost
At 1 January 2,437 2,437
Additions 2,177 –
At 31 December 4,614 2,437

Details of Group undertakings (incorporated in Great Britain):
Percentage of  

ownership interest and  
voting power held

Subsidiary Principal activities
2019

%
2018

%

nmcn Developments Limited Building and refurbishment 100 100
nmcn Sustainable Solutions Limited Mechanical and electrical installation 100 100
nmcn Investments Limited Dormant 100 100
nmcn Alliance Limited Dormant 100 100
Lintott Environmental Technologies 
Limited Holding company 100 –
Lintott Control Systems Limited Design and manufacture of water treatment systems 100 –

The registered address for all subsidiaries is the same as that of the Parent Company.
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18. Inventories
Group Company

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Raw materials and consumables 1,805 1,791 1,248 1,287

19. Trade and other receivables
Group Company

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Trade receivables 9,698 8,422 5,621 5,862
Retentions held by customers for contract work 7,368 8,140 6,584 7,211
Other receivables 3 45 3 45
Prepayments 2,813 2,379 2,718 2,336
Contract assets 47,010 33,349 34,522 24,943
Amount owed by Group undertakings – – 10,028 2,277
Amount owed by joint ventures 14,309 8,479 15,024 8,814

81,201 60,814 74,500 51,488

The average credit period (excluding retentions) taken on sales is 33 days (2018: 28 days). As at 31 December 2019, trade receivables of 
£2,745,000 (2018: £2,636,000) for the Group and £2,371,000 (2018: £1,621,000) for the Company were past due but not impaired. These relate 
to a number of individual customers and the Directors believe there is no reason that the receivables are not recoverable.

Group

Impairment for credit losses
2019

£’000
2018

£’000

At 1 January 367 –
Additional provisions – 367
Utilised during period (367) –
At 31 December – 367

20. Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Cash at bank and in hand 25,814 33,353 19,785 31,358

21. Share capital
2019

£’000
2018

£’000

Issued and fully paid:
10,438,608 (2018: 10,150,000) ordinary shares of 10p each 1,044 1,015

On 16 May 2019, 288,608 ordinary shares of 10p each were issued and fully paid at par in respect of the 544,546 share options that vested 
during the period. The Company has chosen to adopt the “net settled approach” by issuing shares equal to the post-tax value of the grants. 
The shares were issued to participants of the scheme on 7 June 2019. 

Number of 10p ordinary shares
2019

000
2018

000

Shares issued at 31 December 10,439 10,150
Treasury shares (43) –
Shares issued at 31 December excluding treasury shares 10,396 10,150
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22. Reserves 
The following describes the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity:

Merger reserve The excess of the fair value of investments over the nominal value of shares issued as a 
consideration arising from business reconstructions that were accounted for as a merger.

Treasury share reserve Value of shares in nmcn PLC bought on the open market and held for the purposes of 
satisfying Company share schemes.

Share-based payment reserve Amounts recognised in respect of share-based payment expenses and associated deferred 
tax balances.

Capital redemption reserve Amounts transferred from share capital on redemption of issued shares.
Retained earnings All other net gains/losses and transactions with owners not recognised elsewhere. 

23. Leases
The Group and Company regularly lease assets including land and buildings, vehicles and IT equipment as presented below.

Land and Buildings
Land and buildings leases typically run for between three and ten years. Some leases contain extension options exercisable before the end of 
the non-cancellable lease term. The Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise options if there is a controllable significant 
event or change in circumstances.

Other leases
The Group and Company also lease vehicles and IT equipment usually with a term of four years.

The Group also leases assets with contract terms of one year or less which are considered short-term. The Group has elected not to recognise 
right of use assets and lease liabilities for these leases, along with those deemed to be of low value. Payments associated with these leases are 
expensed to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis.

Group Company

Right of use assets

Freehold land 
and buildings

£’000

Fixtures, 
fittings, 

equipment 
and motor 

vehicles
£’000

Total
£’000

Freehold land 
and buildings

£’000

Fixtures, 
fittings, 

equipment 
and motor 

vehicles
£’000

Total
£’000

At 1 January 2018 1,113 296 1,409 1,113 296 1,409
Additions 927 848 1,775 927 848 1,775
Depreciation charge (290) (221) (511) (290) (221) (511)
At 1 January 2019 1,750 923 2,673 1,750 923 2,673
Additions 423 1,668 2,091 423 1,668 2,091
Additions on business combinations 1,188 127 1,315 – – –
Disposals (61) (169) (230) (61) (169) (230)
Depreciation charge (539) (769) (1,308) (512) (759) (1,271)
Depreciation on disposals 61 169 230 61 169 230
At 31 December 2019 2,822 1,949 4,771 1,661 1,832 3,493

Group Company

Lease liabilities
2019

£’000
2018

£’000
2019

£’000
2018

£’000

At 1 January 2,715 1,432 2,715 1,432
Additions 2,091 1,775 2,091 1,775
Additions on business combinations 1,315 – – –
Lease payments (1,404) (559) (1,357) (559)
Interest expense 132 71 115 71
At 31 December 2019 4,849 2,719 3,564 2,719

Group Company

Maturity analysis
2019

£’000
2018 

£’000
2019 

£’000
2018 

£’000

Within 1 year 1,172 687 1,035 687
2 to 5 years 2,546 1,418 2,076 1,418
More than 5 years 1,131 614 453 614
Total lease liability at 31 December 4,849 2,719 3,564 2,719
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24. Provisions
Group and Company

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

At beginning of year 350 404
Additional provision in year – 141
Utilisation of provision (37) (195)
At end of year 313 350

The reinstatement provision represents the Directors’ best estimate of the fair value of expected costs relating to the statutory maintenance 
liability of two years on all contracts undertaken in the public highway. It is expected this will be utilised over two years.

25. Deferred tax
Group Company

2019 
£’000

2018
£’000

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Restated Restated
At beginning of year (902) (1,228) (795) (1,227)
Deferred tax asset acquired (254) – – –
Recognised in income statement 263 707 301 813
Recognised in equity 268 (381) 268 (381)
At end of year (625) (902) (226) (795)

The deferred tax balance can be analysed as follows:

Group Company

2019 
£’000

2018
£’000

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Restated Restated
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances 123 (104) 129 (100)
Recognised losses (326) (83) – (83)
Share-based payments (226) (576) (226) (576)
Other differences (196) (139) (129) (36)

(625) (902) (226) (795)

A deferred tax asset has been recognised on the basis that there is sufficient evidence in the trading forecast that it is probable that future 
profits will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.
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26. Trade and other payables
Group Company

2019 
£’000

2018
£’000

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Restated Restated
Trade payables 65,500 42,346 63,926 42,345
Other taxes and social security costs 7,613 8,118 3,164 4,239
Accruals and other payables 15,501 13,217 15,021 12,903
Contract liabilities 14,992 29,459 14,272 27,959
Financing arrangements 4,047 2,587 4,047 2,587
Amounts owed to Group undertakings – – 772 773

107,653 95,727 101,202 90,806

The credit period taken for trade purchases, excluding retentions, is 39 days (2018: 38 days).

Group Company

Non-current liabilities
2019 

£’000
2018

£’000
2019 

£’000
2018 

£’000

Restated Restated
Financing arrangements 4,532 2,329 4,532 2,329
Contingent consideration 2,177 – 2,177 –

6,709 2,329 6,709 2,329

27. Contingent liabilities 
Aviva Insurance Limited, Lloyds Bank plc, and HCC International Insurance Company Plc have given Performance Bonds to a value of 
£15,411,000 (2018: £8,883,000) on the Group’s behalf. These bonds have been made with recourse to the Group.

28. Pension contributions 
The total cost charged to the statement of comprehensive income of £3,590,000 (2018: £3,048,000) represents pension contributions payable 
by the Group. As at 31 December 2019 contributions of £587,000 (2018: £348,000) due in respect of the current reporting period had not been 
paid over to the schemes.

29. Financial instruments and financial risk management
The Group is exposed through its operations to one or more of the following financial risks:

Interest rate risk
The Group has financed its operations through a mixture of retained profits, a variable rate bank overdraft and capital financial arrangements 
when required. The Group manages interest rate risk in respect of surplus cash balances by making deposits with suitable financial institutions, 
should appropriate conditions exist Given the level of net funds the Group does not consider the downside interest rate risk to be significant.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to managing 
liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and 
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. 

Typically, the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses, by the use of its overdraft and 
capital financial arrangements, and availability of finance for capital projects before undertaking such projects, including the servicing of 
financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural 
disasters. Forecasts and budgets are approved by the Board to predict expected operational expenses each month.

The Group had cash balances at the year end of £25,814,000 (2018: £33,353,000) and has facilities in place to meet all anticipated working 
capital requirements.
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Credit risk
The Group extends credit to recognised creditworthy third parties. Trade receivable and contract asset balances are monitored to minimise 
the Group’s exposure to bad debts. Where necessary, individual credit limits are set based on internal or external ratings. Independent credit 
ratings are used, if available, to set suitable credit limits. If there is no independent rating, the Board assesses the credit quality of the customer, 
taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. At the year 
end none of the trade receivable balances that were not past due or specifically provided against exceeded set credit limits and management 
does not expect any losses from non-performance by these counterparties. Credit risk also arises from cash and cash equivalents deposited 
with financial institutions. The Group deposits its surplus funds with only high quality banks and financial institutions with a minimum 
independent credit rating of A1. Such deposits have a maturity of no more than one month. 

The Directors consider the Group’s relatively diverse operations provide a reduction in concentration risk by sector, geography and exposure 
to individual customers, except the major customer as noted in Note 5 where a framework agreement and long-standing relationship is in 
place. Loans to/from joint operations and joint ventures are on normal arm’s length terms. There has been no change in the Group’s exposure 
to credit risk or how the risk is managed from the prior year. The carrying amount of financial assets represents the Group’s maximum exposure 
to credit risk at the reporting date assuming that any security held has no value. Impairment losses against financial assets at amortised cost 
are recognised by reference to any expected credit losses against those assets. Allowances for credit losses are calculated by considering 
on a discounted basis the cash shortfalls it would incur in various default scenarios over the remaining lives of the assets and multiplying the 
shortfalls by the probability of each scenario occurring. The allowance is the sum of these probability-weighted outcomes. 

Classes and fair value of financial instruments
Group Company

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Restated Restated
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 78,388 58,435 71,783 49,152
Cash and cash equivalents 25,814 33,353 19,785 31,358
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 89,580 60,479 88,298 60,937
Obligations under leases 4,849 2,719 3,564 2,719

It is the Directors’ opinion that the carrying value of all the financial assets and liabilities approximates to their fair value.

Comparative information has been restated as a result of the adoption of IFRS 16.

Categories of financial instruments
All financial assets and liabilities are categorised as being measured at amortised cost. 

Maturity of financial instruments
The majority of trade and other receivables and contract asset balances excluding retentions are due between one and three months. 
Details of amounts overdue are provided in Note 19.

The maturity of leases is provided in Note 23. 

The maturity of trade and other payables excluding retentions is between one and three months.
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30. Key management 
The Directors consider that the key management personnel are the Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and Business Unit Directors 
as listed below.

Key management personnel for the Group and its trading subsidiaries during 2019 were as follows:

PLC Board: R Moyle*
J Homer*
DA Taylor*
AD Langman 
DS Proud (resigned from PLC Board on 11 December 2019)
I Elliott 
DP Rogers
MJ Holt
M Amos

nmcn Sustainable Solutions Ltd Directors: AD Langman
RAJ Culshaw 

Lintott Control Systems Ltd Directors: AD Langman (from 4 October 2019)
D Owen (from 4 October 2019)
J Thums (from 4 October 2019)

Business Unit Directors: N Banks
D Andrews
A Brown (resigned 29 March 2019)
G Poyzer
M Lowson
WT Brelsford
MH Shadrick
P Birch
G Stonard
JA Smith
M Lee 
PD Jackson
F Ashley
G Clegg
MW Hanrahan
ML Mason 
K Morris
J Maloney
A Smith
MJ Catlin
RM Walsh
P Green (from 4 February 2019) 
M Endean (from 1 October 2019)
T Spencer (from 1 October 2019)
A Carson (from 1 October 2019)
I Hawksworth (from 1 October 2019)
M Fryer (from 1 October 2019)

*  R Moyle, J Homer and DA Taylor are Directors of nmcn Sustainable Solutions Limited; J Homer and DA Taylor are Directors of Lintott Control Systems Limited  
(from 4 October 2019).

Key management costs 
Key management costs include salary, employer's National Insurance contributions and benefits of £8,127,109 (2018: £5,955,000) in addition to 
employer's pension contributions of £443,000 (2018: £382,000).
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31. Controlling party 
The Company’s major shareholding block is the Moyle family albeit there is not a single controlling party. Details of R Moyle’s associates, 
relationship and shareholding are listed below:

2019 2018

Mrs MG Moyle (deceased) (Mother to R Moyle) 224,557 224,557
Miss KEF Moyle (Daughter of R Moyle) 2,000 2,000
Miss ER Moyle (Daughter of R Moyle) 2,000 2,000
Mrs D Thompson (Sister to R Moyle) 232,342 232,342
Mr IB Speke, Mrs D Hutchinson and Mr MS Garratt 1962 TG Moyle Settlement 2,481,328 2,478,328
Mr IB Speke, Mrs D Hutchinson and Mr MS Garratt 1967 TG Moyle Settlement 775,388 775,388
Mr PR Wood and Mr WEC Cursham William Morris Settlement 833,174 836,174
Mr R Moyle, Mrs AEF Moyle and Mr RL Symington 1996 R Moyle Settlement 696,280 700,280

On disposal of the shares from the William Morris Settlement, the Moyle family have the option to purchase any such shares before they are 
made available to the public. The Company has a controlling shareholder (being the Moyle family and its associates, who are deemed a concert 
party and defined above) for the purposes of the Listing Rules. The relevant agreements as required by LR 9.2.2AR(2)(a) have been put in place 
between the Company, Mr R Moyle and the relevant trusts. The Board confirms these mandatory provisions have been complied with.

32. Related party transactions
The Group
As permitted by the scope paragraph in IAS 24, balances between Group companies which are eliminated on consolidation have not been 
disclosed as part of the Group accounts.

Company
2019

£’000
2018

£’000

Due to nmcn Developments Limited (772) (772)
Due from nmcn Sustainable Solutions Limited 9,020 2,277
Due from Lintott Control Systems Limited 1,008 –

9,256 1,505

During the year nmcn Sustainable Solutions Limited carried out £1,012,000 (2018: £1,675,000) of work for the Company. From the date of 
acquisition, Lintott Control Systems Limited carried out £87,522 of work for the Company. Transactions between the Company and its joint 
ventures are disclosed in Note 33.

Other services in respect of site labour totalling £1,635,995 (2018: £1,295,600) were carried out for the Company by entities under the control 
of a member of the Group's key management personnel. These arrangements were entered into prior to the individual concerned becoming a 
member of the Group's key management.

33. Joint arrangements
The Group is currently involved in the following joint operations:

Group’s Share

2019  − 2018

 −  with Costain Limited and Mott MacDonald Bentley Ltd. The ASP Batch Joint Venture. Waste water 
major projects, Coventry UK. 33% 33%

 −  with Barhale Limited. BNM Alliance. Construction of Elan Valley Aqueduct Scheme and Newark 
Sewerage Strategy Scheme. 50% 50%

 − with Bam Nuttall Limited. BAMNomenca. Water Projects for South East Water. 50% 50%
 − with Doosan Enpure Limited. DNM Alliance. Water projects for Severn Trent Water. 50% 50%
 − with Doosan Enpure Limited. Bellozane STW. Sewage treatment works development in Jersey. 50% –
 − with Mott MacDonald Bentley Ltd. Stoke Bardolph THP. 50% –
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33. Joint arrangements continued

The Group financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 incorporate the following relating to the joint operations:

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Revenue 69,435 74,293
Expenses 73,942 74,010
Assets 5,720 3,603
Liabilities 9,887 16,599

The Group is currently involved in joint ventures as listed below, for the purposes of developing residential property:

Group’s Share

2019 2018

 − with Earl & Pelham Limited. E&P Enderleigh Limited joint venture. 50% 50%
 − with Brooklyn Ellis Limited. BENMC Alliance (Roundhills) Limited joint venture. 50% 50%
 − with Stagfield Group Limited. Springfield ECO Limited joint venture. 50% 50%
 − with Brooklyn Ellis Limited. BENMCN Alliance (Park Farm) Limited joint venture. 50% –

Summarised financial information in relation to the above joint ventures is presented below:

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents (3) 36
Other current assets 16,003 9,180
Total assets 16,000 9,216
Current liabilities
Other current liabilities 15,550 8,816
Total liabilities 15,550 8,816
Net assets 450 400

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are presented in the Group and Company balance sheets as follows:

Group Company

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

At beginning of year – – 200 –
Equity investment in joint ventures 25 200 25 200
Provision for unrealised profits (25) (200) – –
At end of year – – 225 200

During the year ended 31 December 2019 the Company provided services to its joint ventures as follows:

Construction and  
financing services

Amounts due from  
joint ventures

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

E&P Enderleigh Limited 502 2,537 3,517 3,056
BENMC Alliance (Roundhills) Limited 2,100 785 3,231 1,414
Springfield ECO Limited 2,214 665 6,532 4,344
BENMCN Alliance (Park Farm) Limited 613 – 1,744 –

5,429 3,987 15,024 8,814

Construction services provided to joint ventures are recognised within revenue. Financing income from joint ventures is included within other 
operating income.
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34. Business Combinations
Summary of acquisition
On 4 October 2019, the Group acquired the entire share capital of Lintott Group comprising Lintott Environmental Technologies Limited, 
a non-trading holding company, and its wholly owned subsidiary, Lintott Control Systems Limited, a designer and manufacturer of water 
treatment systems. Both of the entities are non-listed private companies registered in England and Wales.

The acquisition is expected to enhance the Group’s off-site build operations through the ability to offer customers in the Water segment a full 
life cycle asset management service.

Cash consideration of £1 was paid on acquisition. Further consideration may be due and an initial estimate of £2,177,000 has been recognised 
for contingent consideration which is reflective of fair value as at the acquisition date. Acquisition related costs amounting to £19,000 have 
been recognised as a cost in the Group and Company statement of comprehensive income as part of other operating charges.

The acquired business contributed revenues of £2,618,000 and net profit of £183,000 to the Group for the period from 4 October 2019 to 
31 December 2019. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2019, consolidated revenue and net profit for the year ended 31 December 
2019 would have been £10,063,000 and £600,000 respectively before the effect of fair value adjustments.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed
The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed of Lintott Group as at the date of acquisition were:

Fair value of net 
assets acquired

£’000

Intangible assets 763
Property, plant and equipment 1,361
Inventories 72
Trade and other receivables 3,163
Cash and cash equivalents 842
Deferred tax asset 254
Trade and other payables (5,745)
Preference shares (85)
Total 625
Goodwill 1,552
Total consideration 2,177

Intangible assets and goodwill
Intangible assets acquired in respect of software and customer relationships were fair valued at £763,000 and goodwill of £1,552,000 has been 
recognised. Goodwill represents the expected growth and cost synergies from combining the acquired business with the Group’s existing 
business together with the value of the workforce acquired, and specifically the leadership team, which cannot be separately recognised as 
an intangible asset. The goodwill has been allocated entirely to Lintott Group as a cash-generating unit of the Group and is not expected to be 
deductible for tax purposes.

Contingent consideration
The contingent consideration of £2,177,000 recognised on acquisition is considered to be reflective of fair value as at the year end and therefore 
no revaluation has been recognised at 31 December 2019. Additional consideration will only be payable if the profits of Lintott Control Systems 
Limited over an earn-out period exceed target levels agreed by both parties. Any additional consideration is currently all due in over one year.

Contingent consideration is calculated based on the forecast profits of Lintott Control Systems Limited over the earn-out period and has been 
discounted based on a risk adjusted bank borrowing rate.

35. Capital management
Capital comprises issued ordinary share capital, reserves and retained earnings.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

• to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for 
other stakeholders; and

• to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light 
of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.

36. Capital commitments
As at 31 December 2019 the Group and Company had entered into capital commitments of £Nil (2018: £705,000).
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NOTICE OF MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the Seventy-Second Annual General Meeting of nmcn PLC will be held at Nunn Close, The County Estate, 
Huthwaite, Sutton-in-Ashfield, Nottinghamshire on 25 June 2020 at noon for the following purposes:

Ordinary Business
1. Receive and adopt the Directors’ Report, the Strategic Report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the 

Auditor’s Report thereon.

2. To reappoint the Directors:

i. R Moyle

ii. J Homer

iii. D A Taylor

iv. A Langman

v. I Elliott

vi. D Rogers

vii. M J Holt

viii. M Amos

3. To empower the Directors to appoint an Auditor for the Company during the year under section 489 of the Companies Act 2006 until 
the conclusion of the next General Meeting of the Company at which audited accounts are laid before members and to authorise the 
Directors to fix the remuneration of the Auditor.

4. To approve the Directors' Remuneration Report (comprising the introductory letter and Implementation Report only).

Additional Resolutions
Special Business
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following Resolutions, of which Resolution 5 will be proposed and voted on as an Ordinary Resolution 
and Resolutions 6 and 7 will be proposed and voted on as Special Resolutions.

5. That, pursuant to section 551 of the 2006 Act the Directors be and are generally and unconditionally authorised to exercise all powers 
of the Company to allot Relevant Securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £50,750 (which represents approximately 5% of the 
Company’s issued share capital), provided that (unless previously revoked, varied or renewed) this authority shall expire at the conclusion 
of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company after the passing of this Resolution or on the date 15 months from the date of the 
passing of this Resolution (whichever is the earlier), save that, in each case, the Company may make an offer or agreement before the 
authority expires which would or might require Relevant Securities to be allotted after the authority expires and the Directors may allot 
Relevant Securities pursuant to any such offer or agreement as if the authority had not expired.

In this Resolution, 'Relevant Securities' means shares in the Company or rights to subscribe for or to convert any security into shares in the 
Company; a reference to the allotment of Relevant Securities includes the grant of such a right; and a reference to the nominal amount of 
a Relevant Security which is a right to subscribe for or to convert any security into shares in the Company is to the nominal amount of the 
shares which may be allotted pursuant to that right

This authority is in substitution for and shall replace all existing authorities (which, to the extent unused at the date of this Resolution, are 
revoked with immediate effect).



149STRATEGIC REPORT OUR GOVERNANCE OUR FINANCIALSOVERVIEW

6. That, subject to the passing of Resolution 5 above, and pursuant to section 570 of the 2006 Act, the Directors be and are generally 
empowered to allot equity securities (within the meaning of section 560 of the 2006 Act) for cash pursuant to the authority granted by 
Resolution 5 as if section 561(1) of the 2006 Act did not apply to any such allotment, up to an aggregate nominal amount of £50,750 (which 
represents approximately 5% of the Company’s issued share capital), and (unless previously revoked, varied or renewed) this power shall 
expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company after the passing of this Resolution or on the date 15 months 
from the date of the passing of this Resolution (whichever is the earlier), save that the Company may make an offer or agreement before 
this power expires which would or might require equity securities to be allotted for cash after this power expires and the Directors may 
allot equity securities for cash pursuant to any such offer or agreement as if this power had not expired.

This power is in substitution for and shall replace all existing powers (which, to the extent unused at the date of this resolution, are revoked 
with immediate effect).

7. That, pursuant to section 701 of the 2006 Act, the Company be and is generally and unconditionally authorised to make market 
purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the 2006 Act) of ordinary shares of £0.10 each in the capital of the Company (“Shares”), 
provided that:

i. the maximum number of Shares which may be purchased is 1,000,000 (representing 10% of the Company’s issued ordinary share 
capital);

ii. the minimum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for a Share is £0.10;

iii. the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for a Share is the higher of: (i) an amount equal to 105% of the average 
of the middle market quotations for the Shares as derived from the Daily Official List of the London Stock Exchange plc for the five 
business days immediately preceding the day on which the purchase is made; and (ii) an amount equal to the higher of the price of 
the last independent trade of a Share and the highest current independent bid for a Share on the trading venue where the purchase 
is carried out and (unless previously revoked, varied or renewed) shall expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of 
the Company after the passing of this Resolution or on the date 15 months from the date of the passing of this Resolution (whichever 
is the earlier), save that the Company may enter into a contract to purchase Shares before the expiry of this authority under which 
such purchase will or may be completed or executed wholly or partly after this authority expires and may make a purchase of Shares 
pursuant to any such contract as if this authority had not expired.

By order of the Board

DA Taylor
Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary
22 April 2020

Nunn Close
The County Estate
Huthwaite
Sutton-in-Ashfield
Nottinghamshire
NG17 2HW
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Preliminary results announcement
23/04/2020

Annual Report issued
27/05/2020

Annual General Meeting
25/06/2020

Interim period end
30/06/2020

Half yearly financial results
06/08/2020

2020 Interim Dividend payment
11/09/2020

Year end
31/12/2020
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